Technology Assessment





COMPENDIA FOR COVERAGE OF OFF-LABEL USES OF DRUGS AND BIOLOGICS IN AN ANTICANCER CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC REGIMEN

FINAL REPORT

May 7, 2007

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality 540 Gaither Road Rockville, Maryland 20850

Compendia for coverage of off-label uses of drugs and biologics in an anticancer chemotherapeutic regimen

Technology Assessment

May 7, 2007

Duke EPC

Amy P. Abernethy, MD
Julia M. Hammond, PharmD
Michael L. Hubbard, PhD
Meenal B. Patwardhan, MD, MHSA
Lori A. Orlando, MD, MHS
Douglas C. McCrory, MD, MHS

Tufts-NEMC EPC

Ethan Balk, MD, MPH Gowri Raman, MD Priscilla Chew, MPH Bruce Kupelnick, BA Joseph Lau, MD

This report is based on research conducted by the Duke Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) and the New England Medical Center Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) under contract to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Rockville, MD (Contract Nos. [Duke] 290-02-0025 and [NEMC] 290-02-0022). The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the author(s) who are responsible for its contents; the findings and conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of AHRQ. Therefore, no statement in this article should be construed as an official position of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality or of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

The information in this report is intended to help health care decision-makers; patients and clinicians, health system leaders, and policymakers, make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. This report is not intended to be a substitute for the application of clinical judgment. Decisions concerning the provision of clinical care should consider this report in the same way as any medical reference and in conjunction with all other pertinent information, i.e., in the context of available resources and circumstances presented by individual patients.

This report may be used, in whole or in part, as the basis for development of clinical practice guidelines and other quality enhancement tools, or as a basis for reimbursement and coverage policies. AHRQ or U.S. Department of Health and Human Services endorsement of such derivative products may not be stated or implied.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Scope and Key Questions	2
Methods	5
Description of the Methods Used by the Compendia	5
EPC Review of Published Studies on the 14 Off-Label Indications	6
Description of Compendia Listings and Evidence Cited for	
the 14 Agent-Cancer Combinations	7
Analysis of Compendia Listings in Relation to their	
Stated Methodologies	
Results	8
Methods Used by the Compendia	
Studies Identified in the EPC Literature Review	
Bevacizumab (Avastin®) for Breast Cancer	
Bevacizumab (Avastin®) for Lung Cancer	
Oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®) for Breast Cancer	
Oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®) for Lung Cancer	
Irinotecan (Camptosar®) for Breast Cancer	
Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Esophageal Cancer	45
Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Gastric Cancer	
Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Ovarian Cancer	57
Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Biliary Tract Cancer	64
Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Bladder Cancer	71
Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Ovarian Cancer	79
Rituximab (Rituxan®) for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia	87
Erlotinib (Tarceva®) for Head and Neck Cancer	
Erlotinib (Tarceva®) for Pancreatic Cancer	99
Discussion	
References	110
Appendices A: Search Strategies B: Evidence Tables	
Tables	
Table 1a: General description of compendia	10
Table 1b: Purpose of compendia as stated and vis-à-vis unlabeled uses	
Table 1c: Methods for evidence identification by drug compendia	
Table 1d: Methods for evidence evaluation by drug compendia	
Table 1e: Staffing and protection from conflict of interest by drug	
compendia	
Table 1f: Methods for recommendations by drug compendia	16
Table 1g: Number of citations identified for each agent-cancer	
combination	18

Table 2a: Study types and outcomes reported – bevacizumab for breast	
cancer	19
Table 2b: Summary of compendia listings – bevacizumab for breast	
cancer	21
Table 2c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
bevacizumab for breast cancer	22
Table 3a: Study types and outcomes reported – bevacizumab for lung	
cancer	24
Table 3b: Summary of compendia listings – bevacizumab for lung cancer	26
Table 3c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
bevacizumab for lung cancer	28
Table 4a: Study types and outcomes reported – oxaliplatin for breast	
cancer	31
Table 4b: Summary of compendia listings – oxaliplatin for breast cancer	32
Table 4c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
oxaliplatin for breast cancer	34
Table 5a: Study types and outcomes reported – oxaliplatin for lung cancer	36
Table 5b: Summary of compendia listings – oxaliplatin for lung cancer	38
Table 5c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
oxaliplatin for lung cancer	39
Table 6a: Study types and outcomes reported – irinotecan for breast	
cancer	41
Table 6b: Summary of compendia listings – irinotecan for breast cancer	43
Table 6c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
irinotecan for breast cancer	44
Table 7a: Study types and outcomes reported – docetaxel for esophageal	
cancer	46
Table 7b: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for esophageal	
cancer	48
Table 7c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
docetaxel for esophageal cancer	50
Table 8: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for gastric cancer	54
Table 9a: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for ovarian cancer	59
Table 9b: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
docetaxel for ovarian cancer	61
Table 10a: Study types and outcomes reported – gemcitabine for biliary	
tract cancer	65
Table 10b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for biliary tract	
cancer	66
Table 10c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC –	
gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer	68
Table 11a: Study types and outcomes reported – gemcitabine for bladder	
cancer	71
Table 11b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for bladder	- .
cancer	/4

Table 11c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – gemcitabine for bladder cancer	76
Table 12a: Study types and outcomes reported – gemcitabine for ovarian cancer	80
Table 12b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for ovarian cancer	82
Table 12c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – gemcitabine for ovarian cancer	84
Table 13a: Study types and outcomes reported – rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia	88
Table 13b: Summary of compendia listings – rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia	90
Table 13c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia	92
Table 14a: Study types and outcomes reported – erlotinib for head and neck cancer	95
Table 14b: Summary of compendia listings – erlotinib for head and neck cancer	96
Table 14c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – erlotinib for head and neck cancer	98
Table 15a: Study types and outcomes reported – erlotinib for pancreatic cancer	100
Table 15b: Summary of compendia listings – erlotinib for pancreatic cancer	101
Table 15c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – erlotinib for pancreatic cancer	103
Table 16: Discussion of agent-cancer combinations by compendia	106

Introduction

The topic of this assessment is the evaluation of drug compendia for the purpose of informing the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) on decisions about coverage of off-label uses of drugs and biologics in anticancer treatment. This coverage is dictated by Section 1861(t)(2)(B) of the Social Security Act, which describes the reliance upon recommendations in compendia, specifically the AMA Drug Evaluations (AMA-DE; no longer in existence), American Hospital Formulary Service Drug Information (AHFS-DI¹), and United States Pharmacopeia Drug Information (USP-DI²).

Rapidly advancing medical technologies, drugs, and biological agents can improve survival and quality of life (QoL) of patients. Physicians and researchers often discover uses of drugs other than those for which they have been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The term "off-label" can mean many things: "[U]sing an approved drug to treat a disease that is not indicated on its label, but is closely related to an indicated disease; treating unrelated, unindicated diseases; and treating the indicated disease but varying from the indicated dosage, regimen, or patient population may all be considered off-label use."3 The medical treatment in oncology practice is complex, with uncertain patient outcomes. According to a study by the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) in 1991, the off-label use of anticancer drugs was as high as 33 percent of all anticancer drug prescriptions. Today 50 to 75 percent of all uses of anticancer therapy are off-label according to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) estimates. ⁴ Cancers are life-threatening illnesses, and advances in anticancer drug research can outpace approval rates by the FDA; this can result in an increased use of offlabel drugs in oncology practice. The increased off-label use of drugs in cancer therapy may be due to several other reasons as well: the lack of, or failure of, standard treatments; lack of FDA approved treatments for rare cancers; and lack of an established proven therapy in the face of terminal illness.

Listings of off-label indications in drug compendia affect not only reimbursement decisions, but also utilization. Several studies have suggested that oncologists alter their preferred treatment due to reimbursement restrictions and costs of certain drugs. ^{5,6} Laetz published the national survey conducted by GAO among oncologists on the prevalence of off-label use, the extent of reimbursement denials, and the effect of reimbursement denials on the treatment of cancer patients. As many as 40 percent of oncologists reported altering their preferred therapies due to cost or other reimbursement barriers. More recently, Dornbusch conducted a survey among 310 oncologists after publication of Phase III clinical trial data evaluating the use of bevacizumab in non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). More than 50 percent of the respondents said they planned to use off-label bevacizumab in NSCLC as soon as reimbursement is secure.

In order to inform potential future coverage determinations, CMS has commissioned a technology assessment from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) to summarize the process by which anticancer drugs are added to various compendia, as well as the evidence collection methodology for listed drugs and their indicated uses. The Duke Evidence-based Practice Center (Duke EPC) and the Tufts-New England Medical Center EPC (Tufts-NEMC EPC) were asked by AHRQ to prepare this report and present at a Medicare Coverage Advisory Committee (MCAC) meeting on March 30, 2006.

Scope and Key Questions

The key questions addressed in this report are:

- 1. How do the methods used to develop compendia listings compare to methods used to develop published guidelines, systematic reviews, and narrative reviews? How do they compare to the publication criteria of journals?
- 2. Describe the compendia on the following:
 - a. Breadth of listings
 - b. Speed of throughput from application to listing
 - c. Use of pre-specified, published criteria for weighing evidence
 - d. Use of pre-specified, published process for making recommendations
 - e. Level of public transparency in the process of evaluating therapies
 - f. Public notification of reviewers' and committee members' conflict(s) of interest, including institutional funding sources
 - g. Public notification of all funding sources of the compendium and its parent and sibling organization(s), including unrestricted grants and gifts
- 3. For chosen drugs/biologics and their off-label indications, evaluate the compendia on the following:
 - a. Level of detail of the evidence reviewed
 - b. Any recommendations that are made (i.e., explicit "Not Recommended" listings or explicit "Equivocal" listings when evidence is equivocal)
 - c. Silence, i.e. no listing, when evidence is equivocal
 - d. Presence of bias (i.e., "Recommended" when evidence is equivocal or "Not Recommended" when evidence is equivocal)
- 4. Is there an analysis of potential harms and potential benefits in the assessment of biologics and chemotherapeutic agents included in the compendia? If yes, what components are used, and how are they quantified?
- 5. Which compendia have listings on the off-label uses of drugs/biologics chosen for this report? If these drugs/biologics and specified off-label indications are included in compendia:
 - a. How do each compendium's listings compare with its own stated methods?
 - b. How do each compendium's listings compare to those of other compendia for the same drugs/biologics and off-label indications?
 - c. How do they compare to the EPC's own review of the evidence?
- 6. Do the two current compendia in use by Medicare for the determination of off-label uses of anticancer drugs and biologics in anticancer treatment, the AHFS and the USP-DI, adhere to their stated criteria and processes in making recommendations?

The overall goal of this report is to evaluate a selected set of documents that may be considered to be drug compendia using certain pre-specified criteria to determine to what extent

these compendia use evidence-based approaches in their collection, review, and reporting of the literature. This report does not address or make any assessments of the overall quality or usefulness of these compendia for the purposes of clinician education, assistance with patient management, or prescriber decisionmaking.

The following compendia are evaluated:

- American Hospital Formulary Service- Drug Information (AHFS-DI)¹
- United States Pharmacopeia- Drug Information (USP-DI; available through Thomson MICROMEDEX)²
- DRUGDEX Information System (also available through Thomson MICROMEDEX)^{2,7}
- Facts & Comparisons⁸
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network Drugs and Biologics Compendium (NCCN)⁹
- Clinical Pharmacology¹⁰

This list does not include all documents that may be considered either to be or to be similar to drug compendia. CMS, AHRQ, and the two EPCs agreed on this list as the most relevant for the purposes of this review. For some of these compendia, several different versions or related documents may exist. When necessary, we chose the version that was both most accessible and had the most detailed information.

Given the large number of anticancer agents and cancers, it was not be possible to evaluate all possible agent-cancer combinations for off-label indications. With input from CMS and AHRQ, the EPCs identified several combinations for evaluation. These combinations were selected to reflect newer and older agents, common and rare cancers, and both biologics and drugs.

Fourteen agent-cancer combinations were evaluated:

- Bevacizumab (Avastin®) for breast and lung cancer (approved by the FDA in February 2004 for colorectal cancer);
- Oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®) for breast and lung cancer (approved by the FDA in 2004 for colorectal cancer);
- Irinotecan (Camptosar®) for breast cancer (approved by the FDA in 1998 for colorectal cancer);
- Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for esophageal, gastric, and ovarian cancers (approved by the FDA in 1999 for locally advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer [NSCLC]);
- Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for biliary tract, bladder, and ovarian cancers (approved by the FDA in 1996 for pancreatic cancer);
- Rituximab (Rituxan®) for chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL; approved by the FDA in 1997 for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma); and
- Erlotinib (Tarceva®) for head and neck, and pancreatic cancers (approved by the FDA in 2004 for NSCLC).

Among all new cancer cases in women, breast cancer is estimated to comprise 32 percent and ovarian cancer 2.9 percent. Among all new cancers in both men and women, the rate of lung cancer is 12 percent; esophageal is 1 percent; gastric is 2 percent; bladder cancer is 4 percent; head and neck cancer is 3 percent; pancreatic cancer is 2 percent; chronic lymphocytic leukemia is 0.7 percent; and biliary tract cancer is 0.6 percent.¹¹

The Duke EPC and the Tufts-NEMC EPC jointly produced this report. The Duke EPC

addressed key questions 1 and 2 concerning the methods of the compendia. Both EPCs addressed the remaining questions, which dealt with the reporting of information by the compendia and the assessment of the availability of literature evidence for the agent-cancer combinations selected for evaluation in this report. For the literature review, common methods were used to identify potentially relevant studies, abstract data, and report results wherever feasible to enhance the consistency of this report. The Introduction, Methods, and Discussion sections of the report were written jointly by the two EPCs, while the various Results sections represent non-overlapping independent work of each EPC that shared the same methodological approach.

Methods

The project was divided into four distinct components: (1) a description of the methods used by the compendia; (2) a comprehensive search by the EPCs for studies on the 14 selected off-label indications; (3) a description of the compendia listings and evidence cited for the same 14 off-label indications; and (4) an analysis of the compendia's listings in relation to their stated methodologies.

Description of the Methods Used by the Compendia

In theory, compendia are like reports of systematic reviews in that they identify, appraise, and synthesize a body of evidence. It is useful to evaluate to what extent compendia describe their methods for search, selection, and summarization of evidence, and to what extent they follow their stated methods. Compendia are also like guidelines in that they endorse certain drugs for particular clinical indications; this is particularly evident in the case of off-label indications. It is useful to evaluate to what extent compendia describe their methods for developing recommendations, and to what extent they meet standards for clinical practice guidelines. The QUOROM consensus statement and the AGREE instrument which were originally developed for assessing the reporting quality of reports of meta-analyses and clinical practice guidelines, respectively – provide reasonable frameworks for these evaluations of drug compendia.

We reviewed evaluation criteria in the QUOROM statement and the AGREE instrument and eliminated duplicate and non-applicable items. The remaining items were used to guide our evaluation of published compendia methods, as well as interviews with compendia editors.

We did not use explicit scoring rules as described in the AGREE instrument, nor did we report explicit "yes" or "no" decisions on QUOROM items. Rather, these documents were used as conceptual models to organize our inquiry into the methods used by drug compendia.

We planned a five-step process to gather information from the compendia as follows:

- <u>Step 1</u>: Abstract descriptive information about each compendium based on printed or other publicly available information into a table using the conceptual framework described above.
- <u>Step 2</u>: Send the table completed in Step 1 to the publisher of each compendium and schedule an interview with appropriate personnel. In each case, we scheduled 1-hour telephone interviews with the most senior editor and any additional staff they recommended.
- <u>Step 3</u>: Interview compendium staff to supplement published information about methods used for evidence synthesis and decisionmaking. We conducted interviews with at least two members of our research team present. We prepared minutes from the calls based on written notes taken by each of the participants. Interviews were not audio recorded.
- Step 4: Revise table to include additional information gained on interview and send

revised table to compendium staff to get confirmation or alternative views.

<u>Step 5</u>: Combine the descriptive information on all six compendia compiled in Steps 1-4 into a series of tables to allow comparison across compendia on various topics.

During the conduct of the study, we decided to eliminate the first review by compendia editors and thus did not send a draft of the table before our telephone interviews. After the interviews, when we sent the editor a draft table summarizing the compendium's methods, we blinded them to data from the other compendia, so that each editor saw only data about his or her own publication.

Ultimately, we organized the information from our inquiry for brevity and clarity, with special attention to the domains in which the compendia differ.

EPC Review of Published Studies on the 14 Off-Label Indications

Literature Search

We searched MEDLINE and MEDLINE In-Process & Other Non-indexed Citations (formerly called PreMEDLINE) to identify human studies published in English that investigated the targeted agent-cancer combinations and reported outcomes of interest. We also searched the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) annual meeting abstracts for the years 2004 and 2005 for recently reported but as yet unpublished studies. The MEDLINE search strategies used are provided in Appendix A.

Study Selection

We included all study designs including clinical trials (Phase I, Phase I/II, Phase III, or Phase IV), case reports, and retrospective case series that reported any of the following outcomes: tumor response, survival, quality of life, symptomatic improvement, or adverse effects. We excluded review articles, studies that described only predictors of response, pharmacokinetic studies, and animal or in vitro studies.

Data Abstraction

We retrieved and reviewed published abstracts and/or full-text articles on eligible studies for each of the agent-cancer combinations. Key data were abstracted into evidence tables (Appendix B). One investigator abstracted the data, and a second verified the abstraction. The abstracted data included: author; year of publication; dose of agent for the indicated use; co-intervention(s); comparator(s); brief description of the cancer stage; indicated line of treatment (first or greater); study design; and outcomes (tumor response rate; survival rates; duration data for survival and progression-free survival; QoL; symptoms; and adverse effects reporting by severity, by organ and frequency). We recorded quantitative data on the tumor response and survival outcomes, and p-values related to comparisons with baseline or comparator treatments, but recorded only qualitative data on QoL, symptoms, and adverse effects (whether reported by severity, by organ

system, or by frequency). For full-text articles, we attempted to obtain the required data from the study abstract wherever possible, but retrieved the full text when the abstract provided insufficient information.

Synthesis

To facilitate comparisons, for each of the agent-cancer combinations we created summary tables that list the number of articles identified by study design, describe the outcomes reported, and synthesize data for key outcomes, focusing on the efficacy outcomes of tumor response and survival.

Description of Compendia Listings and Evidence Cited for the 14 Agent-Cancer Combinations

We evaluated all versions of the compendia available to us (print and electronic), but recorded data from the most current and complete versions; in every case, this was an electronic version. We abstracted data from each of the six compendia for each of the 14 agent-cancer combinations. Data abstracted included: whether the off-label indication was explicitly stated; how the indication was graded; comments on further refinement regarding the stage of cancer; method of treatment; route of administration; and use of mono- or combination therapy. We recorded outcomes mentioned specifically in connection with the off-label use, as well as toxicity data. We also recorded the presence of citations to evidence on the off-label indication; the number, identity, and years of the citations; and the date of the most recent update of the compendium monograph or entry.

Analysis of Compendia Listings in Relation to their Stated Methodologies

For each of the 14 agent-cancer combinations, we constructed a matrix to show all the articles, abstracts, and other publications identified from any source (whether from the EPC review or from the compendia citations), with an indication of which compendia cited each publication. For this purpose, publications were stratified by study design, and abstracts were noted separately.

We evaluated each compendium listing in relation to the known literature, identified as described above, and in relation to the compendium's stated methodology as follows:

- (1) Given the compendium's stated criteria for selecting evidence (study design, methodological quality, etc.), was all the relevant evidence meeting those criteria cited?
- (2) Given the date of the most recent update of the compendium listing, was all eligible and available evidence cited?
- (3) Given the eligible, available evidence, was the compendium's decision on listing (listing versus no listing) consistent with our own assessment?

Results

Methods Used by the Compendia

Information on the methods used by the compendia is summarized in Tables 1a-1f. The tables are based on information obtained from published versions of the compendia, as well as from interviews with compendia editors. A draft of each compendium's table entries was reviewed by the compendium's editor. Comments and corrections from the editor were incorporated into the final tables.

Written information describing the editorial policies of the compendia was found in each compendium, usually in the front matter of printed volumes. Electronic publications were less consistent in where this information could be found. In one instance, the current print edition's methods were noted by the editor to be obsolete, with current methods accurately described on the web site (USP-DI²). Another compendium made available an unpublished document that described the methods for evidence identification and evaluation in greater detail than the ordinarily available information (AHFS-DI¹).

We evaluated all versions easily available to us, including print and electronic versions (Table 1a); however, many compendia publish data in multiple electronic formats. We chose a single electronic version to evaluate for each compendium. Our choice was guided by timeliness of access (we preferred on-line versus a mailed CD-ROM) and cost (we used existing institutional licenses when available). Different electronic platforms had different update cycles varying from daily to quarterly; a quarterly update cycle would result in as much as a 3-month delay for a user to see updated information.

We gleaned the stated purposes of the compendia from introductory published material and paraphrase these in Table 1b. None of the compendia published a "statement of purpose" explicitly labeled as such; however, all had descriptions of their intended use, users, and scope that seemed to set forth their purpose. In addition, AHFS-DI¹ had a lengthy description of its history that puts the purpose of this publication in historical context.

The scope of pharmaceutical products covered varied across compendia, particularly with regard to inclusion of non-prescription (OTC) and investigational drugs, and non-U.S. drugs. The compendia generally provided at least the same scope of information on each drug as is required for FDA labeling; some included much more information.

All of the compendia include non-FDA approved indications (Table 1b). They vary in their approach to indicating the off-label use: AHFS-DI uses † (dagger sign; although # [number sign] appears in the on-line HTML-format document); Clinical Pharmacology uses † (dagger sign); USP-DI uses [] (square brackets); DRUGDEX uses the phrase "Non FDA-labeled indications"; Facts & Comparisons uses "unlabeled use"; and NCCN provides no indication of off-label use. Most of the compendia had criteria for the conditions under which a non-FDA approved indication would be included. We queried editors regarding how such decisions were made, and in all cases the decision to include a non-FDA approved indication required a judgment by editorial staff regarding the quality and quantity of evidence, and the magnitude of benefit versus harms. In addition, several editors mentioned that a high degree of interest or evidence of use in practice would also be considered in deciding whether to include an off-label listing, particularly in the case of an equivocal indication, where the editorial decision would be to remain silent rather than list an indication that would be qualified as equivocal.

The policy on equivocal evidence (Table 1f) is not clear; however, the scales used for rating

evidence and for grading recommendations (Table 1d) were clearly articulated for four of the six compendia. These scales have important implications for the latitude editors may exercise in listing non-FDA approved indications based on equivocal evidence. For example, DRUGDEX⁷ includes an efficacy rating of Class IIb (Evidence is inconclusive) which can be used to qualify recommendations of strength IIa (Recommended in some cases) or III (Not recommended). Similarly, USP-DI² uses the same underlying grades, but publishes "Acceptance not established" or "Not accepted." AHFS-DI¹ and NCCN⁹ have evidence rating schemes and editorial policies that would allow a non-approved indication that can be qualified as equivocal. Facts & Comparisons⁸ has a scale for grading recommendations, but commented that in the particular situation of non-labeled indications where evidence is equivocal, the de facto editorial policy is to remain silent; the "Not recommended" category is rarely used. Clinical Pharmacology¹⁰ does not currently have rating systems in place to qualify a listed indication as based on equivocal evidence and also endorsed a de facto policy of silence.

The explicitness with which recommendations were linked to supporting evidence (Table 1f) varied a great deal across compendia. We regarded an explicit link as having been made only when specific citations to literature (published or unpublished) were provided – we did not interpret a rating of evidence as an explicit link, since the specific data could not be identified. Citations were present only in electronic versions.

Validity assessment was a component of the editorial process for each of the compendia; however, little description of this process was provided in published material. In interviews, editors described the critical appraisal process used by editorial staff. These processes were most clearly articulated by the Thomson MICROMEDEX^{2,7} and AHFS-DI¹ editors; in addition, AHFS-DI provided a detailed written description of its evidence evaluation process that includes ample documentation of recent methodological literature.

Staffing and conflict of interest policies are described in Table 1e.

Table 1a: General description of compendia

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Publisher	American Society of Health-System Pharmacists	Gold Standard, Inc.	Thomson MICROMEDEX	Wolters Kluwer Health	National Comprehensive Cancer Network	Thomson MICROMEDEX
Inception	1959	1994	~1977	1947	2004	1980
Print version, update cycle	Annual, selected monograph updates offered on- line as available	NA	NA	Annual Updates monthly (loose-leaf version only)	At least annual or when new evidence reported or new FDA approvals	Annual, selected monograph updates offered on- line
Edition assessed	2005	NA	NA	2006	NA	2005
Electronic version, update cycle	On-line, CD-ROM, PDA Updated continuously	On-line, Intranet, CD-ROM Updates continuous (on-line), monthly (Intranet), or quarterly (CD-ROM)	On-line, CD-ROM Updated weekly (on- line) or quarterly (CD)	On-line, CD-ROM Updates monthly (NB – now updated continuously)	Web-only Updated continually	Web CD-ROM Updates daily (Update Website), quarterly (via Healthcare Series, CD), or monthly (flatfiles)
Date accessed and source	2/17/06 Institutional subscription (Stat!Ref)	1/19/06 Institutional subscription	1/20/2006 Institutional subscription	2/17/06 Drug Facts & Comparisons database in Facts & Comparisons 4.0	2/17/06 Free access via internet	1/18/2006 Individual subscription
Additional information	Gerald McEvoy (Editor in Chief) Olin Welsh, Jr. (Assoc. Editor)	MaryAnne Hochadel, PharmD, BCPS (Editor In Chief)	Lauri Moore (Sr. Dir. of Editorial Operations) Jan Sbarbaro (Counsel)	Renee Wickersham, (Sr. Managing Ed.) Cathy Meives, PharmD (Director, Clinical Information)	Joan McClure (Sr. VP of Clinical Info. and Publications)	Lauri Moore (Sr. Dir. of Editorial Operations) Jan Sbarbaro (Counsel)

Table 1b: Purpose of compendia as stated and vis-à-vis unlabeled uses

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical	DRUGDEX	Facts &	NCCN	USP-DI
Stated purpose	"To provide an evidence-based foundation for safe and effective drug therapy"	Pharmacology "To provide [usable, concise] information on U.S. FDA-approved drugs including prescription and non-prescription (OTC) pharmaceuticals"	"To deliver unbiased drug information for those who prescribe, order, dispense, or administer medications"	Comparisons To provide "timely, accurate, comprehensive, unbiased, comparative information on prescription and non-prescription medications" to "pharmacists and other health care professionals"	"To support decision-making about the appropriate use of drug and biologic therapy in treating patients with cancer"	To provide complete, yet concise, well-documented information on the "safe and effective use of medication once it was prescribed" for clinicians who prescribe, order, dispense, or administer medications
Scope	Comprehensive U.S. prescription and OTC drugs and biologics	Comprehensive U.S. prescription and OTC drugs; selected investigational drugs and dietary supplements	Comprehensive U.S. and non-U.S. prescription, OTC, and investigational drugs	Comprehensive U.S. prescription, OTC, and investigational drugs (and Canadian trade names)	All anticancer drugs recommended in NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NB – these guidelines are estimated to cover 97% of patients with cancer)	Comprehensive U.S. prescription drugs, including U.S. and Canadian trade names
Condition for non- FDA approved indications	Included when supported by evidence "in published medical literature and medical practice"	Included when the use represents current practice and a dosage regimen has been established and documented for the indication. Generally referenced to original clinical research.	Included	Included if "legitimate" and "appropriate"	Included only if included in NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology	Included

Table 1c: Methods for evidence identification by drug compendia

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Monograph updating interval Methods to search for evidence	Max: 3-5 years Min: 4-6 weeks Continuous surveillance of multiple evidence sources	Max: 2 years Min: 1 week Continuous surveillance of multiple evidence sources	Max: None Min: 6 weeks - Weekly automated searches of medical literature - Daily review of (1) key med journal TOCs and (2) alerts from FDA, NIH, CDC,	Max. None Min: 1 month Continuous surveillance from multiple evidence sources	Max: 1 year Min: 4-8 weeks Literature searches done yearly by staff; supplemented by suggested citations of 19 member inst. plus Clinical Practice Guideline panel	Max: None Min: 6 weeks See DRUGDEX
Sources	- Drug and medical information databases e.g., PubMed, Toxline, www.cancer. gov, www.guidelines.gov, The Cochrane Library, MedWatch) - Relevant medical journals - Government, professional association and industry reports - Routine monitoring of major peerreviewed medical journals and bibliographic databases	- Official FDA- approved drug label - Primary medical and pharma journals - Abstracting services - Reference texts - Drug compendia - Pharmacology texts - Herbal and Alt Medicine texts - Medical texts - Special resource texts - Drug interaction texts - Nutrition and IV therapy texts	etc. - Drug and medical information databases e.g., PubMed, Toxline, www.cancer.gov, www.guidelines.gov, The Cochrane Library, MedWatch) - Relevant medical journals	- Drug and medical information databases e.g., PubMed, Ovid - Relevant medical journals and textbooks - Government, professional association and industry reports - Routine monitoring of major peerreviewed medical journals and bibliographic databases	members - Primary evidence: Ovid/PubMed, journals, professional association meeting abstracts - Secondary and tertiary: textbooks, websites	See DRUGDEX
Criteria for selecting evidence	Emphasis placed on well-designed, controlled studies, published meta-analyses and systematic reviews, cost-effectiveness analyses	Phase III or IV clinical investigation in the U.S.; lower level evidence at discretion of editorial staff	Designed to be broad; emphasis placed on well- designed, controlled studies, but may include case reports	Well designed, English-language Phase II, III, or IV clinical investigation in the U.S. or meta- analyses; ≥ 30 subjects, ≤ 5 years old; no case reports or animal data	Per NCCN Clinical Practice Guideline panels	Emphasis placed on well-designed, controlled studies; does not generally include case reports

Table 1d: Methods for evidence evaluation by drug compendia

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Process of validity assessment	Assessment involves building evidence table for each study, noting study limitations as described in well-referenced document	Subjective, by editorial staff	- Editorial staff assessment based on accepted techniques (e.g. Cho-Bero instrument (1996)) - External reviewers for off-label oncology or potentially controversial indications or when evidence is equivocal	Subjective, by editorial staff	Subjective, based on expert panel	See DRUGDEX
Use of pre- specified, published criteria for weighing evidence	Yes 1-High strength/quality (good RCT or meta- analysis, or overwhelming observational evidence) 2-Moderate strength/quality (RCT with methodologic limitations, inconsistent or indirect evidence, meta- analysis of heterogeneous RCTs, strong observational evidence) 3-Low strength/quality (observational, case reports, case series, seriously deficient RCTs) 4-Opinion/experience NB – strength of endpoint added at each level for cancer uses	No criteria currently used NB – a system is under development; based on AHRQ publications	Yes A-Meta-analysis of RCTs with homogeneity, or multiple, well-done RCTs involving large numbers of patients B-Meta-analysis of RCTs with heterogeneity, RCTs with small numbers of patients or with methodological flaws, or nonrandomized studies C-Expert opinion or consensus, case reports or case series No Evidence	No Professional judgment	Yes High (RCTs or meta-analysis) Lower (Phase II trials or large cohort studies, ranging to individual practitioner experience)	See DRUGDEX
Grading recommendations	A-Recommended B-Reasonable choice C-Not fully established D-Not recommended (considered inappropriate, obsolete or unproven)	No scale used for grading recommendations NB – a system is under consideration; certain add-on modules (e.g., ACP PIER) include grading for recommendations	Strength of recommendation: I: Recommended IIa: Recommended in most cases IIb: Recommended in some cases III: Not recommended Efficacy:	Professional judgment	1-High/Uniform 2A- Lower/Uniform 2B-Lower/Non- uniform 3-Any/Major disagreement	Accepted (FDA + off-label) Acceptance not established Not accepted (inappropriate, obsolete, unproven)

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
			Class I – Effective Class IIa – Evidence favors efficacy Class IIb – Evidence is inconclusive Class III - Ineffective			

Table 1e: Staffing and protection from conflict of interest by drug compendia

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical	DRUGDEX	Facts &	NCCN	USP-DI
_		Pharmacology		Comparisons		
Staffing of evidence assembly/synthesis task	Profession staff of drug information analysts and editors (n = 20; mostly pharmacists)	- Professional staff (board-certified) of pharmacists as senior editors (n = 8) - Review by Managing editors (n = 2 pharmacists) - Occasional external review	Clinical professional editorial staff, teams of editors with content expertise track certain drugs/therapeutic areas, monitor evidence, and perform reviews/updates	- Team of 6 clinical editors and 6 pharmacists - Outside pharmacist consultants on contract sometimes used	Prepared by staff, interpreted by disease-specific expert panels (comprised of faculty from NCCN member institutions)	See DRUGDEX
Staffing of monograph preparation	- 20 full-time staff - Occasional use of free-lance writers	- 12 full-time staff - Occasional use of free-lance writers	> 100 full-time staff	17 technical editors and 4 pharmacists	20 staff (listed on web page), including 4 MDs, 3 PhDs, 1 PharmD	See DRUGDEX
Staffing of reviews of drug monographs	External (unpaid)	- Internal mostly - External (paid) as needed	External (paid)	- Internal mostly - External (paid; sometimes used)	Reviewers from member institutions (unpaid)	See DRUGDEX
Conflicts of interest disclosure	Staff: Yes Consultants: Yes Reviewers: Yes	Staff: Yes Consultants: Yes Reviewers: No	Disclosure policy: - Not disclosed if board member paid < \$25,000 by pharma company - Disclosure if income \$25,000-\$100,000 -Exclusion if paid >\$100,000	Staff: Yes Consultants: Yes Reviewers: Yes	Staff: Yes Consultants: NA Reviewers: Yes	See DRUGDEX
Funding source, public notification of funding sources	- Funded by subscription and licensing fees only - IRS form 990 publically available - Annual external independent audit reported to membership	Funded by subscription and licensing fees only	Funded by subscription and licensing fees	Funded by subscriptions and data licensing	- Member dues pay staff, operating costs - Industry grants pay distribution costs	Funded by subscriptions

Table 1f: Methods for recommendations by drug compendia

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical	DRUGDEX	Facts &	NCCN	USP-DI
Explicit link between recommendation and supporting evidence	Electronic version only	Pharmacology - Most off-label uses referenced to primary literature - Off-label use review and referencing is a standard part of editorial update process	- Yes - Process involves explicit evidence retrieval	Comparisons Provided on request (not published)	Yes (in Clinical Practice Guidelines – compendium does not list supporting evidence, but all recommendations in compendium correspond to recommendation in Clinical Practice Guideline)	Web version only
Policy on equivocal evidence	Describe evidence as equivocal; listing vs. silence may depend on evidence of use, perceived interest	- Silence - NB – in absence of an off-label use in indications/dosages section, use may be mentioned	Listing with efficacy rating of IIa or IIb	Silence ("Not recommended" category rarely used)	- Silence usually - NB - Sometimes recommendation listed with less than full consensus (2B or 3); sometimes listed as investigational (clinical trial only)	Listing with "Acceptance not established" or silence (listing may depend on use/interest)
Method for formulating recommendations	- Editors review evidence, draft recommendation; reviewed by other editorial staff - External review for comment	- Editor reviews evidence and drafts recommendation; reviewed by other editorial staff - External review for comment	- Editor reviews evidence and drafts recommendation; reviewed by senior editorial staff - External review for comment	Editor reviews evidence and drafts recommendation; reviewed by other editorial staff	-Panel develops initial draft and circulates to member institutions for comment -Staff collate comments - Panel reconvenes to formulate guidelines - Annual update meetings to review guidelines	See DRUGDEX
Outcomes considered – benefits	Explicitly specified hierarchy of outcomes* for oncology drugs	Implicit	Implicit	Implicit	Explicit	Implicit
Outcomes considered – harms	Emphasis placed on efficacy; harms rarely explicitly considered for oncology drugs NB – Comparative toxicity typically discussed in Uses section when information available	Emphasis placed on efficacy; safety also considered in off- label listing if expected or known to be different from labeled safety data	Implicit NB – Strength of Recommendation scale addresses the concept of usefulness (risk-benefit ratio) as well as efficacy	Emphasis placed on efficacy; harms rarely explicitly considered for oncology drugs	- Harms always considered; sometimes are deciding factor in Clinical Practice Guideline recommendations - Harm data not explicitly presented in the compendium	Implicit NB – Acceptance rating scale addresses the concept of usefulness (riskbenefit ratio) as well as efficacy

Compendium	AHFS-DI	Clinical	DRUGDEX	Facts &	NCCN	USP-DI
		Pharmacology		Comparisons		
	from RCTs; adverse effects info available from labeled uses of the drug					

^{*}Overall survival, cause-specific mortality, quality of life, recurrence/progression/response.

Studies Identified in the EPC Literature Review

The MEDLINE search identified 1314 potentially relevant citations (Table 1g). An additional 18 unique citations were identified for some topics from the Cochrane Central Registered of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL). Finally, 179 abstracts were identified from the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) website.

Table 1g: Number of citations identified for each agent-cancer combination

Agent	Cancer	MEDLINE, MEDLINE In- Process & Other Non- indexed Citations	CENTRAL	ASCO abstracts
Bevacizumab	Breast	48	4	12
	Lung	47	0	19
Oxaliplatin	Breast	33	2	9
	Lung	70	2	37
Irinotecan	Breast	137	1	13
Docetaxel	Esophageal/Gastric*	87	5	40
	Ovarian	139	4	-
Gemcitabine	Biliary tract	57	-	3
	Bladder	107	-	17
	Ovarian	407	-	7
Rituximab	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	149	-	15
Erlotinib	Head and neck	16	-	2
	Pancreas	17	-	5
Totals:		1314	18	179

^{*}A combined esophageal and gastric search strategy was used.

The publications thus identified were screened to determine whether they met the EPC inclusion criteria. Results of this screening process are described for each agent-cancer pair below.

Bevacizumab (Avastin®) for Breast Cancer

Bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody against vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). It is designed to inhibit tumor neovascularization and is not directly cytotoxic. Therefore, it is usually administered in combination with traditional cytotoxic treatments such as chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or hormonal therapy. Bevacizumab is FDA approved for the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer in combination with 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) chemotherapy. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in breast cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 64 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 10 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 2a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 1) reports details from each of the 10 studies. The literature review identified seven clinical trials, of which two were Phase III, three Phase II, and two Phase I/II,

involving a total of 1330 subjects. An additional 1782 subjects were involved in other types of studies, including a retrospective review to evaluate the risk of arterial thrombotic events (N = 1745; included subjects with breast, colorectal, and lung cancer, with the number of breast cancer subjects unknown) and two clinical research reports focused on the mechanism of action of bevacizumab in breast cancer (N = 37).

Table 2a: Study types and outcomes reported - bevacizumab for breast cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication	Outcomes Reported					
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs	
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	10	3112 ^a	2003-5	7	2	2	-	7	
Phase III	2 (20%)	1177 (38%)	2005	2	2	2	-	2	
Phase II	3 (30%)	70 (2%)	2004-5	3	-	-	-	2	
Phase I/II	2 (20%)	83 (3%)	2003-5	1	-	-	-	1	
Other ^b	3 (30%)	1782 ^a (57%)	2004	1	-	-	-	2	
No. of above published as abstracts	9 (90%)	2650 ^a (85%)	2003-5	6	1	1	-	6	

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; OoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. The two Phase III studies were the largest clinical trials in this review, and both evaluated tumor response, survival, quality of life (QoL), and adverse effects. Neither study reported the impact of the interventions on symptoms.

The study of bevacizumab (15 mg/m 2 q3wks) plus capecitabine vs capecitabine alone was published in full text in the *Journal of Clinical Oncology* in February 2005. ¹⁵ The study involved women with heavily-pretreated metastatic breast cancer (80 percent with 1-2 prior regimens for metastatic breast cancer). The addition of bevacizumab significantly increased tumor response (19.8 percent vs 9.1 percent; p = 0.001) but did not influence progression-free survival (the primary endpoint), overall survival, or QoL. Bevacizumab-treated participants had more hypertension requiring intervention (17.9 percent vs 0.5 percent).

The Phase III study of bevacizumab $(10\text{mg/m}^2\text{ q 2wks})$ plus paclitaxel vs paclitaxel alone as first-line treatment in metastatic or locally-recurrent breast cancer was published in abstract form only. A 2003 brief summary of this same study published in *Clinical Breast Cancer* was referenced by the NCCN compendia, but did not meet the EPC inclusion criteria. At the 2005 ASCO meeting these data were presented by Dr. K. Miller as part of an oral presentation on bevacizumab and similar therapies (slides publicly available through the ASCO website), but a specific abstract about the trial was not included in the 2005 ASCO abstract book. The abstract was presented at the earlier San Antonio Breast Cancer meeting. The addition of bevacizumab significantly increased tumor response (28.2 percent vs 14.2 percent; p < 0.0001), improved progression-free survival (10.97 vs 6.11 months; p = 0.001), and improved overall survival (p for survival analysis = 0.01). QoL analyses had not been completed at the time of the presentation. Bevacizumab-treated participants had more hypertension requiring intervention (13.3 percent vs 0 percent), proteinuria (2.4 percent vs 0 percent), and nephropathy (0.3 percent and 0 percent).

^a Includes an unclear number of subjects with colorectal and lung cancer.

^b Studies of mechanism of action or adverse effects.

Longer followup is planned for further assessment of the impact of bevacizumab on overall survival.

Peer-reviewed Phase II and I/II trials. Of the five Phase II and I/II trials, one was randomized. All were reported in abstract form. Four assessed patients with metastatic breast cancer and one evaluated the use of bevacizumab in the neoadjuvant setting. Co-interventions included erlotinib, docetaxel, letrozole, and "chemotherapy." Tumor response, defined as complete plus partial responses, ranged from 3 to 11 percent. Survival and QoL data were not presented. Three of five (60 percent) studies discussed adverse effects.

The neoadjuvant study was also the only randomized study; it compared docetaxel plus bevacizumab to docetaxel alone, and the distinction between the two regimens on outcomes was not clear within the abstract. Doses ranged from 3 to 20 mg/m² every 2 to 3 weeks.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 2b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of bevacizumab for treatment of breast cancer. Only DRUGDEX and NCCN explicitly stated whether there was an off-label indication for the drug in the setting of this cancer. DRUGDEX stated "level III" – not clearly recommended – and NCCN stated "indicated." NCCN did not report on toxicities due to bevacizumab. All other compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for breast cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. Only USP-DI discussed bevacizumab-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for breast cancer.

Table 2b: Summary of compendia listings – bevacizumab for breast cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	-	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult,	-	2A	-
Stage of cancers	-	-	Category B Metastatic breast cancer	-	Recurrent or metastatic	-
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	-	Pre-treated patients	-	Other	-
Routes of administration	-	-	IV	-	NR	-
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	-	Monotherapy	-	Combination	-
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	-	NR	-	NR	-
Outcomes mentioned for the off- label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	-	Duration of confirmed response, tumor burden, ECOG status	-	Disease-free survival; overall survival	-
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: Yes Severity: No By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off-label use	-	-	3, 10, or 20 milligrams/kilogram (mg/kg) every 2 weeks	-	10 mg/kg IV days 1 & 15, cycled every 28 days	-
Number of evidence citations	-	-	1 (+ 1) ^a	-	1	-
Range of years of citations	-	-	2001	-	2003	-
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	-	Abstract	-	Abstract	-
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	-	1 [2001]	-	1 [2003]	-
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	-	1 review [2002]	-	0	-
Date of last update	1/10/2006	12/06/2005	NR	NR	12/05/20005	7/25/2005

^a 1 article cited; 1 additional review article included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only DRUGDEX and NCCN provided any references (Table 2b); one reference was cited by each. Neither of the two references cited by these compendia met the EPC criteria for inclusion, as both were old abstracts (about different studies) with a more recent update available. Neither compendia cited the published full-text Phase III trial of bevacizumab plus capecitabine *vs* capecitabine alone. Only NCCN cited the Phase III study of bevacizumab plus paclitaxel *vs* paclitaxel alone, but in doing so referred to an old abstract.

A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 2c.

Table 2c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - bevacizumab for breast cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	-
Phase III								
Miller, 2005 ¹⁵	Х							
Miller, 2005 ¹⁴	Х							Same
Miller, 2003 ¹⁶						χ ^a		study
Phase II								
Rugo, 2005 ¹⁸	Х							
Dickler, 2004 ¹⁹	Х							
Overmoyer, 2004 ¹⁷	Х							
Phase I/II								
Traina, 2005 ²⁰	Х							
Cobleigh, 2003 ²¹	Х							Same
Cobleigh, 2001 ²²				Χ ^b				study
Phase I								
(none)								
Other								
Denduluri, 2005 ²³	Х							
Skillings 2005 ²⁴	Х							
Wedam, 2004 ²⁵	Х							
Pegram, 2002 ²⁶				*				Review

^a Not identified by EPC because abstract older than abstract search cut-off and non-ASCO; however, an update of this trial was presented at ASCO by Miller et al. and review of their slides was available for EPC review.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. DRUGDEX states that there is inconclusive evidence for a clear recommendation of bevacizumab for breast cancer, indicating a recommendation of level III (not clearly recommended) based upon evidence strength B. Its cited reference was a 2001 abstract from Cobleigh,²² a non-randomized Phase II trial with an updated abstract published 2 years later. It specified that the place for bevacizumab is as monotherapy for metastatic breast cancer and stated that more studies are needed.

NCCN cites a 2A indication for bevacizumab in breast cancer, with lower quality evidence, but uniform agreement about this conclusion. It specified that bevacizumab should be used in combination at doses and in patients consistent with the Miller study of bevacizumab plus paclitaxel. Its cited reference was a 2003 abstract of this Phase III trial, which was updated recently, but the update was not cited. No toxicity data are provided, despite clear information

^b Not identified by EPC because it is an old abstract with updated abstract in 2003 (See Cobleigh²¹).

^{*} Non-cited reference.

about toxicity in the Miller studies.

Summary. Listings of bevacizumab for breast cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Two of the six compendia (DRUGDEX and NCCN) discuss bevacizumab for treatment of breast cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: DRUGDEX offers a dose range and mentions several outcomes, including duration of response, tumor burden, and ECOG status, but without describing precise estimates of benefit. NCCN cites evidence of improvement in disease-free and overall survival, but does not quantify the magnitude of benefit. NCCN offers specific dosing information for bevacizumab and paclitaxel based on the single cited trial.
- Evidence rating: Both DRUGDEX and NCCN provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label indication of bevacizumab for breast cancer. DRUGDEX rates the evidence as "inconclusive" based on lower level evidence (RCTs with small numbers of patients or methodological flaws, or nonrandomized studies). It cites one Phase I/II trial and a review article. NCCN lists the off-label use based on "lower" level evidence but with "uniform" consensus (category 2A), citing a single Phase III trial.
- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX states that use of bevacizumab is "not recommended" based on lower level evidence, which it describes as "inconclusive;" this statement applies to use in previously treated patients with metastatic disease. NCCN endorses the off-label use for first-line treatment of metastatic breast cancer based on lower level evidence, but with uniform consensus (category 2A), citing a single trial.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to bevacizumab are reported in most of the compendia, but only USP-DI notes toxicities specifically in patients with breast cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite the two Phase III studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 1/17/06, but 2005 data, including the two Phase III trials, are not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, but it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff, but it does not cite the Phase III studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 12/6/05, but 2005 data are not cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include breast cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites an old narrative review, but does not cite the two Phase III studies identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update is not reported, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab.

- It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria, including two Phase III studies. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for bevacizumab in breast cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 12/5/05, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the two Phase III studies or the other clinical trials identified in the EPC review. The last update was 7/25/05, but early 2005 data are not cited.

Bevacizumab (Avastin®) for Lung Cancer

As stated above, bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody against VEGF. It is designed to inhibit tumor neovascularization and is not directly cytotoxic. Therefore, it is usually administered in combination with traditional cytotoxic treatments such as chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or hormonal therapy. Bevacizumab is FDA approved for the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer in combination with 5-FU chemotherapy. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in lung cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 66 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, five met the EPC inclusion criteria. One of the five studies²⁷ had three associated abstracts from the same study presented at the 2004 ASCO meeting.

Table 3a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 2) reports details from each of the five studies. The literature review identified four clinical trials, of which one was Phase II/III, two Phase II, and one Phase I/II, involving a total of 1022 subjects. An additional 1745 subjects were included in a retrospective review to evaluate the risk of arterial thrombotic events (included subjects with breast, colorectal, and lung cancer, with the number of lung cancer subjects unknown).

Table 3a: Study types and outc	mes reported – bevacizum	ab for lung cancer
--------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outcomes Reported					
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs		
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	5	2767 ^a	2004-5	4	4	-	-	5		
Phase II/III	1 (20%)	842 (30%)	2005	1	1	-	-	1		
Phase II	2 (40%)	140 (5%)	2004-5	2	2	-	-	2		
Phase I/II	1 (20%)	40 (3%)	2005	1	1	-	-	1		
Other ^b	1 (30%)	1745 ^a (63%)	2004	-	-	-	-	1		
Abstracts	3 (60%)	2628 ^a (95%)	2004-5	2	1	-	-	3		

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase II/III trials. The Phase II/III study was the largest clinical trial in this review. It was presented at the ASCO 2005 meeting and has not yet been published in full text. The study evaluated bevacizumab (15 mg/m² q3wks) plus carboplatin (PCB) and paclitaxel vs carboplatin and paclitaxel (PC) in the first-line setting. Participants had stage IIIB or IV nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC); squamous cell NSCLC was excluded. Tumor response, survival, and adverse effects were evaluated. The impact of the interventions on QoL and symptoms was not reported. A total of 842 subjects were randomized, 436 to PCB and 444 to PC. The addition of bevacizumab significantly increased tumor response (27 percent vs 10 percent; p = 0.0001), progression-free survival (6.4 mo vs 4.5 mo; p < 0.0001), and overall survival (12.5 mo vs 10.2 mo; p = 0.0075). Bevacizumab-treated participants had more grade 4/5 neutropenia (24 percent vs 16 percent), grade 3/4 thromboembolism (3.8 percent vs 3 percent), and hemorrhage (4.1 percent vs 1 percent).

Peer-reviewed Phase II and I/II trials. Of the three Phase II and I/II trials, one was randomized.²⁹ This randomized study by Johnson et al.²⁹ was published in full-text form in 2004 and provided the background data for the Phase II/III study by Sandler et al.²⁸ described above. The predominant differences were that a third arm with bevacizumab at 7.5mg/m² was included, and patients with squamous cell NSCLC were included. These patients with squamous cell NSCLC were later excluded in the Sandler²⁸ study due to an increased risk of adverse effects in this sub-population.

Herbst and colleagues evaluated bevacizumab plus erlotinib in a non-randomized Phase I/II study published in 2005. Participants had heavily pre-treated non-squamous NSCLC, and 20 percent partial responses were identified. This combination is undergoing further study. Raefsky and colleagues presented a 2005 ASCO abstract of bevacizumab plus irinotecan, carboplatin, and radiotherapy in limited stage small cell lung cancer (SCLC). This combination was also deemed appropriate for further study. 30

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 3b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of bevacizumab for treatment of lung cancer. Five of the six compendia explicitly stated there was an off-label indication for the drug in the setting of this cancer. All compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for breast cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. All but AHFS-DI and Clinical Pharmacology discussed bevacizumab-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for lung cancer.

^a Includes an unclear number of subjects with colorectal and breast cancer.

^b Study of adverse effects.

Table 3b: Summary of compendia listings – bevacizumab for lung cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	Accepted	Evidence favors efficacy Recommendation: Adult, Class IIb Strength of Evid: Adult, Category B	NR	Category 2A – lower level evidence and uniform consensus that the recommendation is appropriate	NR
Stage of cancers	-	Non-squamous non small cell lung cancer, advanced/metastatic, first-line treatment	Advanced non- squamous NSCLC	"Non-small cell lung cancer"	Non-squamous NSCLC: no history of hemoptysis, no CNS metastases, no ongoing therapeutic anticoagulation	Advanced and metastatic
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	First line – in combination	First line – in combination	NR	First line – in combination	NR
Routes of administration	-	IV	NR	IV	NR	IV
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	Combination	Combination	Combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel	Combination	Combination
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	None	Same combination, but with placebo instead of bevacizumab	NR	Same combination, but without bevacizumab	Same combination, but placebo instead of bevacizumab
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	Response rates, time to progression, and overall survival	Response rates, time to progression, and overall survival	NR	Response rate Progression-free survival Median survival	Response rate Progression-free survival Median survival
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: Yes Severity: No By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off- label use	-	5 mg per kg over 90 min every 14 days	No	No	No	Yes for bevacizumab + paclitaxel + carboplatin

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Number of evidence citations	-	3	2	1	2	1
Range of years of citations	-	2004-2005	2004-2005	2004	2004-2005	2005
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	2 published article + 1 abstract	1 published article + 1 abstract	1 published article ^a	1 published article + 1 abstract	Abstract
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	1 [2005]	1 [2005]	0	1 [2005]	1 [2005]
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	2 [2004-2005]	1 [2004]	1 [2004]	1 [2004]	0
Date of last update	1/10/2006	12/06/2005	NR	NR	11/22/05	7/25/2005

^a Listed erroneously in evaluated version of drug monographs as "package insert."

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only USP-DI, DRUGDEX, and NCCN provided clear references (Table 3b); 2 to 3 references were cited by each compendium. All three compendia cited the Sandler²⁸ Phase II/III trial and its preliminary study, published by Johnson et al.²⁹ USP-DI also cited the Herbst Phase I/II study of bevacizumab plus erlotinib.²⁷ All of the cited references were also identified in the EPC review. Facts & Comparisons erroneously cited the package insert; however, the editor informed us that the indication was based on the preliminary study published by Johnson et al.²⁹ Clinical Pharmacology was silent regarding references; while AHFS-DI did not include this off-label indication or list references.

A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 3c.

Table 3c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - bevacizumab for lung cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Phase II/III							
Sandler 2005 ²⁸	Х		Х	Х		Х	Х
Phase II							
Raefsky, 2005 ³⁰	Х						
Johnson, 2004 ²⁹	Х		Х	Х	x ^a	Х	
Phase I/II							
Herbst, 2005 ²⁷	Х		Х				
Phase I							
(none)							
Other							
Skillings, 2005 ²⁴	Х						

^a Johnson, 2004 was supposed to have been cited, but the package insert was erroneously substituted as the citation in the drug monograph we reviewed.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. USP-DI states that there is acceptable evidence for an off-label indication of bevacizumab for lung cancer in the first-line setting. The profile of the recommended patient population follows that of the Sandler²⁸ study. The recommended dose is 5 mg per kg over 90 min every 14 days in combination with other chemotherapies, not the 15mg/m² every 3 weeks used in the Sandler²⁸ study.

DRUGDEX provides a recommendation of level IIb based upon evidence strength B. The profile of the recommended patient population follows that of the Sandler²⁸ study, and it is stated that the agent should be used in combination with other chemotherapies; a dose is not recommended.

Facts & Comparisons provides an off-label indication for NSCLC without further specification about the patient population. It recommends that bevacizumab be used in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin; a dose is not recommended.

NCCN cites an indication as Category 2A based on lower level evidence and uniform consensus that the recommendation is appropriate. The profile of the recommended patient population follows that of the Sandler²⁸ study, and it is stated that the agent should be used in combination with other chemotherapies; a dose is not recommended. Toxicity data are provided.

Clinical Pharmacology provides an off-label indication for advanced and metastatic NSCLC without further specification about the patient population. It recommends that bevacizumab be

used in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin; dosing is specific to this combination.	

Summary. Listings of bevacizumab for lung cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Five of the six compendia (all except AHFS-DI) discuss bevacizumab for treatment of NSCLC.
- Specificity of clinical information: All five of the compendia listing this recommendation
 describe use in advanced or metastatic NSCLC. All five recommend combination
 therapy, although only two describe specific combination regimens (Facts &
 Comparisons and Clinical Pharmacology). Four of the five (all but Facts &
 Comparisons) describe outcomes expected to be impacted (similarly listed as response
 rate, time to progression, and overall survival), and three of the five (DRUGDEX,
 NCCN, and Clinical Pharmacology) present quantitative estimates of the magnitude of
 benefit.
- Evidence rating: Only two compendia (DRUGDEX and NCCN) provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label indication of bevacizumab for NSCLC. Evidence is rated in the second tier by both. All five compendia listing this indication cite at least one study; four cite the same Phase III study. None of the five compendia cites more than three studies.
- Recommendation statements: USP-DI lists the off-label use under the "Accepted" category. DRUGDEX lists the recommendation as IIb ("Recommended in most cases"), while NCCN describes uniform consensus that the indication is appropriate. Facts & Comparisons and Clinical Pharmacology make no further qualification of the off-label use of bevacizumab in NSCLC.
- Toxicity: Toxicities related to bevacizumab are reported in all of the compendia, and four (USP-DI, DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and NCCN) note toxicities specifically in patients with NSCLC.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice are more consistent for bevacizumab in lung cancer than for the same agent in breast cancer. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include lung cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite the published Phase II/III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 1/10/06, but 2005 data, including the Phase II/III study, are not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include lung cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. It cites the one Phase III study identified in the EPC review, as well as two Phase I/II or II studies. The last update was 12/6/05; 2005 data are cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include lung cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites the one Phase III study and one of the preliminary Phase II studies identified in the EPC review.

The date of the last update was not reported; 2005 data are cited.

- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes lung cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite any of the clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria, including the Phase III study. We were informed by the editors that one Phase II study was supposed to have been cited, but that the package insert was erroneously substituted in the version we reviewed. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for bevacizumab in lung cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 11/22/05, and 2005 data are cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes lung cancer as an off-label indication for bevacizumab. It emphasizes prospective trials, but cites only one of the four clinical trials identified in the EPC review (the 2005 Phase III study), omitting the earlier Phase I/II and Phase II studies. The last update was 7/27/05, and 2005 data are cited.

Oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®) for Breast Cancer

Oxaliplatin is a third-generation platinum analog. Oxaliplatin is a non-cell cycle specific, alkylating chemotherapeutic drug that impairs DNA synthesis by forming platinum-DNA crosslinks that inhibit DNA replication and transcription. Its activity and toxicity profiles differ from both cisplatin and carboplatin, and thus it lacks cross-resistance with these compounds. Unlike cisplatin or carboplatin, oxaliplatin is not associated with significant renal or auditory toxicity, and hematological toxicity is usually mild. Oxaliplatin has a large spectrum of anticancer activity and has been used in combination with many other chemotherapy agents.

Oxaliplatin is FDA approved as a second-line therapy for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer; a first-line treatment for advanced colorectal cancer; and an adjuvant treatment for stage III colorectal cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use for breast cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 44 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, nine met the EPC inclusion criteria. Eight of the nine were abstracted. One Phase II study of oxaliplatin by continuous infusion published in 1990 could not be obtained for abstraction.

Table 4a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 3) reports details from each of the eight studies. The literature review identified eight prospective clinical trials, of which one was a Phase II/III study and seven were Phase II studies. A total of 357 subjects were involved.

Table 4a: Study types and outcomes reported - oxaliplatin for breast cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	mes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	8	357	2002-5	8	4	-	4	8
Phase II/III	1 (12%)	137 (38%)	2004	1	1	-	-	1
Phase II	7 (88%)	220 (62%)	2002-5	7	3	-	4	7
Phase I/II	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other	-	-	-	-	=	-	-	-
No. of above published as abstracts	3 (38%)	198 (55%)	2004-5	3	2	-	2	3

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase II/III trials. One Phase II/III study was identified.³¹ This was a randomized study of oxaliplatin plus 5-FU vs vinorelbine plus 5-FU in women with previously-treated advanced or metastatic breast cancer. All subjects had received taxane and doxorubicin based chemotherapy in the past. The vinorelbine arm was chosen as an established comparator intervention in this clinical setting. The oxaliplatin dose was 130mg/m^2 every 3 weeks. The study was prematurely closed after accrual of 137 subjects due to recruitment difficulties. Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy was as efficacious as the vinorelbine-based chemotherapy in terms of tumor response, time to progression, and overall survival. The oxaliplatin-based intervention caused significantly less neutropenia (13 percent vs 78 percent; p < 0.001), mucositis (12 percent vs 32 percent; p = 0.0043), and neurosensory changes (0 percent vs 7.5 percent; p = 0.0279).

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. Of the seven Phase II trials, none was randomized. Oxaliplatin doses ranged from 85 to 130mg/m². Monotherapy demonstrated activity in heavily-pretreated metastatic breast cancer patients; studies of combination therapy with other chemotherapeutics were recommended.³² Co-interventions studied were capecitabine, 5-FU, and gemcitabine. All studies involved subjects with heavily-pretreated metastatic breast cancer. A non-randomized parallel Phase II study of two different dosing schedules, every 2 or 3 weeks in combination with gemcitabine, showed equal efficacy of both schedules.³³

Peer-reviewed Phase I and other studies. No studies in these categories were identified.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 4b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of oxaliplatin for treatment of breast cancer. Both Clinical Pharmacology and DRUGDEX explicitly stated an off-label indication for the drug in this cancer. All the compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for breast cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. None discussed oxaliplatin-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for breast cancer.

Table 4b: Summary of compendia listings – oxaliplatin for breast cancer

AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
-	-	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	-	-	Advanced or metastatic
-	-	Prior taxane and anthracycline treatment	-	-	Taxane- and anthracycline-retreated advanced and metastatic breast cancer
-	-	NR	-	-	NR
-	-	NR	-	-	IV
-	-	Combination with 5-FU	-	-	Combination with fluorouracil
-	-	None	-	-	None
-	-	Response rate	-	-	Time to progression, median survival
Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
-	-	130 mg/m² IV on day 1 plus 5-FU 1000 mg/m²/d on days 1-4 every 3 weeks	-	-	130mg/m² IV on day 1 plus 5- fluorouracil continuous infusion days 1-4) every 3 weeks
	No - Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes	No No No	No No Yes Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B NR NR NR NR - None -	No	No

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
citations						
Range of years of citations	-	-	1990-2002	-	-	2002
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published Orticles)	-	-	Articles	-	-	Article
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	-	0	-	-	0
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	-	2 (1990-2002)	-	-	1 [2002]
Date of last update	1/10/2006	09/22/2005	NR	NR	12/05/05 [12/05/2005]*	7/13/2005

^{*} Last update of clinical practice guideline.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only Clinical Pharmacology and DRUGDEX provided any references (Table 4b). The same reference was cited by both.³⁴ This reference was also identified in the EPC review. DRUGDEX also cited a 1990 Phase I trial that was not identified by the EPC.³⁵ A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 4c.

Table 4c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - oxaliplatin for breast cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Phase II/III							
Delaloge 2004 ³¹	Х						
Phase II							
Cottu 2005 ³³	Х						
Gebbia 2004 ³⁶	Х						
Pectasides 2003 ³⁷	Х						
Thuss-Patience 2003 ³⁸	Х						
Leonardi 2002 ³⁹	Х						
Zelek 2002 ³⁴	Х			X			X
Garufi 2001 ³²	Х						
Phase I/II							
(none)							
Phase I							
Caussanel, 1990 ³⁵				X			
Other							
(none)							

Recommendations and supporting evidence. DRUGDEX lists an off-label indication for oxaliplatin for breast cancer after prior taxane and anthracycline treatment based on inconclusive evidence for efficacy of strength "Category B" (based on data derived from RCTs that involved small numbers of patients or had significant methodological flaws). The recommendation was "Class III" (not recommended).

Clinical Pharmacology provides an off-label indication for oxaliplatin for advanced or metastatic breast cancer after progression despite taxane and anthracycline therapy. It recommended the use of oxaliplatin in combination with 5-FU at a dose of 130mg/m² every 3 weeks.

Summary. Listings of oxaliplatin for breast cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Two of the six compendia (DRUGDEX, Clinical Pharmacology) discuss oxaliplatin for treatment of breast cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: The two compendia described a similar role for oxaliplatin in advanced or metastatic breast cancer after failure of taxane and anthracycline treatment. The compendia cite the same Phase II study of combination treatment with 5-FU and provide identical dosing information. Both compendia cite data on response rate, for which observed improvements are quantified; Clinical Pharmacology also mentions time to progression and median survival, for which no quantitative data are presented.
- Evidence rating: Only DRUGDEX provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label indication of oxaliplatin for breast cancer, describing the evidence as category B and inconclusive. Both DRUGDEX and Clinical Pharmacology cite at least one reference.

- Recommendation statements: Only DRUGDEX provided an explicit recommendation on the off-label use of oxaliplatin for breast cancer, listing it as "Not recommended."
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to oxaliplatin are reported in all of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with breast cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite the published Phase II/III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 1/10/06, but the 2004 Phase II/III study is not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, but it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff, but it does not cite the Phase II/III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 9/22/05; the Phase II/III study was presented at ASCO in June 2005.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include breast cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites two studies, but fails to cite additional studies identified in the EPC review, including the single Phase II/III trial (2005). The date of the last update was not reported, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the four clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is not an off-label indication for oxaliplatin in breast cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 12/5/05, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes breast cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite any of the eight prospective studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 7/13/05, but the Phase II/III study presented at ASCO in June 2005 is not cited.

Oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®) for Lung Cancer

As stated above, oxaliplatin is a third-generation platinum analog. Oxaliplatin is a non-cell cycle specific, alkylating chemotherapeutic drug that impairs DNA synthesis by forming

platinum-DNA crosslinks that inhibit DNA replication and transcription. Its activity and toxicity profiles differ from both cisplatin and carboplatin, and thus it lacks cross-resistance with these compounds. Unlike cisplatin or carboplatin, oxaliplatin is not associated with significant renal or auditory toxicity, and hematological toxicity is usually mild. Oxaliplatin has a large spectrum of anticancer activity and has been used in combination with many other chemotherapy agents.

Oxaliplatin is FDA approved as a second-line therapy for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer; a first-line treatment for advanced colorectal cancer; and an adjuvant treatment for stage III colorectal cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use for lung cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 109 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 20 met the EPC inclusion criteria. Nineteen of the 20 were abstracted. One Phase II study of oxaliplatin by continuous infusion published in 1990 could not be obtained for abstraction.

Table 5a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 4) reports details from each of the 19 studies. The literature review identified 18 prospective clinical trials, of which 12 were Phase II studies, two were Phase I/II, and four were Phase I. A total of 666 subjects were involved.

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	omes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	19	666	1998-2005	16	7	-	11	19
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase II	12 (63%)	546 (82%)	1998-2005	12	7	-	7	12
Phase I/II	2 (11%)	62 (9%)	2001-2	2	-	-	1	2
Other ^a	5 (26%)	58 (9%)	2001-3	2	-	-	3	5
No. of above published as abstracts	4 (21%)	232 (35%)	2004-5	4	2	-	2	4

Abbreviations: $AEs = adverse \ effects$; No. = number; $QoL = quality \ of \ life$; Sx = symptoms; $TR = tumor \ response$.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III studies were identified.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. A total of 12 Phase II studies were identified, of which two were randomized. All studies evaluated oxaliplatin in the setting of advanced stage III or IV NSCLC; 11 of 12 included patients in the first-line setting. One study evaluated oxaliplatin as monotherapy, and all others included co-interventions. Co-interventions included gemcitabine (n = 7 studies), vinorelbine (n = 1), docetaxel (n = 1), pemetrexed (n = 1), and paclitaxel (n = 1). Oxaliplatin doses ranged from 65 to 130 mg/m². All concluded that oxaliplatin has activity in this setting, except an ASCO abstract by Lippe. Generally response rates were felt to be similar to other platinum-containing doublets, with equal or better tolerability. Further investigation was recommended. The data from randomized and non-randomized studies were similar.

Peer-reviewed Phase I/II trials. Oxaliplatin was combined with vinorelbine and

^a Four Phase I studies and 1 case report.

gemcitabine in two Phase I/II studies. Both demonstrated that oxaliplatin could be safely administered and had activity, verifying plans to go on to Phase II studies.

Peer-reviewed Phase I and other studies. The four small Phase I studies and one case report all suggested that the Phase II studies described above were feasible and warranted.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 5b summarizes the compendia's discussions about the off-label use of oxaliplatin for treatment of lung cancer. Only DRUGDEX lists this as an off-label indication. All compendia discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. None discussed oxaliplatin-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for lung cancer.

Table 5b: Summary of compendia listings – oxaliplatin for lung cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	-	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	-	-	-
Stage of cancers	-	-	Stage IV	-	-	-
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	-	Monotherapy	-	-	-
Routes of administration	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	-	Response	-	-	-
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off-label use	-	-	130 mg/m2 IV as a 2 hr infusion every 21 days	-	-	-
Number of evidence citations	-	-	1 (+1) ^a	-	-	-
Range of years of citations	-	-	1998-2002	-	-	-
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	-	Article	-	-	-
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	-	0	-	-	-
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	-	2 (1998-2002)	-	-	-
Date of last update	1/10/2006	09/22/2005	NR	NR	03/04/05 [11/22/2005]*	7/13/2005

^{*} Last update of clinical practice guideline.

^a One article cited; 1 additional article included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only DRUGDEX provided any references about oxaliplatin for lung cancer treatment (Table 5b). A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 5c.

Table 5c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - oxaliplatin for lung cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	СР
Reviewed by compendia:	-						
Phase III							
(none)							
Phase II							
Bidoli 2005 ⁴⁰	Х						
Broad 2005 ⁴³	X						
Cappuzzo 2005 ⁴⁴	Х						
Kouroussis 2005 ⁴⁵	X						
Lippe 2005 ⁴²	Х						
Santos 2005 ⁴⁶	Х						
Scagliotti 2005 ⁴¹	X						
Buosi 2004 ⁴⁷	Х						
Winegarden 2004 ⁴⁸	Х						
Franciosi 2003 ⁴⁹	Χ						
Monnet 2002 ⁵⁰	Χ			*			
Monnet 1998 ⁵¹	Х			X			
Phase I/II							
Faivre 2002 ⁵²	Χ						
Monnet 2001 ⁵³	Х						
Phase I							
Bidoli 2004 ⁵⁴	Χ						
Doroshow 2003 ⁵⁵	X						
Kouroussis 2003 ⁵⁶	Х						
Kakolyris 2002 ⁵⁷	Х						
Other							
Santini 2001 ⁵⁸	Х						

^{*} Non-cited reference.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. Only DRUGDEX lists an off-label indication for oxaliplatin for lung cancer. It bases this recommendation on inconclusive evidence for efficacy of strength "Category B" (based on data derived from RCTs that involved small numbers of patients or had significant methodological flaws). The recommendation was "Class III" (Not recommended). None of the other compendia list an off-label indication for this agent-disease combination.

Summary. Listings of oxaliplatin for lung cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Only DRUGDEX discusses oxaliplatin for treatment of lung cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: DRUGDEX lists the indication for stage IV (metastatic) NSCLC. It gives specific dosing information for monotherapy based on two cited studies. DRUGDEX describes specific data on response rate as reported in one referenced study.
- Evidence rating: DRUGDEX provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label indication of oxaliplatin for lung cancer. It rates the evidence as inconclusive, placing the strength of evidence in its second tier. Two studies are cited.

- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX uses the evidence rating of Class III or "Not recommended" for the off-label indication of oxaliplatin for NSCLC.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to oxaliplatin are reported in all of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with NSCLC.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by
 evidence and current practice; it does not include lung cancer as an off-label indication
 for oxaliplatin. There is no published Phase III study of oxaliplatin in lung cancer; thus
 the compendium adheres to its stated methodology, which emphasizes well-designed,
 controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, but it does not include lung cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. No Phase III or IV studies were identified in the EPC review. The last update was 9/22/05, but 2004 and earlier data are not cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include lung cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only one of the 19 studies identified in the EPC review. The single cited reference is consistent with the monotherapy indication listed; however, a second study included in the reference list but not cited describes combined treatment with vinorelbine. The date of the last update was not reported, but 2005 and earlier data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include lung cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the seven clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 and earlier data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is not an off-label indication for oxaliplatin in lung cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 3/4/05, but no prior data are cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it does not include lung cancer as an off-label indication for oxaliplatin. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite any of the 12 prospective Phase II studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 7/13/05; published studies available prior to that date are not cited.

Irinotecan (Camptosar®) for Breast Cancer

Irinotecan is an intravenous chemotherapeutic agent. It is a derivative of camptothecin, a cytotoxic plant alkaloid isolated from the Chinese tree *Camptotheca acuminata*. Irinotecan is a potent anticancer drug with activity in a broad range of experimental tumor models. Irinotecan and its metabolite SN-38 work by inhibiting topoisomerase I, a cellular enzyme involved in maintaining the topographic structure of DNA during translation, transcription, and mitosis. By binding with the topoisomerase I-DNA complex, irinotecan or SN-38 prevents the single-strand DNA breaks usually created by this complex. This activity is not in itself cytotoxic, and ongoing DNA synthesis is required to cause lethal cellular damage. Irreversible DNA damage occurs when a DNA replication fork encounters the irinotecan or SN-38/topoisomerase I complexes resulting in double-strand DNA breaks.

Irinotecan is FDA approved for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer that has recurred or progressed after therapy with 5-FU and as part of a first-line treatment regimen containing 5-FU and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in breast cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 151 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 10 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 6a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 5) reports details from each of the 10 studies. The literature review identified nine prospective clinical trials, of which five were Phase II and four were Phase I, involving a total of 324 subjects. An additional 20 subjects were included in a retrospective review identifying activity of this agent in this setting.

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	omes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	10	344	2001-5	8	4	-	7	10
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase II	5 (50%)	293 (85%)	2003-5	5	3	-	4	5
Phase I	4 ^a (40%)	31 (9%)	2004-5	2	-	-	2	4
Other	1 (10%)	20 (6%)	2001	1	1	-	1	1
No. of above published as abstracts	5 (50%)	106 (31%)	2004-5	3	-	-	2	5

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III studies were identified.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. Of the five Phase II trials, two were randomized – one published by Perez et al in full-text form⁵⁹ and one presented by Vukelja et al. at ASCO in

^a Three studies of mixed advanced solid tumor populations.

 $2005.^{60}$ The Perez study evaluated irinotecan monotherapy at $100 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ } vs \text{ } 240 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ in}$ patients with previously treated metastatic breast cancer. Activity was nearly equal between these two doses. The Vukelja study evaluated irinotecan monotherapy at $60 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ } vs \text{ } 30 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ in}$ patients with previously treated advanced breast cancer. The higher dose was somewhat more efficacious.

The other three Phase II studies were non-randomized. Two were published in full-text form. ^{61,62} Doses ranged from 100 to 300 mg/m², and co-interventions were docetaxel and gemcitabine. All studies were in patients with previously treated advanced breast cancer.

Peer-reviewed Phase I and other studies. The five other studies evaluated irinotecan with a variety of co-interventions and doses. Complete information was not always provided, and populations were not necessarily limited to breast cancer. These studies predominantly supported the progression to Phase II trials.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 6b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of irinotecan for treatment of breast cancer. Only DRUGDEX explicitly stated whether there was an off-label indication for the drug in the setting of this cancer. DRUGDEX stated that the evidence was inconclusive and that the recommendation was "level IIb." All other compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for breast cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. None discussed irinotecan-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for breast cancer.

Table 6b: Summary of compendia listings – irinotecan for breast cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	No	Yes (Irinotecan hydrochloride)	No	No	No
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	-	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class IIb * Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category C**	-	-	-
Stage of cancers	-	-	Advanced	-	-	-
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	-	Other	-	-	-
Routes of administration	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	-	NR	-	-	-
Outcomes mentioned for the off- label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	-	Response rate	-	-	-
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes/ By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off-label use	-	-	No	-	-	-
Number of evidence citations	-	-	2	-	-	-
Range of years of citations	-	-	1994-1997	-	-	-
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	-	Journal	-	-	-
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	-		-	-	-
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	-	2 [1994-1997]	-	-	-
Date of last update	1/10/2006	10/28/2004	NR	NR	12/05/2005	1/30/2006

^{*}Recommended in some cases. The given test or treatment is not generally considered to be useful. It may be indicated in some, but not most, cases.

^{**}Based on data derived from expert opinion or consensus, case reports or case series.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only DRUGDEX provided any references (Table 6b); two references were cited, published in 1994 and 1997. Neither reference met the EPC criteria for inclusion, as both were narrative reviews. Further, more recent updates were identified by the EPC search. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 6c.

Table 6c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - irinotecan for breast cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
Phase III							
(none)							
Phase II							
Frasci 2005 ⁶²	Х						
Moulder 2005 ⁶³	Х						
Vukelja 200 <u>5</u> ⁶⁰	х						
Perez 2004 ⁵⁹	Х						
Agelaki 2003 ⁶¹	х						
Phase I/II							
(none)							
Phase I							
Gold 2005 ⁶⁴	Х						
Faivre 2004 ⁶⁵	Х						
Frasci 2004 ⁶⁶	Х						
Verscharaegen 2004 ⁶⁷	х						
Other							
Shigeoka 2001 ⁶⁸	х						
Rothenberg, 1997 ⁶⁹				x *			
Rothenberg, 1997 ⁶⁹ Burris, 1994 ⁷⁰				X*			

^{*}Did not meet EPC inclusion criteria because narrative review.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. DRUGDEX states that there is inconclusive evidence for a clear recommendation of irinotecan for breast cancer, indicating a recommendation of level IIb, evidence category C. Its cited references were narrative reviews from 1994 and 1997, much earlier than the currently available Phase II data. DRUGDEX does not specify whether irinotecan should be used as monotherapy or in combination; advanced breast cancer is the specified setting.

Summary. Listings of irinotecan for breast cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Only DRUGDEX discusses irinotecan for treatment of breast cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: DRUGDEX lists the indication for advanced breast cancer. It does not give specific dosing information, citing two review articles. DRUGDEX mentions response rate, but does not cite specific data.
- Evidence rating: DRUGDEX provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label indication of irinotecan for breast cancer. It rates the evidence as inconclusive, placing the strength of evidence in its lowest tier, corresponding to data derived from expert opinion or consensus, case reports, or case series. Two references are cited, both review articles.
- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX uses the evidence rating of Class IIb, or "Recommended in some cases ... not generally considered to be useful ... may be

- indicated in some, but not most cases."
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to irinotecan are reported in all of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with breast cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by
 evidence and current practice; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication
 for irinotecan. There is no published Phase III study of irinotecan in breast cancer; thus
 the compendium adheres to its stated methodology, which emphasizes well-designed,
 controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, but it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for irinotecan. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff; no Phase III or IV studies were identified in the EPC review. The last update was 10/28/04; no relevant data would have been identified during later searches.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include breast
 cancer as an off-label indication for irinotecan. In its methodology it emphasizes a
 comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only two old
 narrative reviews and does not cite any data after 1997. The date of the last update was
 not reported, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for irinotecan. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the four clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is not an off-label indication for irinotecan in breast cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 12/5/05, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it does not include breast cancer as an off-label indication for irinotecan. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the nine prospective studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 1/30/06, but 2005 data are not cited.

Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Esophageal Cancer

Docetaxel is a semisynthetic antimicrotubule chemotherapy agent. It was isolated in 1986 as a result of the National Cancer Institute (NCI) screening program for natural cytotoxic products. Docetaxel promotes the assembly of microtubules and stabilizes their formation by inhibiting depolymerization. These stable microtubules are non-functional, preventing cell division.

Docetaxel is similar to paclitaxel in structure, mechanism of action, and spectrum of antitumor activity. Non-hematologic toxicities differ between docetaxel and paclitaxel; fluid retention and skin lesions are more severe with docetaxel. The efficacy for docetaxel has been explored with myriad solid tumors including breast, colorectal, head and neck, gastrointestinal (GI), lung, and ovarian cancers. It is effective alone or in combination with other agents.

Docetaxel is FDA approved (1) for the treatment of refractory, locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer; (2) as an adjuvant agent (in combination with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide) in breast cancer patients with lymph node positive disease; (3) for the treatment of advanced or metastatic NSCLC after progression despite platinum-containing chemotherapy; and (4) for the treatment of metastatic, hormone-refractory prostate cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in esophageal cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 132 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 23 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 7a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 6) reports details from each of the 23 studies. The literature review identified 21 prospective clinical trials, of which 13 were Phase II, six Phase I/II, and two Phase I. A total of 721 subjects were involved in the prospective clinical trials.

Table 7a: Study types and outcomes reported – docetaxel for esophageal cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	mes Repo	rted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	23	1026	1996-2005	16	11	-	19	20
Phase II	13 (57%)	521 (51%)	1996-2005	11	9	-	11	12
Phase I/II	6 (26%)	163 (16%)	2004-5	4	-	-	6	6
Phase I	2 (9%)	37 (4%)	1998-2004	-	-	-	1	1
Other	2 (9%)	305 (30%)	2000-3	1	2	-	1	1

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. There were 13 peer-reviewed Phase II trials. Only one was randomized. This was a study of docetaxel plus cisplatin *vs* the same regimen plus 5-FU. Doses of docetaxel used in the Phase II studies ranged from 25 to 100 mg/m², except in the neoadjuvant setting (two studies) where doses were 10 to 35 mg/m². Four studies evaluated docetaxel as monotherapy. Co-interventions included radiotherapy, vinorelbine, cisplatin, 5-FU, and irinotecan. Patient populations included all stages of disease and treatment settings (first line, post-first line, heavily pretreated) although more studies included patients with advanced disease. All trials included a statement supporting the need for further study of docetaxel in esophageal cancer, although some also included a statement recommending close attention to the toxicities of some of the various docetaxel combinations.

One important limitation of this literature was that the studies often included patients with gastric or gastroesophageal cancer. Often there was not a clear distinction between esophageal,

gastric, and gastroesophageal cancer, consistent with the occasional clinical difficulties with distinguishing these. At least five of the 13 Phase II trials included patients in all three groups.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 7b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of docetaxel for treatment of esophageal cancer. Four of the six compendia had an off-label listing of docetaxel in esophageal cancer. USP-DI characterized this as "Accepted," whereas DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and NCCN were less emphatic. All the compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for esophageal cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. None discussed docetaxel-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for esophageal cancer.

Table 7b: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for esophageal cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	Accepted	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	Unlabeled use	2A	-
Stage of cancers	-	Advanced and/or metastatic carcinomas, incl. adenocarcinomas and squamous cell carcinomas	Incurable adenocarcinoma of the esophagus	NR	Recurrent or metastatic disease	-
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	NR	Other	NR	Other	-
Routes of administration	-	IV	IV	IV	IV	-
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	After failure of platinum-based therapy Monotherapy or combination (gemcitabine, cisplatin, 5-FU, leucovorin) and radiation therapy	Mono	NR	Combination	-
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	NR	NR	NR	NR	-
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	NR	Response rate, median survival time, 1-year survival rate, time to disease progression	NR	Response rate, morbidity	-

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off-label use	-	Combo: 60 to 85 mg/m2, by 1-hr infusion, every 21 to 28 d Mono: 100 mg/m2, by 1-hr infusion, every 21 d	75 mg/m² every 3 weeks for a maximum number of 8 cycles	NR	NR	-
Number of evidence citations	-	17	1 (+4)	3	3	-
Range of years of citations	-	1994-2000	2002	2002-2005	2002-2004	-
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	Journal; Abstracts; Other	Journal; Abstracts	Package insert, reference book, textbook	Journals, abstracts	-
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	8 [2000]	4 [1996-2000]	0	2 [2002-2004]	-
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	8 [1994-2000]	1 [2002]	0	1 [2004]	-
Date of last update	1/10/2006	11/28/2005	NR	NR	1/13/05 (2/7/06]	11/15/2005

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. USP-DI,

DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and NCCN all provided references. These references were not necessarily specific to esophageal cancer, nor were they all peer-reviewed articles. USP-DI predominantly cited references to studies of gastric cancer patients to support the indication "gastric and esophageal cancer." Facts & Comparisons included three items, none of which was a peer-reviewed article. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 7c.

Table 7c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – docetaxel for esophageal or gastric cancer

Reviewed by compendia: Phase III (none)	-	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NIa	
					1 03	165	No	-
(none)								
Phase II								
Ajani, 2005 ⁷¹	Х						_	
Burtness, 2005 ⁷²	Х							
Kajiyama, 2005 ⁷³	Х							
Lorenzen, 2005 ⁷⁴	Х							
Lorenzen, 2005 ⁷⁵	Х							
Muro, 2004 ⁷⁶	Х					X		
Posev, 2004 ⁷⁷	Х							
Airoldi, 2003 ⁷⁸	Х							
Govindan, 2003 ⁷⁹	Х							
Lordick, 2003 ⁸⁰	Х							
Schull, 2003 ⁸¹	Х							
Font, 2002 ⁸²						X***		
Heath, 2002 ⁸³	Х			X				
Jatoi, 2002 ⁸⁴	Х							
Ridwelski 2001 ⁸⁵				X*				
Aiani. 2000 ⁸⁶			X**	@				Abstract
Eniu, 2000 ⁸⁷			x*	@* @* @				Abstract
Giuliani, 2000 ⁸⁸			х*	<u>@</u> *				Abstract
Mauer, 2000 ⁸⁹			X***	@				
Mavroudis, 2000 ⁹⁰			х*	@*				
Thuss-Patience, 2000 ⁹¹			x*	Ŭ				
Einzig, 1996 ⁹²	Х		x	@				
Sulkes, 1994 ⁹³			x*	Ŭ				
Phase I/II								
Pasini, 2005 ⁹⁴	Х							
Tsai, 2005 ⁹⁵	Х							
Yuki, 2005 ⁹⁶ _	X							
Bubis, 2004 ⁹⁷	X							
Enzinger, 2004 ⁹⁸	X					Χ		
Roth, 2000 ⁹⁹	•		X***			, ,		
Roth, 2000 ¹⁰⁰	Х		X**					
Mauer, 1998 ¹⁰¹	X		X					
Phase I								
Sved 2005 ¹⁰²	х							
Poole, 2000 ¹⁰³	^		X***					
Puccio, 2000 ¹⁰⁴			X***	@				Abstract
Ryan, 2000 ¹⁰⁵			x ^{\$}	w				710311401
Vokes, 1998 ¹⁰⁶	х		X					
Other	^		^					

Reference	EPC	AHFS	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	-
Esmaeli, 2003 ¹⁰⁷	Х							
Jani, 2000 ¹⁰⁸ Verweij, 1995 ¹⁰⁹	Х							
Verweij, 1995 ¹⁰⁹			x [#]					
Anonymous, 2001 ¹¹⁰			x [#]					
Package insert ¹¹¹					x ^{#,%}			
Anonymous, 2001 ¹¹⁰ Package insert ¹¹¹ Textbook ¹¹²					x [#]			
_Database ¹¹³					x [#]			

^{*} Gastric cancer, not esophageal.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. USP-DI has 17 citations, only three of which met the EPC criteria. Five of these were for gastric cancer specifically and not esophageal cancer. The one DRUGDEX citation was a Phase II trial also identified by the EPC search; additional relevant references were listed in DRUGDEX but were not cited, including four relevant to esophageal cancer and four relevant to gastric cancer. Facts & Comparisons listed three citations, but none of these was peer-reviewed. Of the three NCCN citations, two were cited by the EPC and one was an abstract presented before 2004 and not published in full text since. None of the compendia cited the only randomized study identified by this review.

Summary. Listings of docetaxel for esophageal cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Four of the six compendia (USP-DI, DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and NCCN) discuss docetaxel for treatment of esophageal cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication, those compendia that discuss the off-label use of docetaxel in esophageal cancer describe various subgroups of patients. USP-DI uses "advanced and/or metastatic including adenocarcinomas and squamous cell carcinomas." DRUGDEX indications are limited to adenocarcinomas. Facts & Comparisons and NCCN are not specific regarding the cell type, although NCCN notes that nearly all evidence is from trials of patients with squamous cell carcinoma. While USP-DI includes mono- or combination-treatment, DRUGDEX lists only monotherapy, and NCCN lists only combination therapy, while Facts & Comparisons does not specify. DRUGDEX and NCCN describe the outcome of response rate, reporting some quantitative data from one study.
- Evidence rating: Only DRUGDEX and NCCN provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label indication of docetaxel for esophageal cancer. DRUGDEX rates the evidence as inconclusive and in its second tier (B), while NCCN rates the evidence in its second tier ("lower" quality), but with uniform consensus. USP-DI includes an extensive list of references, but these are reported only as lists of the available evidence and are not explicitly rated. DRUGDEX and NCCN cite five and three studies, respectively, while Facts & Comparisons cites a textbook and other non-peer reviewed references.
- Recommendation statements: Three of the four compendia listing this off-label indication grade the recommendation. DRUGDEX rates it as class III ("Not

^{**} Full-text version of article published and cited by EPC.

^{***} Abstract from prior to 2004 (did not meet EPC criteria).

^{\$} Unclear if any esophageal cancer patients are included.

^{*}Does not meet EPC inclusion criteria because it is a review article or other non-peer reviewed item.

[®] Non-cited reference.

[%] Additional data from editor identified that there was an error in citation; more specific information provided indicating the textbook was the intended citation.

recommended") based on inconclusive evidence, while NCCN uses evidence rating 2A, indicating uniform consensus (in the corresponding NCCN guideline, which was updated in 12/20/05, the evidence for this indication is rated as category 3, indicating major disagreement that the indication is appropriate). USP-DI lists the off-label use under the "Accepted" category. Facts & Comparisons does not grade the off-label use of docetaxel in esophageal cancer.

• *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to docetaxel are reported in most of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with esophageal cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by
 evidence and current practice; it does not include esophageal cancer as an off-label
 indication for docetaxel. There is no published Phase III study of docetaxel in
 esophageal cancer; thus the compendium adheres to its stated methodology, which
 emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include esophageal cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. Seventeen citations are listed, of which eight are classified as Phase II; the rest are of lower phases. Only two of the cited Phase II studies met the EPC inclusion criteria. The last update was 1/28/05; the majority of citations identified by the EPC are prior to that date.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include esophageal
 cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes a
 comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only one of
 the 23 studies identified in the EPC review (eight additional studies are listed in the
 references, but not cited). The date of the last update was not reported, but data
 published since 2002 are neither cited nor listed in references.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes esophageal cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but cites only non-peerreviewed publications. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for docetaxel in esophageal cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 1/13/05, and 2004 data are cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it does not include esophageal cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the prospective studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 11/15/05, but earlier 2005 data are not cited.

Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Gastric Cancer

As stated above, docetaxel is a semisynthetic antimicrotubule chemotherapy agent. It was isolated in 1986 as a result of the NCI screening program for natural cytotoxic products. Docetaxel promotes the assembly of microtubules and stabilizes their formation by inhibiting depolymerization. These stable microtubules are non-functional, preventing cell division. Docetaxel is similar to paclitaxel in structure, mechanism of action, and spectrum of antitumor activity. Non-hematologic toxicities differ between docetaxel and paclitaxel; fluid retention and skin lesions are more severe with docetaxel. The efficacy for docetaxel has been explored with myriad solid tumors including breast, colorectal, head and neck, GI, lung, and ovarian cancers. It is effective alone or in combination with other agents.

Docetaxel is FDA approved (1) for the treatment of refractory, locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer; (2) as an adjuvant agent (in combination with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide) in breast cancer patients with lymph node positive disease; (3) for the treatment of advanced or metastatic NSCLC after progression despite platinum-containing chemotherapy; and (4) for the treatment of metastatic, hormone-refractory prostate cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in gastric cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 132 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 72 appeared to meet the EPC inclusion criteria.

Appendix B (Evidence Table 7) reports details from each of the 72 studies. Among these 72 articles or abstracts, there were several that presented the same data. We found it impossible to eliminate the duplicate data among the lower phase studies (Phase I and Phase II); therefore, we have limited this analysis to Phase III studies only, for which duplicate publication was not a problem. There were three Phase III studies. 114-116

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. The three Phase III studies evaluated docetaxel for gastric cancer, all in the advanced cancer setting. In the study by Fahlke, ¹¹⁵ docetaxel was combined with cisplatin and compared with 5-FU, leucovorin, and cisplatin. Preliminary safety results are available only for the first 162 of a planned 216 subjects. In a study by Elsaid, ¹¹⁴ docetaxel was combined with carboplatin and compared to epirubicin, cisplatin, and 5-FU. The docetaxel combination was superior in terms of response and survival. In the study by Moiseyenko, ¹¹⁶ docetaxel was combined with cisplatin and 5-FU and compared to cisplatin and 5-FU alone. Response rates were better and survival was longer when docetaxel was added.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 8 summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of docetaxel for treatment of gastric cancer. Five of the six compendia had an off-label listing of docetaxel in gastric cancer. USP-DI characterized this as "Accepted," whereas DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, NCCN, and Clinical Pharmacology were less emphatic. All the compendia, regardless of whether they discussed an off-label indication for gastric cancer or not, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs have been reported to be affected. DRUGDEX and NCCN discussed docetaxel-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for gastric cancer.

Table 8: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for gastric cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)		Accepted	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence favors efficacy Recommendation: Adult, Class IIb Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	Unlabeled indication	2A	Advanced
Stage of cancers		Advanced and/or metastatic, including adenocarcinomas and squamous cell carcinomas	Metastatic	NR	Unresectable locoregional disease Following a grossly margin positive resection (R2) in medically fit patients with locoregional disease (M0) Recurrent or metastatic disease	Advanced gastric cancer
Method of treatment (first line or other)		Other	NR	NR	First-line and other	First line and other
Routes of administration		IV	IV	IV	IV	IV
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)		Monotherapy or in combination (gemcitabine, cisplatin, 5–FU, leucovorin) and radiation therapy	Combination (cisplatin)	NR	Combination	Monotherapy
Comparator discussed		NR	None	NR	Yes	NR
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor		NR	Survival Response Time to progression	NR	NR	Partial response, stable disease

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
response, other)						
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Ys Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No
Dose indicated for the off-label use		Combo: 60 to 85 mg/m2, by 1-hr infusion, every 21 to 28 days Mono: 100 mg/m ² , by 1-hour infusion, every 21 days	75 mg/ m ² and cisplatin 75 mg/m ² every 3 weeks for 6 cycles	NR	Many regimens may be considered in the first-line setting No established second-line	Dosage regimen not established
Number of evidence citations		17	1 (+ 8) ^a	3	4	2
Range of years of citations		1994-2000	2001	2002-2005	1994-2000	2003
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)		Journal; Abstracts; Other	Journals	Package insert, text books	Journals	Published articles
Number of abstracts cited [years]		8 [2000]	4 [2000]	0	0	0
Number of published articles cited [years]		8 [1994-2000]	5 [1996-2001]	0	4 [1994-2000]	2 [2003]
Date of last update	1/10/2006	11/28/2005	NR	NR	1/12/05 (1/11/06)	11/15/2005

^a 1 article cited; 8 additional articles included in the reference list (4 esophageal cancer and 4 gastric cancer).

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Each of the five compendia listing a gastric cancer indication provided some references. These references were not necessarily specific to the gastric cancer indication, nor were all peer-reviewed articles. As noted above, we limited our analysis to the three Phase III trials, all of which were abstracts published in 2005.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. None of the compendia cited any of the three Phase III studies published in 2005, although one (Facts & Comparisons) included a 2005 citation. As noted above, we limited our analysis for this topic to the three Phase III trials.

Summary. Listings of docetaxel for gastric cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Five of the six compendia (all except AHFS-DI) discuss docetaxel for treatment of gastric cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication, those compendia that discuss the off-label use of docetaxel in gastric cancer use different ad hoc nomenclatures (e.g., USP-DI uses "advanced and/or metastatic," while DRUGDEX uses "metastatic" and Clinical Pharmacology uses "advanced"; NCCN describes the cancer indication in more specific terms that conform to standardized staging classification). Three compendia describe combination treatment (USP-DI, DRUGDEX, NCCN), while two list monotherapy (USP-DI, Clinical Pharmacology), including information about dosages; Facts & Comparisons does not describe use as mono- or combination-therapy. Only two compendia describe outcomes affected by treatment: DRUGDEX lists survival, response rate, and time to progression, while Clinical Pharmacology describes partial response and stable disease. No specific quantitative estimates of the magnitude of benefit are reported.
- Evidence rating: Only two compendia (DRUGDEX and NCCN) provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label indication of docetaxel for gastric cancer. DRUGDEX describes the evidence as "favors efficacy" and rates it in the second tier. NCCN also places the evidence in its second tier. USP-DI includes the most extensive list of references with 17 citations, but these are reported only as lists of the available evidence. The other compendia cite between two and nine references.
- Recommendation statements: NCCN grades the off-label indication as 2A, indicating lower level evidence but uniform consensus about the appropriateness of the indication (in the corresponding NCCN guideline, which was updated in 1/11/06, the evidence for this indication is rated as category 3, indicating major disagreement that the indication is appropriate). DRUGDEX grades its recommendation as "Recommended in some cases" (Class IIb). USP-DI lists the off-label use under the "Accepted" category without further qualification. Facts & Comparisons and Clinical Pharmacology make no further mention on the off-label use of docetaxel in gastric cancer.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to docetaxel are reported in most of the compendia, but only DRUGDEX and NCCN note toxicities specifically in patients with gastric cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of

current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include gastric cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies and consistent with its policy not to include abstracts does not cite any of the three Phase III studies identified in the EPC review.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include gastric cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. Seventeen citations are listed, of which eight are classified as Phase II; the rest are of lower phases. The last update was 1/28/05, which was prior to the publication of the three Phase III studies identified by the EPC.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include gastric cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only one of the studies identified in the EPC review (eight additional studies are included in the references but not cited). The date of the last update was not reported, but data published since 2002 are neither cited nor listed in references.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes gastric cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but cites only non-peerreviewed publications. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for docetaxel in gastric cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 1/11/06, but data published after 2000 are not cited, including data from the three Phase III studies published in 2005.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes gastric cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the Phase III studies identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 11/15/05, but no data after 2003 are cited.

Docetaxel (Taxotere®) for Ovarian Cancer

As stated above, docetaxel is a semisynthetic antimicrotubule chemotherapy agent. It was isolated in 1986 as a result of the NCI screening program for natural cytotoxic products. Docetaxel promotes the assembly of microtubules and stabilizes their formation by inhibiting depolymerization. These stable microtubules are non-functional, preventing cell division. Docetaxel is similar to paclitaxel in structure, mechanism of action, and spectrum of antitumor activity. Non-hematologic toxicities differ between docetaxel and paclitaxel; fluid retention and skin lesions are more severe with docetaxel. The efficacy for docetaxel has been explored with myriad solid tumors including breast, colorectal, head and neck, GI, lung, and ovarian cancers. It is effective alone or in combination with other agents.

Docetaxel is FDA approved (1) for the treatment of refractory, locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer; (2) as an adjuvant agent (in combination with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide)

in breast cancer patients with lymph node positive disease; (3) for the treatment of advanced or metastatic NSCLC after progression despite platinum-containing chemotherapy; and (4) for the treatment of metastatic, hormone-refractory prostate cancer. It has also been evaluated for off-label use in ovarian cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 143 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. For the ovarian cancer topic, we abbreviated our inquiry, because the large number of citations was expected to exceed our capacity. Therefore, we eliminated several steps in our methodology and in our reporting for this topic: (1) we did not search abstracts presented at the 2004 or 2005 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) annual meeting; (2) we did not abstract each study into evidence tables; and (3) we do not summarize the results of individual trials by research phase below.

Of the 143 citations identified, 57 appeared to meet the EPC inclusion criteria. We evaluated the abstracts of these citations to classify them by study design. Of the 53 with abstracts, there were 28 prospective clinical trials, of which one was Phase III, 16 Phase II, one Phase I/II, and 10 Phase I.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 9a summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of docetaxel for treatment of ovarian cancer. Five of the six compendia had an off-label listing of docetaxel in ovarian cancer. USP-DI characterized this as "Accepted"; Facts & Comparisons and Clinical Pharmacology mentioned no qualifiers, while DRUGDEX and NCCN both qualified the indication. None discussed docetaxel-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for ovarian cancer.

Table 9a: Summary of compendia listings – docetaxel for ovarian cancer

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)		Accepted	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class Ilb Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	Unlabeled use	2B (2A for recurrence)	NR
Stage of cancers		Ovarian carcinoma after prior platinum- based therapy has failed	Ovarian cancer, advanced, previously treated	NR	Bulky stage III/IV disease Incompletely staged (stage IA-IB, grade 2-3, stage IC and stage II to IV) patients with no suspected residual or resectable disease Pathologic stage IA-IB (grades 2-3) and stage IC (all grades) Stage II to IV disease with interval debulking Clinical relapse or recurrence	Advanced: previously treated patients
Method of treatment (first line or other)		Other	Other	NR	Primary/adjuvant + palliation	First line and other
Routes of administration		IV	IV	IV	IV	IV
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)		Alone or in combination	Combination	NR	Alone or in combination	Monotherapy
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)		NR	NR	NR	Yes	NR
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor		NR	Partial responses, progression-free	NR	NR	Response rates, median

	AHFS-DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	Clinical Pharmacology
response, other)			survival, survival			progression-free survival, and overall survival
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Indication-specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Indication- specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off- label use		100 mg/m ² every 3 wks over 1-hr	100 mg/m ² IV every 3 weeks	NR	60-75 mg/m ² over 1 hour and carboplatin AUC 5-6 every 3 weeks	100 mg/m² IV over 1 hour every 3 weeks
Number of evidence citations		5	9 (+ 4) ^a	3	3	1
Range of years of citations		1994-1997	1992-1998	2002-2005	2004	1997
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)		Journals; Abstracts Other	Journals	Package insert, textbook, reference book	Journal	Article
Number of abstracts cited [years]		2 [1994]	1 [1993]	0	0	0
Number of published articles cited [years]	_	2 [1994-1995]	8 [1992-1998]	0 [2002-2005]	3 [2003-2004]	1 [1997]
Date of last update	1/10/20006	11/28/2005	NR	NR	1/13/2006 (1/3/06)	11/15/2005

^a Nine articles cited; four additional articles included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Each of the compendia listing an indication of docetaxel for ovarian cancer provided references. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 9b.

Table 9b: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – docetaxel for ovarian cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Phase III								
Vasey, 2004 ¹¹⁷	Х					X		
Markman, 2003 ¹¹⁸						X		Paclitaxel
Parmar, 2003 ¹¹⁹						X		Paclitaxel
Phase II								
Polyzos, 2005 ¹²⁰	Х							
Berkenblit, 2004 ¹²¹	Х							
Dieras, 2004 ¹²²	Х							
Markman, 2004 ¹²³	Х							
Aravantinos 2003 ¹²⁴	Х							
Markman, 2003 ¹²⁵	Х							
Rose, 2003 ¹²⁶	Х							
Vorobiof, 2003 ¹²⁷	Χ							
Laport, 2001 ¹²⁸	Х			@				
Markman, 2001 ¹²⁹	Х							
Katsumata, 2000 ¹³⁰	Х							
Vasey, 1999 ¹³¹	Х							
Kavanagh, 1996 ¹³²	Х							
Kaye, 1995 ¹³³	Х							
Piccart, 1995 ¹³⁴	Х		X	Х				
Aapro, 1994 ¹³⁵			X*					Abstract
Fossella, 1994 ¹³⁶				X				
Francis, 1994 ¹³⁷	Х		Х	X				
McGuire, 1989 ¹³⁸				@				
Phase I/II								
Pfisterer, 2004 ¹³⁹ Phase I	Х							
Komiyama, 2005 ¹⁴⁰	v							
Berkenblit, 2003	X X							
de Bree/Romanos 2003 ¹⁴²	X							
de Bree/Rosing 2003 ¹⁴³	X							
Morgan, 2003 ¹⁴⁴	X							
Oishi, 2003 ¹⁴⁵	X							
Terauchi, 2003 ¹⁴⁶	X							
O'Neill, 2002 ¹⁴⁷	X							
Vasey, 2001 ¹⁴⁸	X							
Soulie, 1997 ¹⁴⁹	X							
Tomiak, 1994 ¹⁵⁰	^			X				
Huizing, 1993 ¹⁵¹				<u>@</u>				
Pazdur, 1992 ¹⁵²				X				
Other								
Brown, 2005 ¹⁵³	X							
Kuribayashi, 2005 ¹⁵⁴	X							
Martino, 2005 ¹⁵⁵	X							
Montero, 2005 ¹⁵⁶	X							
Watanabe, 2005 ¹⁵⁷	X							
Brown, 2004 ¹⁵⁸	X							
Hsu, 2004 ¹⁵⁹	X							
Esmaeli. 2003 ¹⁰⁷	х							
Finsterer, 2003 ¹⁶⁰	X							

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	USP-DI	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	Clin Pharm	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Komiyama, 2003 ¹⁶¹	Х							
McNally, 2003 ¹⁶²	Х							
Niwa, 2003 ¹⁶³	Х							
Aoki, 2002 ¹⁶⁴	Х							
Hirai, 2002 ¹⁶⁵	Х							
Jeyakumar, 2001 ¹⁶⁶	Х							
Kouroussis, 2000 ¹⁶⁷	Х							
Lister-Sharp, 2000 ¹⁶⁸	Х							
Verschraegen, 2000 ¹⁶⁹	Х							
Benjapibal, 1998 ¹⁷⁰	Х			X				
Eisenhauer, 1998 ¹⁷¹ Balat, 1997 ¹⁷²	Х							
Balat, 1997 ¹⁷²	Х							
Behar, 1997 ¹⁷³	Х							
Kaye, 1997 ¹⁷⁴	Х						Х	Review
Eisenhauer, 1996 ¹⁷⁵	Х							
Sweeten, 1995 ¹⁷⁶	Х							
Kavanagh, 1994 ¹⁷⁷			X*	@	# 0/			Abstract
Package insert ¹¹¹					x ^{#,%} x [#] x [#]			
Textbook 112					X _#			
Database ¹¹³					Χ ^{'''}			
Anonymous, 1993 ¹⁷⁸				x *				Abstract
Pazdur, 1993 ¹⁷⁹				X				Review
Rowinsky, 1992 ¹⁸⁰				X				Review
No. of Abstracts	0		2	1				
Abstract Years								

^{*} Abstract from prior to 2004 (did not meet EPC inclusion criteria).

Recommendations and supporting evidence. USP-DI has five citations, only three of which met the EPC criteria. Three were Phase II studies, and one was a document described as "Panel consensus on monograph draft of 5/22/97." One abstract was too old to be obtained on the ASCO web site, so we could not assess its design.

DRUGDEX cited nine citations including three Phase II studies, two Phase I studies, one abstract we could not obtain, and two reviews. Facts & Comparisons listed three citations, but none of these was peer-reviewed (textbook, reference database, and package insert). Of the three NCCN citations, all were Phase III trials; two of the trials were of paclitaxel, while one was a study of docetaxel. These references were cited in the NCCN guideline in a statement supporting the use of "taxanes" (docetaxel and paclitaxel). Clinical Pharmacology cited a review of Phase II trials. ¹⁷⁴

Summary. Listings of docetaxel for ovarian cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Five of the six compendia (all except AHFS-DI) discuss docetaxel for treatment of ovarian cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication, those compendia that discuss the off-label use of docetaxel in ovarian cancer use different ad hoc nomenclatures (e.g., USP-DI, DRUGDEX, and Clinical Pharmacology describe the indication as advanced ovarian cancer [or carcinoma]; NCCN provides more specific

[#] Does not meet EPC inclusion criteria because it is a review article or other non-peer reviewed item.

[@] Non-cited reference

[%] Additional data from editor identified that there was an error in citation; more specific information provided indicating the textbook was the intended citation.

indications that conform to a standardized staging classification). Facts & Comparisons does not describe the stage of disease for which treatment is indicated. Combination treatment is described in USP-DI, DRUGDEX, and NCCN, while USP-DI and Clinical Pharmacology list monotherapy; however, NCCN is the only compendium to list specific combination agents and dosages. DRUGDEX and Clinical Pharmacology describe outcomes of response rates, progression-free survival, and overall survival, but none quantify the effects of treatment.

- Evidence rating: Only two compendia (DRUGDEX and NCCN) provide explicit
 evidence ratings for the off-label indication of docetaxel for ovarian cancer. DRUGDEX
 describes the evidence as "inconclusive" and rates it in the second tier. NCCN also
 places the evidence in its second tier. Only NCCN cites recent Phase III studies;
 DRUGDEX and USP-DI cite older Phase II studies, while Facts & Comparisons and
 Clinical Pharmacology cite only review articles or textbooks.
- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX and NCCN use an evidence rating for the off-label indication. DRUGDEX lists the indication as Class IIb, "Recommended in some cases," while NCCN endorses the indication based on non-uniform agreement with no major disagreement that the indication is appropriate, except for use in recurrent disease, where they note uniform consensus that the indication is appropriate. USP-DI lists the off-label use under the "Accepted" category. Facts & Comparisons and Clinical Pharmacology make no further qualification of the listing.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to docetaxel are reported in most of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with ovarian cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite any of the 19 published Phase II or III studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 1/10/06, but 2005 and prior data, including three Phase III trials, are not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. Five citations are listed, of which three are classified as Phase II; the Phase III trial identified in the EPC review is not cited. The last update was 11/28/05; all of the citations identified by the EPC are prior to this date.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include ovarian
 cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. In its methodology it emphasizes a
 comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites nine
 citations, including Phase I and II trials, a case report, and two reviews. However, it does
 not cite the Phase III trial identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was
 not reported, but 2005 data are not cited.

- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but cites only non-peerreviewed publications. The date of the last update is not stated, but the most recent study cited was from 1998.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for docetaxel in ovarian cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 1/13/05, and 2004 data are cited. The listing cites Phase III trials exclusively; however, two of the three trials cited used paclitaxel rather than docetaxel. These were cited in a statement supporting "taxanes"; we interpreted this to be using paclitaxel studies as indirect evidence supporting use of docetaxel.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for docetaxel. It emphasizes prospective trials, but cites only a 1997 review of Phase II prospective clinical trials.¹⁷⁴ The last update was 11/15/05; however, none of the Phase II trials published since the 1997 review are cited, nor is the 2004 Phase III trial identified in the EPC review.

Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Biliary Tract Cancer

Gemcitabine is a nucleoside analog with therapeutic indications for treatment of metastatic breast cancer (in combination with paclitaxel) after failure of prior anthracycline-containing adjuvant chemotherapy; treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (in combination with cisplatin); and treatment of locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer previously treated with 5- fluorouracil. Gemcitabine is also used off-label for treatment of various other cancers including biliary tract or gallbladder cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 60 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 33 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 10a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 8) reports details from each of the 29 articles and four abstracts. The literature includes 23 peer-reviewed Phase II trials (including one RCT and one non-randomized controlled trial) and one Phase I trial. There are no Phase III trials. The peer-reviewed studies included a total of 694 subjects with biliary tract or gallbladder cancer who received gemcitabine. All studies reported tumor response outcomes and adverse effects; almost all reported survival data. Only two case reports reported QoL data and only three reported data on symptom outcomes.

Table 10a: Study types and outcomes reported - gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer

Study typo	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	omes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	29	694	1998-2005	29	25	2	3	28
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase II	23 (79%)	654 (94%)	1998-2005	23	22	-	2	23
Phase I	1 (3%)	3 (< 1%)	2000	1	-	-	-	1
Other ^a	5 (17%)	37 (5%)	1998-2004	5	3	2	1	4
Abstracts ^b	4	147	2004-5	4	3	-	-	4

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III trials have been published.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. There were two comparative trials (one randomized) and 21 cohort trials that were peer-reviewed Phase II trials. Only the randomized trial compared gemcitabine (2000 mg/m² in combination with mitomycin C) to an alternative treatment (capecitabine and mitomycin C). The study concluded that gemcitabine was inferior to capecitabine for response rate, progression-free survival, and overall survival. The study examined patients with ascertained non-resectable biliary tract cancer who had no prior palliative chemotherapy; the treatments were used as first line therapy. The non-randomized comparative trial compared gemcitabine monotherapy to gemcitabine and 5-FU. 182

In the 23 trials that evaluated gemcitabine (including the non-randomized comparative trial), all of the patients had non-resectable and/or metastatic biliary tract cancer. Sixteen trials described patients who were either chemonaïve or for whom gemcitabine was first line therapy. Doses of gemcitabine used ranged from 800 to 2200 mg/m², although 14 studies used 1000 mg/m². Nine Phase II trials evaluated gemcitabine as monotherapy. The trials that used combination therapy included 5-FU, capecitabine, cisplatin, and leucovorin as combination agents. In 23 of 25 cohorts of patients, tumor response rates were reported; the highest complete response rate (13 percent) was found in a study of 30 patients. Partial response rates ranged from 0 to 55 percent; stable disease ranged from 7 to 46 percent; and disease progression ranged from 0 to 65 percent. Median overall survival ranged from 4.6 to 15.4 months. Quality of life and symptom relief were rarely reported. All studies discussed adverse effects.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 10b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of gemcitabine for treatment of biliary tract cancer. Only DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons and USP-DI explicitly stated an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN discussed the use of gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer, but did not explicitly state whether the agent is indicated for biliary tract cancer. NCCN did not report on toxicities due to gemcitabine. All the compendia, regardless of whether they discussed biliary tract cancer, discussed toxicities related to gemcitabine use in cancer patients; however, none discussed gemcitabine-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for biliary tract cancer.

^a Case report or retrospective review or unclear.

^b Not considered further.

Table 10b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	No	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	-	NR for this indication (available for only gallbladder cancer)	NR	NR	Accepted
Stage of cancers	-	-	"Biliary tract cancer"	"Biliary cancer"	"Cholangiocarcino ma and gallbladder cancer"	"Locally advanced, unresectable, or metastatic biliary tract and gallbladder"
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	-	NR	NR	Other	NR
Routes of administration	-	-	Intravenous	Intravenous	Intravenous	Intravenous
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	-	NR	NR	Combination	NR
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	-	No	No	No	No
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	-	NR	NR	NR	NR
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: By organ: Frequency:	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off- label use	-	-	No	No	No	No
Number of evidence citations	-	-	3 (+12) ^a	0	2	31
Range of years of citations	-	-	1998-2002		2001; 2004	1993-2002
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published	-	-	Abstracts Published articles		Published article Book update	Abstracts Published articles

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
articles)			Reviews			Reviews Package insert
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	-	5 [2000-2001] (excluding one incorrect citation)		0	13 [1993-2001]
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	-	6 published articles [1999-2001] 3 Reviews [2000] 1 Reviewer consen sus ballot [2002]		1 published article [2001] 1 book update [2004]	16 published articles [1998-2001] 1 Review [2002] 1 package insert
Date of last update	12/8/2005	11/9/2005	2006	2005	2006	9/14/2005

^a Three articles cited; 12 additional articles included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only DRUGDEX and USP-DI provided an extensive list of references, which included primary peer-reviewed articles, abstracts, review articles, and the package insert for gemcitabine. DRUGDEX included only studies that were published prior to 2002 even though their latest update was in 2006. However, only two references were cited in the text for the off-label indication and one other for toxicity; the remainder were not cited but were simply included in the bibliography. USP-DI included four of the five studies found by the EPC's evidence review that were published in 2001 or earlier (the apparent time range of the USP-DI review). Several publications that did not meet the EPC eligibility criteria were referenced, including package inserts, review articles, a book update, and non-English language publications. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 10c.

Table 10c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Phase III								
(none)			_					
Phase II								
Alberts, 2005 ¹⁸⁴	X							
Cho, 2005 ¹⁸⁵	X							
Gelibter, 2005 ¹⁸⁶	X							
Knox, 2005 ¹⁸⁷	X							
Park, 2005 ¹⁸⁸	X							
Thongprasert, 2005 ¹⁸⁹	Χ							
Andre. 2004 ¹⁹⁰	Х							
Doval, 2004 ¹⁸³	Х							
Eng. 2004 ¹⁹¹	Х							
Hsu. 2004 ¹⁹²	Х							
Kornek, 2004 ¹⁸¹	X							
Tsavaris, 2004 ¹⁹³	X							
Lin, 2003 ¹⁹⁴	X							
Malik, 2003 ¹⁹⁵	X							
Murad, 2003 ¹⁹⁶	X							
Kuhn, 2002 ¹⁹⁷	X							
Gallardo, 2001 ¹⁹⁸	X							
Gebbia, 2001 ¹⁸²	X			*			Х	
Kubicka, 2001 ¹⁹⁹	X			*		Х	X	
Penz, 2001	X			*		^	X	
Raderer, 1999 ²⁰¹	X			*			X	Same
Valencak, 1999 ²⁰²	X			*			X	study
Mezger, 1998 ²⁰³	X			x			X	Study
Phase I/II	^			^				
(none)								
Phase I								
Eckel, 2002 ²⁰⁴								Mixed
LCREI, 2002							Х	popula-
							^	tion
Zanon, 2000 ²⁰⁵	v						v	uon
Other	Х						Х	
Knox, 2004 ²⁰⁶	v							
Price, 2001 ²⁰⁷	Х						v	Review
Bokemeyer, 2000 ²⁰⁸							X	German
College 2000 ²⁰⁹							X	
Gallardo, 2000 ²⁰⁹	.,						X	Spanish ^a
Teufel, 2000 ²¹⁰	Х			*			Х	
Verderame, 2000 ²¹¹	Х						Х	
Castro, 1998 ²¹²	Χ			X			Х	

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Gallardo, 1998 ²¹³ Hejna, 1998 ²¹⁴	Х			х			X X	Review
No. of Abstracts	4			5			14 ^b	
Abstract Years	04-05			01-02			93-01	

^a Reference incorrect in USP-DI.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. DRUGDEX notes that the recommended agent's use in biliary tract cancer does not imply that it has been approved for labeled use by FDA. No other discussion of biliary tract cancer is made.

Facts & Comparisons notes that gemcitabine has an "Unlabeled use" for biliary tract cancer. No other discussion of biliary tract cancer is made. The on-line compendium does not include references.

NCCN discusses gemcitabine in its section on hepatobiliary cancers. Gemcitabine is offered as an option for primary treatment of gallbladder cancer that is either metastatic or unresectable, and for primary treatment of symptomatic, unresectable, or metastatic intrahepatic or extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. NCCN grades both recommendations as category 2A: "There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate." However, only a single primary study specific to gemcitabine is referenced in the guideline.

USP-DI included biliary tract cancers in its list of cancers for which treatment is "Accepted." The compendium specifies that it be indicated for specific tumor stages, as noted in Table 10b. Regarding dose, the compendium states, "Because several doses and regimens using gemcitabine are showing activity, no individual dose/regimen is listed." No mention is made regarding whether gemcitabine is indicated for first line treatment or as monotherapy or in combination therapy. The effectiveness of the treatment is also not quantified. Notably, several of the references cited have errors regarding journal or page numbers.

Summary. Listings of gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Four of the six compendia (DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, NCCN, and USP-DI) discuss gemcitabine for treatment of biliary tract cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication, those compendia that discuss the off-label use of gemcitabine in biliary tract cancer use different ad hoc nomenclatures (e.g., Facts & Comparisons uses "biliary cancer"; and USP-DI uses "locally advanced, unresectable, or metastatic biliary tract and gallbladder") instead of using a standardized classification (such as WHO staging of cancers). Only NCCN describes which combinations of treatments are indicated, and none of the compendia describes the doses. In addition, none of the compendia quantifies the effects of treatment with gemcitabine.
- Evidence rating: No compendium provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label indication of gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer, although NCCN uses an overall evidence rating of "lower evidence, including clinical experience" in its section on hepatobiliary cancers. Only DRUGDEX and USP-DI include extensive references, but

^b Several references were abstracts, but were not cited as such.

^{*} Non-cited references.

- these are reported only as lists of the available evidence.
- Recommendation statements: Only NCCN uses evidence rating for the off-label indication. It makes a weak recommendation, "options include," based on lower level evidence. USP-DI lists the off-label use under the "Accepted" category and makes a weak recommendation, "indicated." USP-DI also mentions the off-label use through passive discussion using cited references. DRUGDEX and Facts & Comparisons make no further mention on the off-label use of gemcitabine in biliary tract cancer.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to gemcitabine are reported in most of the compendia, but none notes toxicities specifically in patients with biliary tract cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI is silent about the off-label indication. It does not include biliary cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. There is no published Phase III study of gemcitabine in biliary cancer, thus the compendium adheres to its stated methodology which emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and in its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. It categorizes the off-label indication of gemcitabine for biliary tract cancer as "Accepted" despite a lack of Phase III studies, and cites several Phase II studies and reviews. It does not cite any of the post-2001 Phase II studies identified in the EPC review, although the date of the last update was 9/14/05.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, but it does not include biliary tract cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only studies published before 2001, although the last update was in 2006.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes biliary cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite any of the Phase II studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was in 2005, but data from 1998-2005 are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for gemcitabine in biliary cancer as per the guideline, although this is not explicitly stated. The last update was in 2006, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it does not include biliary cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite any of the Phase I or II studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was on 11/09/05, but data from 1998-2005 are not cited.

Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Bladder Cancer

As stated above, gemcitabine is a nucleoside analog with therapeutic indications for treatment of metastatic breast cancer (in combination with paclitaxel) after failure of prior anthracycline-containing adjuvant chemotherapy; treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (in combination with cisplatin); and treatment of locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer previously treated with 5-FUl. Gemcitabine is also used off-label for treatment of various other cancers including advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 134 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 61 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 11a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 9) reports details from each of the 46 articles and 15 abstracts. The literature includes one peer-reviewed Phase III article (RCT), 28 peer-reviewed Phase II trials (one RCT, one non-randomized comparative trial, and the remainder cohort studies), two Phase I/II trials, 12 Phase I trials, and three retrospective trials. The peer-reviewed studies included a total of 2484 subjects with bladder cancer who received gemcitabine. The majority of the studies reported tumor response outcomes, survival data, and adverse effects; only a handful reported data on QoL and symptom outcomes.

Table 11a: Study types and outcomes reported - gemcitabine for bladder cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outcomes Reported					
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs		
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	46	2484	1994-2005	39	35	4	10	42		
Phase III	1 (2%)	203 (8%)	2000	1	1	1	1	1		
Phase II	28 (61%)	1034 (42%)	1997-2005	27	25	1	7	28		
Phase I/II	2 (4%)	88 (4%)	2002-2004	1	2	-	-	1		
Phase I	12´ (26%)	293 (12%)	1994-2004	9	5	-	-	12		
Other ^a	3 (7%)	866 (35%)	2002-5	1	2	2	2			
Abstracts ^b	15	597	2004-5	15	8	-	-	15		

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. There was one Phase III RCT²¹⁵ evaluating the use of gemcitabine chemotherapy for bladder cancer. This trial was published in 2000 and compared first line therapy of gemcitabine (1000 mg/m²) and cisplatin combination regimen to standard treatment of MVAC. The study included patients with stage IV TCC, and concluded that both treatments had similar survival and tumor response rates. Gemcitabine was more tolerable, less

^aCase report or retrospective trials.

^b Not considered further.

toxic, and safer than the MVAC regimen. The 5-year followup of the same study²¹⁶ reported similar long-term overall survival rates. The study advanced the role of gemcitabine as standard care in patients with locally advanced or metastatic TCC.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. There were two comparative Phase II trials. The first trial²¹⁷ used gemcitabine in combination regimens with carboplatin and showed improved outcomes. The other was a randomized Phase II trial²¹⁸ that used paclitaxel in combination with gemcitabine and cisplatin, and compared outcomes with the gemcitabine-cisplatin regimen. The study concluded that the addition of paclitaxel to the gemcitabine-cisplatin combination regimen increased toxicity among elderly patients 70 years and above.

There were 26 Phase II trials that evaluated gemcitabine use. The majority of the patients had advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer. Nineteen of the trials described patients who were either chemonaïve or for whom gemcitabine was first line therapy. Doses of gemcitabine used ranged from 750 to 3000 mg/m²; the majority of the trials used 1000 mg/m². Six trials evaluated gemcitabine as monotherapy. The combination therapy was used in 20 trials that included cisplatin, carboplatin, paclitaxel, docetaxel, vinorelbine, epirubicin, and epidoxorubicin. Tumor response was reported in 27 trials; the greatest complete response rate (32 percent) was found in a study of 49 patients that used 800 mg/m² of gemcitabine in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin. Partial response rates ranged from 9 to 47 percent; stable disease ranged from 9 to 42 percent, and disease progression ranged from 3 to 55 percent. The overall one-year survival rates in seven studies that reported this outcome ranged from 26 to 60 percent. Almost all studies reported median overall survival duration that ranged from 5 to 21 months. Quality of life was reported in one study, and seven studies reported symptom relief.

Peer-reviewed Phase I/II and I trials. There were two Phase I/II trials, and 12 Phase I trials that evaluated gemcitabine use. The majority of the patients had advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer. Seven trials described patients who were either chemonaïve or for whom gemcitabine was first line therapy. Doses of gemcitabine used ranged from 10 to 2500 mg/m²; six trials used doses higher than 1000 mg/m². Only three trials evaluated gemcitabine as monotherapy. The combination therapy was used in 11 trials that included cisplatin, carboplatin, oxaliplatin, paclitaxel, docetaxel, and ifosfamide. Tumor response was reported in 10 trials; the greatest complete response rate (28 percent) was found in a study of 41 patients that used 2500 mg/m² of gemcitabine in combination with paclitaxel. Partial response rates were reported in three trials and ranged from 24 to 53 percent; stable disease was reported in one Phase I/II trial as 19 percent; and disease progression from the same trial was three percent. The overall 1-year survival rates in three studies that reported this outcome ranged from 65 to 100 percent. Virtually all studies reported median overall survival duration that ranged from 5 to 21 months. Quality of life was reported in one study, and no studies reported symptom relief.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 11b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of gemcitabine for treatment of bladder cancer. All but one compendia explicitly stated bladder cancer as an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN discussed the use of gemcitabine for advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer, but did not explicitly state whether the agent is indicated as an off-label use. NCCN did not report on toxicities due to gemcitabine. All the compendia discussed toxicities associated with gemcitabine chemotherapy, including severity of adverse effects, and which organs were affected. Only Clinical

Pharmacology discussed frequency of adverse effects; AHFS-DI, Clinical Pharmacology, and DRUGDEX reported gemcitabine-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer. AHFS-DI and Facts & Comparisons did not explicitly discuss the dose indicated for the off-label use of gemcitabine for bladder cancer.

Table 11b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for bladder cancer

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	NR	NR	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence favors efficacy Recommendation: Adult, Class IIb Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	NR	Category 2A – lower level evidence and uniform consensus that the recommendation is appropriate "Considered" for gemcitabine + cisplatin "Investigational" for gemcitabine + paclitaxel	Accepted
Stage of cancers	"Advanced or metastatic cancer"	"Locally advanced or metastatic bladder cancer"	"Transitional cell carcinoma of bladder"	NR	"Locally advanced disease or limited metastatic recurrence"	"Metastatic bladder (urothelial) cancer"
Method of treatment (first line or other)	Other	NR	NR	NR	First line for gemcitabine + cisplatin Other for gemcitabine + paclitaxel	NR
Routes of administration	Intravenous	NR	Intravenous	IV	Intravenous	Intravenous
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	Monotherapy and combination	Combination	Combination	NR	Combination	NR
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	Yes Standard treatment	Yes Standard treatment	Yes Standard treatment	No	Yes	No
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, adverse effects)	Median time to progressive disease Complete response rate Partial response	Survival time Time to disease progression Time to treatment failure Response ratio	Overall Survival Time to disease progression Time to treatment failure Response ratio	NR	Survival response for gemcitabine + cisplatin Relapse or Noncomplete response as an	Complete response Partial response

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
	rate Symptomatic improvement	compared with standard treatment	compared with standard treatment		indication for gemcitabine + paclitaxel	
Toxicity of the agents	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: By organ: Frequency:	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No
Dose indicated for the off-label use (yes/no)	Not explicitly	Yes	Yes	No	Yes for gemcitabine + cisplatin No for gemcitabine + paclitaxel	Yes
Number of evidence citations	8	1	2 (+1) ^a	0	2 for gemcitabine + cisplatin 0 for gemcitabine + paclitaxel	6
Range of years of citations	1994-2000	2000	1994-2000		2000	1994-1998
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	Abstracts Published journal articles Reviews	Published journal article	Abstracts Published journal articles		Published journal articles	Abstracts Published journal articles Panel responses Package insert
Number of abstracts cited [years]	1 [1996]	0	1 [1995]		0	1 [1995]
Number of published articles cited [years]	5 journal articles [1994-2000] 2 reviews [2000; 1 NR]	1 journal article for Gemcitabine + cisplatin [2000]	1 journal article for Gemcitabine + cisplatin [2000] 1 Phase I trial [1994]		2 journal articles for gemcitabine + cisplatin [2000]	3 journal articles [1994-1997] 1 panel responses to ballot [1998] 1 package insert Lily-U.S. [1996; 1998]
Date of last update	12/8/2005	11/9/2005	2006	2005	2006	9/14/2005

^a One abstract and one article cited; one additional article included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Among the compendia that reported off-label use of gemcitabine for treatment of advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer, only one (Facts & Comparisons) did not provide any reference lists. The other five provided up to eight references, which included primary peer-reviewed articles, abstracts, review articles, and the package insert for gemcitabine. For the peer-reviewed articles, AHFS-DI included five, Clinical Pharmacology included one, DRUGDEX included two, NCCN included one, and USP-DI included three of the 43 studies found by the EPC's evidence review that were published between 1994 and 2004. There was only one 215 common Phase III trial referenced across the four compendia – AHFS-DI, DRUGDEX, NCCN, and Clinical Pharmacology. Several publications that did not meet the EPC eligibility criteria were referenced, including package inserts and review articles. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 11c.

Table 11c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - gemcitabine for bladder cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Phase III								
von der Maase, 2005 ²¹⁶	Χ							
von der Maase, 2000 ²¹⁵	Х	X	Х	X		X		
Phase II								
Ardavanis, 2005 ²²¹	Χ							
Artz, 2005 ²²²	Χ							
Hainsworth, 2005 ²²³	Χ							
Li, 2005 ²²⁴	Χ							
Lorusso, 2005 ²¹⁸	Χ							
Srinivas, 2005 ²²⁵	Х							
Castagneto, 2004 ²²⁶	Χ							
Hoshi, 2004 ²¹⁷	Χ							
Kaufman, 2004 ²²⁷	Х							
Linardou, 2004 ²²⁸	X							
Gitlitz, 2003 ²²⁹	Х							
Mallick, 2003 ²³⁰	Х							
Turkolmez, 2003 ²³¹	X							
Albers, 2002 ²³²	Х							
Neri, 2002 ²³³	Х							
Pectasides, 2002 ²³⁴	Х							
Ricci, 2002 ²³⁵	Х							
Hussain, 2001 ²¹⁹	X							
Meluch, 2001 ²³⁶	Х							
Carles, 2000 ²³⁷	Х							
Delord, 2000 ²³⁸	Х							
Khaled, 2000 ²³⁹	Х							
Lorusso, 2000 ²⁴⁰	Χ					X		
Moore, 1999 ²⁴¹	Х							
Lorusso, 1998 ²⁴²	X							
Moore, 1997 ²⁴³	Х	X					X	
Stadler, 1997 ²⁴⁴	Х	Х					Χ	
Phase I/II								
Hussain, 2004 ²⁴⁵	Х							
Bellmunt, 2002 ²⁴⁶	Х							
Phase I	·							
Sangar, 2005 ²⁴⁷	X							
Herman, 2004 ²⁴⁸	X							
Kent, 2004 ²⁴⁹	X							
Caffo, 2003 ²⁵⁰	X							
Culine, 2003 ²⁵¹	X							

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:		Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
DiPaola, 2003 ²⁵²	Х							
Meliani, 2003 ²⁵³	Х							
Bellmunt, 2001 ²⁵⁴	Х							
Bhargava, 2001 ²⁵⁵	Х							
Millikan, 2001 ²⁵⁶	Х							
Sternberg, 2001 ²²⁰	Х							
Pollera, 1994 ²⁵⁷	Х	X		*			х	
Other								
Bamias, 2005 ²⁵⁸	Х							
Roychowdhury, 2003 ²⁵⁹ Stadler, 2002 ²⁶⁰	Х							
Stadler, 2002 ²⁶⁰	Х							
Anonymous, 2000 ²⁶¹		X						Review
Roth, 1996 ²⁶²		X						Review
No. of Abstracts	15	1	0	1	0	0	1	
Abstract Years	04-05	96		95			95	

^{*} Non-cited reference.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. AHFS-DI states that "gemcitabine is an active agent that is used alone or in combination therapy for the treatment of advanced or metastatic bladder cancer" among its list of off-label uses in cancer. No explicit mention is made regarding the indicated dose and line of treatment. The effectiveness of the treatment is discussed and compared with standard treatment for the cancer. The compendium does not explicitly make any recommendation on the off-label use of gemcitabine in bladder cancer.

Clinical Pharmacology describes one Phase III trial that used gemcitabine for an off-label and post-first line use in combination regimen "for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic bladder cancer." The dose and effectiveness of the treatment used data from the cited study.

DRUGDEX reports combination therapy use of gemcitabine in "transitional cell carcinoma of bladder" and discusses one Phase III trial to support the indicated off-label use. The compendium indicates gemcitabine use as combination therapy; no mention is made regarding whether gemcitabine is indicated for first line or post-first line treatment. It specifies that the "evidence favors efficacy" for the indicated use.

Facts & Comparisons notes that gemcitabine has an "unlabeled use" for "bladder cancer." No other discussion of gemcitabine use in bladder cancer is made. The on-line compendium does not include references.

NCCN discusses gemcitabine in its section on bladder cancers. The combination therapy of gemcitabine-cisplatin is "considered" as "standard first line choice" for most patients with recurrent metastatic or locally advanced bladder cancer, and the combination therapy of gemcitabine-paclitaxel is "considered" as "investigational." It grades both recommendations as category 2A: "There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate." The compendium "advises" gemcitabine for salvage therapy and for use as monotherapy among patients who do not tolerate a cisplatin-based regimen. Regarding dose, the compendium mentions 1000 mg/m² once a week for 4 weeks. The effectiveness of the treatment is discussed for both combination regimens and two primary studies specific to gemcitabine use are cited.

USP-DI includes "metastatic bladder (urothelial) carcinoma" among its list of cancers for which the modality of treatment with gemcitabine is "accepted." Regarding dose, the

compendium recommends 1000 to 1200 mg/m² once a week for 3 weeks. The compendium does not indicate gemcitabine use as monotherapy or combination therapy; no mention is made regarding whether gemcitabine is indicated for first line or post-first line treatment. The effectiveness of the treatment is discussed for tumor response rates. No evidence rating for the indicated use is reported, whereas the rating was used in ovarian cancer.

Summary. Listings of gemcitabine for bladder cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* All six compendia discuss gemcitabine for treatment of advanced and/or metastatic bladder cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication, the compendia use different ad hoc nomenclatures (e.g., AHFS-DI uses "advanced or metastatic bladder cancer," and NCCN uses "locally advanced disease or limited metastatic recurrence") instead of using a standardized classification (such as WHO staging of cancers). Only NCCN describes explicitly which combinations and modalities of treatments are indicated. Only three of the compendia (DRUGDEX, NCCN, and USP-DI) describe doses. In addition, the quantification of the effectiveness of treatment with gemcitabine varied across the compendia.
- Evidence rating: Only two compendia (DRUGDEX and NCCN) provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label use of gemcitabine for bladder cancer; NCCN, however, uses an overall evidence rating as "lower level evidence, including clinical experience" in its section on bladder cancers. No compendium cites trials published after 2000, and only four (AHFS-DI, Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, and NCCN) cite the Phase III trial published in 2000.
- Recommendation statement: DRUGDEX makes a recommendation rating of class IIb, "treatment may be useful and is indicated in some, but not most cases," based on the strength of evidence category B, for the off-label use. NCCN makes a weak recommendation i.e., "consider" and "advise" based on lower level evidence. AHFS-DI, USP-DI, and Clinical Pharmacology mention the off-label use through passive discussion using cited references. Only Facts & Comparisons does not describe details regarding the off-label use of gemcitabine in bladder cancer.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to gemcitabine are reported in most of the compendia, and AHFS-DI, Clinical Pharmacology, and DRUGDEX note toxicities specifically in patients with bladder cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it includes bladder cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite the published Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 12/8/05, but 2005 data, including the Phase III study, are not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include bladder cancer

as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff; it does not cite the Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 9/14/05, but data published in 2000 and 2005 are not cited.

- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include bladder cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only an old narrative review and does not cite the Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 2006, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes bladder cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the several clinical trials identified in the EPC review that meet these criteria, including two Phase III studies. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. As per the guideline, there is not an explicit mention of an off-label indication for gemcitabine in bladder cancer. Instead, the NCCN documents use the terms "considered" for gemcitabine plus cisplatin, and "investigational" for gemcitabine plus paclitaxel. The last update was in 2006, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes bladder cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite several trials identified in the EPC review, including one of two Phase III studies. The last update was 11/9/05, but early 2005 data are not cited.

Gemcitabine (Gemzar®) for Ovarian Cancer

As stated above, gemcitabine is a nucleoside analog with therapeutic indications for treatment of metastatic breast cancer (in combination with paclitaxel) after failure of prior anthracycline-containing adjuvant chemotherapy; treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC (in combination with cisplatin); and treatment of locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer previously treated with 5-FU. Gemcitabine is also used off-label for treatment of various other cancers including advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 414 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 48 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 12a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 10) reports details from each of the 42 articles and six abstracts. The literature includes two peer-reviewed Phase III articles (both randomized controlled trials), 21 peer-reviewed Phase II trials (all cohort studies), three Phase I/II trials, and 10 Phase I trials. The peer-reviewed studies included a total of 1948 subjects with ovarian cancer who received gemcitabine. All studies reported tumor response outcomes and adverse effects; almost all reported survival data. Only two Phase III trials and three Phase II trials reported quality-of-life

data and only two (both Phase III trials) reported data on symptom outcomes.

Table 12a: Study types and outcomes reported - gemcitabine for ovarian cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	omes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	42	1948	1998-2006	42	29	5	2	39
Phase III	2 (5%)	266 (14%)	2005-2006	2	2	2	2	2
Phase II	22 (52%)	986 (51%)	1994-2005	22	17	3	-	21
Phase I	13 (31%)	345 (18%)	1994-2004	13	7	-	-	13
Other	5 (12%)	351 (18%)	1997-2004	5	3	-	-	3
Abstracts ^a	6	129	2004-2005	6	5	-	-	6

Abbreviations: $AEs = adverse \ effects$; No. = number; $QoL = quality \ of \ life$; Sx = symptoms; $TR = tumor \ response$.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. There were two Phase III RCTs evaluating the use of gemcitabine chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. The first Phase III trial²⁶³ was published in 2005 and compared post-first line therapy of gemcitabine (1000 mg/m² in combination with carboplatin) to the alternative monotherapy of carboplatin. The study included patients with all stages of ovarian cancers including advanced ovarian cancer. The study concluded that gemcitabine in combination had better progression-free survival, higher response rate, improved symptoms with improved QoL, and an acceptable level of hematological toxicity compared to carboplatin monotherapy. The second study was a multicenter trial from Europe published in early 2006 that compared the sequential schedule of single-agent carboplatin followed by docetaxel only *vs* a docetaxel-gemcitabine combination as first line therapy. The study used different dosages (850 to 1250 mg/m²) of gemcitabine in two of the three arms in combination with docetaxel. This study had higher rates of dyspnea in gemcitabine arms and failed feasibility completion rates.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. There were 22 Phase II trials (all cohort studies) that evaluated gemcitabine. The majority of the trials included patients with advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer. Five of the trials described patients who were either chemonaïve or for whom gemcitabine was first line therapy. Doses of gemcitabine ranged from 800 to 1250 mg/m²; eight studies used 800 mg/m² and eight used 1000 mg/m². Eight trials evaluated gemcitabine as monotherapy. Combination therapy was used in 14 trials and included cisplatin, carboplatin, paclitaxel, doxorubicin, and topotecan. Tumor response was reported in 21 trials; the greatest complete response rate (60 percent) was found in a study of 20 patients that used 800 mg/m² of gemcitabine in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin. ²⁶⁴ Partial response rates ranged from 5 to 50 percent; stable disease ranged from 3 to 52 percent; and disease progression ranged from 0 to 50 percent. The overall 1-year survival rates ranged from 40 to 81 percent in seven studies that reported. Median overall survival ranged from 6 to 44 months. QoL was reported in three studies, and no studies reported symptom relief.

Peer-reviewed Phase I/II or I trials. There were 13 Phase I/II trials or Phase I trials that evaluated gemcitabine use in advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer. Three of the trials described patients who were either chemonaïve or for whom gemcitabine was first line therapy.

^a Not considered further.

Doses of gemcitabine ranged from 200 to 1250 mg/m²; eight studies used 800 mg/m² and eight used 1000 mg/m². Only one trial evaluated gemcitabine as monotherapy. Combination therapy was used in 14 trials and included cisplatin, carboplatin, paclitaxel, docetaxel, doxorubicin, rubitecan, and topotecan. Tumor response was reported in 12 trials; the greatest complete response rate (85 percent) was found in a study of 57 patients that used 800 mg/m² of gemcitabine in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin. Partial response rates ranged from 6 to 41 percent; stable disease ranged from 6 to 38 percent; and disease progression ranged from 6 to 57 percent. The overall 1-year survival rates ranged from 61 to 92 percent in two studies that reported the data. Median overall survival ranged from 6 to 44 months. No studies reported QoL or symptom relief.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 12b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of gemcitabine for treatment of advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer. Only AHFS-DI, Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and USP-DI explicitly stated an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN discussed the use of gemcitabine for advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer but did not explicitly state whether the agent is indicated as an off-label use. NCCN did not report on toxicities due to gemcitabine. All other compendia discussed toxicities associated with gemcitabine chemotherapy, including severity of adverse effects, and which organs were affected; however, only Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, and Facts & Comparisons state the frequency of adverse effects and gemcitabine-related toxicities specifically among patients treated for advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer. Only USP-DI indicated the dose for the off-label use of gemcitabine for this cancer.

Table 12b: Summary of compendia listings – gemcitabine for ovarian cancer

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Unclear	Yes ^a
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	Investigational	NR	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	NR	Accepted	Accepted
Stage of cancers	"Advanced epithelial ovarian cancer"	"Ovarian cancer"	"Ovarian cancer"	"Ovarian cancer"	"Recurrent ovarian cancer"	"Advanced or relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma"
Method of treatment (first line or other)	Other	Other	Other	NR	Other	Unclear
Routes of administration	Intravenous	Intravenous	Intravenous	Intravenous	NR	Intravenous
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	Monotherapy	Combination	Monotherapy or combination with other agents	NR	Combination	Monotherapy or combination with other agents
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	No	No	No	No	No	No
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	Objective responses	Complete responses Partial responses Median survival Median progression-free survival	Response rate	NR	Response rate	NR
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: No By organ: No Frequency: No	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: No
Dose indicated for the off- label use	No	"Not established"	Yes	No	No	Yes
Number of evidence citations	6	4	3 (+1) ^b	0	2	13
Range of years of	1994-2001	2003-2004	1996-2000		1994; 2005	1994-1999

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
citations						
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	Published articles Review Cancer database	Published articles	Published articles Abstracts Review		Published articles	Published articles Package insert Abstracts Review Manufacturer's comment
Number of abstracts cited [years]	0	0	1 [1996]		0	6 [1998-1999]
Number of published articles cited [years]	4 published articles [1994- 1999] 1 Review [2000] 1Cancer database [2001]	4 published articles [2003- 2004]	3 reviews [1997- 2000]		2 published articles [1994; 2005]	4 published articles [1994- 1998] 1 package insert [1996-1998] Abstracts [1998- 1999] Review [1999] Manufacturer's comment [1999]
Date of last update	12/8/2005	11/9/2005	2006	2005	2006	9/14/2005

 ^a Evidence rating IIID
 ^b Three articles cited; one additional review article included in the reference list.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Among all compendia that reported the off-label use of gemcitabine for treatment of advanced and/or metastatic ovarian cancer, only Facts & Comparisons did not provide any reference lists. The other five compendia provided up to 13 references, which included primary peer-reviewed articles, abstracts, review articles, and the package insert for gemcitabine. For the peer-reviewed articles, AHFS-DI included four, Clinical Pharmacology included three, DRUGDEX included two, NCCN included one, and USP-DI included three of the 42 studies found by the EPC's evidence review that were published between 1994 and 2004, with only one common reference across the three compendia (AHFS-DI, NCCN, and USP-DI). Several publications that did not meet the EPC eligibility criteria were referenced, including package inserts, review articles, and database review. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 12c.

Table 12c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - gemcitabine for ovarian cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Phase III								
Vasey, 2006 ²⁶⁷	Χ							
Pfisterer, 2005 ²⁶³	Χ							
Phase II								
du Bois, 2005 ²⁶⁸	Χ							
Ferrandina, 2005 ²⁶⁹	Χ							
Gupta, 2005 ²⁷⁰	Χ							
Kose, 2005 ²⁷¹	Х							
Garcia, 2004 ²⁷²	Χ							
Harries, 2004 ²⁷³	Х							
Liu, 2004 ²⁶⁴	Х							
Papadimitriou, 2004 ²⁷⁴	Х							
Bauknecht, 2003 ²⁷⁵	Х							
Belpomme, 2003 ²⁷⁶	Х		Х					
D'Agostino, 2003 ²⁷⁷	Х							
D'Agostino, 2003 ²⁷⁸	Х		Χ					
Markman, 2003 ²⁷⁹	Х							
Nagourney, 2003 ²⁸⁰	Х							
Nogue, 2002 ²⁸¹	Х							
Sehouli, 2002 ²⁸²	Х							
Underhill, 2001 ²⁸³	Х							
Silver, 1999 ²⁸⁴	Х							
von Minckwitz, 1999 ²⁸⁵	Х	Х						
Friedlander, 1998 ²⁸⁶	Х	Χ					X	
Lund, 1995 ²⁸⁷	Х							
Lund, 1994 ²⁶⁶	Х	Х				Х	Х	
Phase I/II								
Barlow, 2004 ²⁸⁸	Х							
Sabbatini, 2004 ²⁸⁹	X							
Greggi, 2001 ²⁹⁰	Х							
Phase I								
Look, 2004 ²⁹¹	Х							
Micha, 2004 ²⁶⁵	Х							
Berkenblit, 2003 ¹⁴¹	X							
Sehouli, 2003 ²⁹²	X							
D'Agostino, 2002 ²⁹³								
Fracasso, 2002 ²⁹⁴	Х							
du Bois. 2001 ²⁹⁵	X							
laffaioli, 2000 ²⁹⁶	Х							
Pignata, 2000 ²⁹⁷	Х							

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
Shapiro, 1996 ²⁹⁸	Х	Х					Х	
Other								
Rose, 2005 ²⁹⁹						X		Review
Geisler, 2004 ³⁰⁰	Х		X					
Markman, 2004 ¹²³	Х							
Prasad, 2004 ³⁰¹	Х							
Tewari, 2004 ³⁰²	Х							
Villella, 2004 ³⁰³	Х							
Bilgin, 2003 ³⁰⁴			X					Not available
CancerNet/PDQ, 2001 ³⁰⁵		X						Database
Anonymous, 2000 ²⁶¹		X						Review
Gerson, 2000 ³⁰⁶				*				Review
Eisenhauer, 1997 ³⁰⁷	Х							
Kaufmann, 1997 ³⁰⁸				X				Review
Pedersen, 1997 ³⁰⁹				X				Review
Martin, 1996 ³¹⁰							Х	Review
No. of Abstracts	6	0	0	1	0	0	6	
Abstract Years	04-05			96			98-99	

^{*} Non-cited reference.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. AHFS-DI states that "gemcitabine is an active agent in ovarian cancer and currently is being investigated for use in the treatment of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer." The compendium cites Phase II trials for gemcitabine use as monotherapy and for post-first line treatment; no mention is made regarding the indicated dose. The effectiveness of the treatment is discussed, and the compendium identifies the need for further studies to establish the role of gemcitabine in ovarian cancer treatment.

Clinical Pharmacology evaluates gemcitabine use for off-label and post-first line use in ovarian cancer. The compendium discusses gemcitabine use in combination therapy for the treatment of ovarian cancer, with dose for the treatment as "not established." The effectiveness of the treatment is discussed from cited studies.

DRUGDEX includes "ovarian cancer" among its list of cancers for the off-label use of gemcitabine. It specifies that the "evidence for efficacy is inconclusive" for the indicated use. While the compendium indicates gemcitabine use as monotherapy or in combination therapy, no mention is made regarding the indicated dose and whether gemcitabine is used for first line or post-first line treatment.

Facts & Comparisons notes gemcitabine as an "Unlabeled use" for the treatment of "ovarian cancer." No other discussion of gemcitabine use in ovarian cancer is made. The on-line compendium does not include references.

NCCN discusses gemcitabine use in its section on ovarian cancers. It is offered as an "acceptable" modality for treatment of recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer that is either platinum-sensitive or resistant. It grades both recommendations as category 2A: "There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate." The effectiveness of the treatment cited a response rate of 19 percent from a single primary study specific to gemcitabine use.

USP-DI included "advanced and/or relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma" among its list of cancers for which the use of gemcitabine is "Accepted." It specifies the indicated use as "reasonable medical therapy at some point in the management of patients with advanced or relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma." Regarding dose, the compendium describes 800 to 1250

mg/m² once a week for 2 or 3 weeks. While the compendium indicates gemcitabine use as monotherapy or in combination therapy, no mention is made regarding whether gemcitabine is used for first line or post-first line treatment. The effectiveness of the treatment is also not discussed. Notably, the evidence rating for the indicated use is IIID.

Summary. Listings of gemcitabine for ovarian cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* All six compendia discuss gemcitabine for treatment of advanced and/or metastatic epithelial ovarian cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: To describe the cancer indication for which the agent is indicated as an off-label use, the compendia that discuss gemcitabine use different ad hoc nomenclatures rather than a standardized classification (such as WHO staging of cancers). Only DRUGDEX, NCCN, and Clinical Pharmacology describe which combinations of treatments are indicated, and only USP-DI describes appropriate doses. In addition, the description of the effectiveness of treatment with gemcitabine varies across the compendia.
- Evidence rating: Only two compendia (DRUGDEX and USP-DI) provide explicit evidence ratings for the off-label use of gemcitabine for ovarian cancer. DRUGDEX rates the evidence as category B, while USP-DI rates it as IIID. Only USP-DI lists more than 10 references.
- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX makes a class III recommendation,
 "treatment is not useful and should be avoided," for the off-label indication. NCCN uses
 an evidence rating for the off-label indication and makes a weak recommendation,
 "options," based on lower level evidence. AHFS-DI and Clinical Pharmacology mention
 the off-label use through passive discussion using cited references. Facts & Comparisons
 does not describe in any detail the off-label use of gemcitabine in ovarian cancer.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to gemcitabine are reported in most of the compendia, but only DRUGDEX and Clinical Pharmacology note toxicities specifically in patients with ovarian cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it includes ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies, but does not cite the 2005 Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 12/08/05, but 2005 data, including the Phase III study, are not cited.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. It does not cite the 2005 Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The last update was 9/14/05, but the Phase III study published earlier that year is not cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include ovarian

cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only old narrative reviews and does not cite the 2005 Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 2006, but 2005 data are not cited.

- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2005 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is no explicit off-label indication for gemcitabine in ovarian cancer as per the guideline. The last update was in 2006, but 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes ovarian cancer as an off-label indication for gemcitabine. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the one Phase III study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 11/9/05, but early 2005 data are not cited.

Rituximab (Rituxan®) for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Rituximab is a monoclonal antibody with therapeutic indications for treatment of relapsed or refractory low-grade or follicular CD20-positive, B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Rituximab has also been evaluated for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL).

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 164 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 43 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 13a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B (Evidence Table 11) reports details from each of the 33 articles and 10 abstracts. The peer-reviewed literature includes 13 Phase II trials (one randomized and one non-randomized trial); five Phase I/II trials; and six Phase I trials (one non-randomized comparative trial). There were no Phase III trials. The 33 peer-reviewed studies included a total of 974 subjects with CLL who received rituximab. Tumor response, survival, and adverse effects data were reported in at least 85 percent of the trials and case reports. One trial and five case reports included symptom outcomes data, and no studies reported on quality of life.

Table 13a: Study types and outcomes reported - rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia

Ctudy type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	mes Repo	orted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	33	974	1999-2005	30	28		6	29
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase II	13 (39%)	373 ^a (38%)	1999-2005	13	11	-	-	12
Phase I/II	5 (15%)	467 (48%)	2001-2005	5	4	-	1	5
Phase I	5 (15%)	110 (11%)	1999-2004	5	4	-		5
Other ^b	10 (30%)	24 (2%)	1999-2005	7	10	-	5	7
Abstracts ^c	10	212	2004-2005	9	5	-		9

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III trials have been published.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. There were two comparative trials (one randomized) and 11 cohort studies that were peer-reviewed Phase II trials. The randomized trial consisted of concurrent therapies of rituximab and fludarabine *vs* sequential treatment of fludarabine followed by rituximab for patients with no prior treatment for CLL. Both arms had rituximab consolidation therapy, and similar toxicities were reported. The arm with concurrent therapies had an overall response rate of 90 percent. The non-randomized study included 27 patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphomas who were undergoing autologous stem cell transplantation. It was not reported which of the 13 with CLL received rituximab with high-dose chemotherapy or high-dose chemotherapy alone. All studies used the dosage of 375 mg/m². Six of the cohort trials evaluated rituximab as monotherapy. Three trials described patients who were chemonaïve or for whom rituximab was first line therapy, and two trials enrolled patients with a varied history of treatment. In 10 of 13 cohort studies that reported complete response rates, the greatest complete response rate (78 percent) was found in a study of 65 patients. Partial response ranged from 0 to 55 percent; stable disease ranged from 0 to 83 percent; and disease progression ranged from 0 to 32 percent.

Peer-reviewed Phase I/II trials. There were five cohort trials including a three-arm study that were peer-reviewed Phase I/II trials. Four studies reported dosages of 375 mg/m² and two studies reported escalating dosages of rituximab from 125 to 250, and 375 mg/m², and from 375 to 500 mg/m². The three-arm study dosing was 250 or 375 mg/m² with no co-intervention. One of the cohort trials evaluated rituximab as monotherapy. One study enrolled patients who were chemonaïve and another study reported over half of the patients with a prior history of chemotherapy. Complete response was reported in all five trials ranging from less than four to 70 percent in one study of 224 patients. Quality of life and symptom relief were not reported. All studies discussed adverse effects.

Peer-reviewed Phase I trials. There were six peer-reviewed Phase I trials including one non-randomized comparison and one retrospective three-arm cohort. Five of the cohort trials evaluated rituximab as monotherapy. All of the studies except for the retrospective study included patients who had prior chemotherapy and also reported response and survival data.

^a Includes an unknown percentage of 13 patients who received rituximab in one study.

^b Case reports or retrospective case series.

^c Not considered further.

Complete response data was generally not given except in one study and as part of overall response in another. Partial response ranged from 9 to 38 percent. Quality of life and symptom relief were not reported.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 13b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of rituximab for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Three compendia (DRUGDEX, Clinical Pharmacology and USP-DI) explicitly stated CLL as an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN discussed the use of rituximab for CLL and small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL), but did not explicitly state whether the agent is indicated as an off-label use. NCCN did not report on toxicities due to rituximab. All other compendia discussed toxicities associated with rituximab chemotherapy, including severity of adverse effects, and which organs were affected. All compendia, except for NCCN and USP-DI, discussed frequency of adverse effects; AHFS-DI, DRUGDEX, USP-DI, and Facts & Comparisons reported rituximab-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for CLL. Only Clinical Pharmacology discussed the dose indicated for the off-label use of rituximab for CLL.

Table 13b: Summary of compendia listings – rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	No	Unclear	Yes
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	Implies experimental	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence favors efficacy Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	-	NCCN Category 2A ^a	Accepted
Stage of cancers	-	NR	"Chronic lymphoid leukemia"	-	All (categorized by stage)	NR
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	Unclear	First line	-	First line and Second line	1 st line and relapsed/refractory
Routes of administration	-	Intravenous	Intravenous	-	Intravenous	"Consult the medical literature and/or experts"
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	Monotherapy Combination therapy	Combination	-	Combination	Combination (1st line) Unclear (relapsed/refractory)
Comparator discussed	-	No	No	-	No	No
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	Overall response rate Complete response rate	Overall response rate	-	NR	Overall response rate Complete response rate
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes (Death for CLL) Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes (Death for CLL) Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: By organ: Frequency:	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: No By organ: Yes (Death for CLL) Frequency: No
Dose indicated for off-label use	-	Yes	No	-	No	No
Number of evidence citations	1	2	12 (+6) ^b	1 ^c	1	29
Range of years of	2004	2000-2001	1999-2001	2001	2003	1999-2005 ^d

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
citations						
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	Prescribing information	Published article Abstract	Published articles Abstracts Case reports Review articles	Prescribing information	Published article	Published articles Abstracts Case reports Review articles Package insert
Number of abstracts cited[years]	-	1 [2000]	8 [2000-2001]	-	0	9 [2000-2001]
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	1 [2001]	4 (+6 non-cited) [1999-2001]	-	1 [2003]	15 (+4 reviews) [1999-2005]
Date of last update	12/8/2005	7/7/2004	2006	2005	12/19/2005	12/5/2005

 ^a There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate.
 ^b 12 abstracts and articles cited; 6 additional articles included in the reference list.
 ^c For CLL-specific adverse effect.
 ^d Not including Insert

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only DRUGDEX and USP-DI provided an extensive list of references, which included primary peer-reviewed articles, abstracts, case reports, review articles, and the package insert for rituximab. DRUGDEX includes 18 references relevant to the agent's use in CLL but discusses its use from only two citations and toxicities from two other citations. USP-DI includes seven of the 33 studies found in the EPC review that were published between 1999 and 2005. Several publications that did not meet the EPC eligibility criteria were referenced, including package inserts, review articles, and a book update. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 13c.

Table 13c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC – rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	-
Phase III								
(none)								
Phase II								
Del Poeta, 2005 ³¹³	Χ							
Khouri, 2004 ³¹⁵	Χ							
Tsiara, 2004 ³¹⁶	Χ							
Byrd, 2003 ³¹¹	Χ					Х	X	
Hainsworth, 2003 ³¹⁷	Χ							
Tothova, 2003 ³¹²	Χ							
Tsimberidou, 2003 ³¹⁸ Itala, 2002 ³¹⁹	Χ							
Itala, 2002 ³¹⁹	Χ			*				
Schulz, 2002 ³²⁰	Х						X	
Huhn, 2001 ³²¹	Х			*			X	
Hainsworth, 2000 ³²²	Χ							
Ladetto. 2000 ³²³	Х	_		*			x	
Nguyen, 1999 ³²⁴	Х						x	
Phase I/II								
Keating, 2005 ³¹⁴	Х						Х	
Wierda, 2005 ³²⁵	Х							
Weide, 2004 ³²⁶	X							
Savage, 2003 ³²⁷	Х							
Bvrd, 2001 ³²⁸	X	_		X			Х	
Winkler, 1999 ³²⁹	X						X	
Phase I								
Perz, 2002 ³³⁰	Х							
O'Brien, 2001 ³³¹	X	_					Х	
Keating, 2000 ³³²	X		х	X			X	
Other								
Narayan, 2005 ³³³	Х	_						
Robak, 2005 ³³⁴	X							
Watanabe, 2005 ³³⁵	X							
Nabhan, 2004 ³³⁶	X							
Jilani, 2003 ³³⁷	X							
Cohen, 2002 ³³⁸	X							
Kanalli 2001 ³³⁹	X							
Seipelt, 2001 ³⁴⁰	X						Х	
Syrigos, 2001 ³⁴¹	^						X	Review
Weiss, 2001				*			X	Review
Herold, 2000 ³⁴³	х			*			X	I COVICAN
Schulz, 2000	^			*			X	Not available
Byrd, 1999 ³⁴⁵	v						X	INUL AVAIIADIE
Lim, 1999 ³⁴⁶	X	_		V				
Yang, 1999	X			X			X	
rang, 1999	Х			X			Х	

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	-
No. of Abstracts	10		1	8		0	9	
Abstract Years	04-05		01	00-01			00-01	

^{*} Non-cited reference.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. DRUGDEX discusses the off-label use of rituximab in its section on CLL. It specifies that the "evidence for efficacy is favorable" for the indicated use. While the compendium indicates rituximab use as a combination therapy in untreated CLL, no mention is made regarding the indicated dose. USP-DI included CLL among its list of cancers for which treatment is "Accepted." There are no data on stage of disease for rituximab use, nor is any information provided. However, rituximab is indicated for first line treatment in combination therapy as well as for relapsed or refractory indications. Treatment effectiveness is quantified.

NCCN discusses rituximab in its section on CLL and small lymphocytic lymphoma. It is offered as an option with other chemotherapeutic agents for secondary treatment of any stage of CLL/SLL. NCCN grades the recommendation as category 2A: "There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate."

Clinical Pharmacology evaluates rituximab use for an off-label and post-first line use in CLL. The compendium reported rituximab in monotherapy and combination therapy. The dose and effectiveness of the treatment are quantified.

Summary. Listings of rituximab for CLL in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Four of the six compendia (Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, NCCN, and USP-DI) discuss rituximab for treatment of CLL.
- Specificity of clinical information: The four compendia that discuss rituximab indicate different types of cancer for which the agent should be used, in addition to the combinations of treatments. Clinical Pharmacology discusses appropriate doses. None of the compendia describes the effects of treatment with rituximab. Only DRUGDEX, USP-DI, and Clinical Pharmacology report response data.
- Evidence rating: DRUGDEX and USP-DI include extensive lists of references, although these are reported only as lists of the available evidence.
- Recommendation statements: DRUGDEX makes a class III recommendation, "treatment
 is not useful and should be avoided," for the off-label indication based on the strength of
 evidence category B. NCCN makes a weak recommendation, "option" and "suggested,"
 based on lower level evidence. USP-DI and Clinical Pharmacology mention the off-label
 use through passive discussion using cited references. AHFS-DI and Facts &
 Comparisons did not describe the off-label use of rituximab in CLL.
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to rituximab are reported in most of the compendia, and four (AHFS-DI, DRUGDEX, Facts & Comparisons, and USP-DI) note toxicities specifically in patients with CLL.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by
 evidence and current practice; it does not include CLL as an off-label indication for
 gemcitabine. There is no published Phase III study of rituximab in CLL; thus the
 compendium adheres to its stated methodology, which emphasizes well-designed,
 controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include CLL as an off-label indication for rituximab. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. It cites several Phase II studies in support of the off-label indication, including five of the 13 Phase II studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 12/5/05, but some 2003-5 data are not cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include CLL as an off-label indication for rituximab. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It cites only studies published before 2003, although the date of the last update was 2006.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include CLL as an off-label indication for rituximab. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite any of the Phase II studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was in 2005, but data from 1999-2005 were not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is no explicit off-label indication for rituximab in CLL as per the guideline. The last update was in 2005, but early 2005 data are not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes CLL as an off-label indication for rituximab. It emphasizes prospective trials, but cites only one Phase I study of rituximab in CLL published in 2000; it fails to cite 13 Phase II, 6 Phase I/II, and 2 other Phase I studies identified in the EPC review. The last update was 7/7/04, but data from 1999-2004 were not cited.

Erlotinib (Tarceva®) for Head and Neck Cancer

Erlotinib is an inhibitor of human epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase with therapeutic indications for treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC after failure of at least one prior chemotherapy regimen. Erlotinib has also been evaluated for treatment of head and neck cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 18 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, three met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 14a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. Appendix B reports details from each of the three articles and abstracts. The literature includes only a single peer-reviewed study, a Phase II trial in 115 patients that reported tumor response, survival data, and adverse effect data.

Table 14a: Study types and outcomes reported - erlotinib for head and neck cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication	Outcomes Reported						
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs		
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	1	115	2004	1	1	-	-	1		
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Phase II	1 (100%)	115 (100%)	2004	1	1	-	-	1		
Phase I	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Other	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Abstracts ^a	2	20	2005	2	-	-	1	2		

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III trials have been published.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. Only one study of 115 patients with locally recurrent of metastatic head and neck cancer previously treated with other anti-neoplastic agents has been peer-reviewed. The study reported partial response of four percent and overall survival of 6 months. Adverse effect data were also reported, but quality of life and symptom relief data were not reported.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 14b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of erlotinib for treatment of head and neck cancer. Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, and Facts & Comparisons explicitly stated an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN mentions the development of newer tyrosine kinase inhibitors, including erlotinib, to attenuate the overexpression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and/or common ligands that has been observed in greater than 90 percent of squamous cell carcinomas of head and neck cancer. The other compendia, regardless of whether they mentioned head and neck cancer, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs were affected. Only DRUGDEX discussed erlotinib-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for head and neck cancer.

^a Not considered further.

Table 14b: Summary of compendia listings – erlotinib for head and neck cancer

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	NR	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	NR	-	-
Stage of cancers	-	"Metastatic or recurrent squamous cell carcinoma"	"Head and neck cancer"	NR	-	
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	NR	Other	NR	-	-
Routes of administration	-	Oral	Oral	Oral	-	-
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	Monotherapy	Monotherapy	NR for this indication	-	-
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	No	No	NR for this indication	-	-
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	Overall response rate Median progression-free survival Median overall survival	Overall response rate Median overall survival	NR	-	-
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: By organ: Frequency:	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for the off-label use	-	Yes	No	No	-	-

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Number of evidence citations	-	1	3	None cited for this indication	-	-
Range of years of citations	-	2004	2001	-	-	-
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	Published study	Abstracts Published study	-	-	-
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	0	1 [2000]	-	-	-
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	1 [2004]	2 Reviews [2001]	-	-	-
Date of last update	12/8/2005	11/9/2005	2006	2005	12/19/2005	11/14/2005

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. Only Clinical Pharmacology referenced the single peer-reviewed study. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 14c.

Table 14c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - erlotinib for head and neck cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	-
Phase III								
(none)								
Phase II								
Soulieres, 2004 ³⁴⁸	Х		х					
Phase I/II								
(none)								
Phase I								
(none)								
Other								
Adjei, 2001 ³⁴⁹				X				Not
								MEDLINE
Ciardiello, 2001 ³⁵⁰				Х				Review
No. of Abstracts	2		0	1	0			
Abstract Years	04-05			00				

Recommendations and supporting evidence. Clinical Pharmacology included evaluation of erlotinib for treatment of head and neck cancer. The compendium referenced the single peer-reviewed study and stated that there is an indication for the treatment of head and neck cancer, specifically metastatic or recurrent squamous cell carcinoma. The dose used in the study was cited. DRUGDEX included evaluation of erlotinib for treatment of head and neck cancer. The dose used in one review is cited. Facts & Comparisons did not include any citation relevant to this indication.

Summary. Listings of erlotinib for head and neck cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Three of the six compendia (Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, and Facts & Comparisons) discuss erlotinib for treatment of head and neck cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: Clinical Pharmacology describes the cancer indication as "head and neck cancer, specifically metastatic or recurrent squamous cell carcinoma," with reference to the single peer-reviewed study. DRUGDEX references one abstract and one review and describes the off-label indication as for the treatment of head and neck cancer.
- Evidence rating: Only DRUGDEX provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label use of erlotinib for head and neck cancer. It assigns the evidence the rating category IIb and also notes that the evidence for efficacy is inconclusive.
- Recommendation statements: Clinical Pharmacology mentions the off-label use through passive discussion using cited references. DRUGDEX makes class III recommendation, "treatment is not useful and should be avoided."
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to erlotinib are reported in most of the compendia, but only DRUGDEX notes toxicities specifically in patients with head and neck cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by
 evidence and current practice; it does not include head and neck cancer as an off-label
 indication for erlotinib. There is no published Phase III study of erlotinib in head and
 neck cancer; thus the compendium adheres to its stated methodology, which emphasizes
 well-designed, controlled, published studies.
- USP-DI does not include head and neck cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. The last update was 11/14/05, but the single Phase II study from 2004 that was identified in the EPC review is not cited.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include head and neck cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. In its methodology it emphasizes a comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It does not cite the Phase II study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 2006, but 2004 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it includes head and neck cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects, but does not cite the Phase II study (2004) identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update is not stated, but 2004 data are not cited.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is no off-label indication for erlotinib in head and neck cancer as per the guideline. The last update was 12/19/05, but the 2004 Phase II study is not cited.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes head and neck cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. It emphasizes prospective trials, and includes the Phase II trial published in 2004.

Erlotinib (Tarceva®) for Pancreatic Cancer

As stated above, erlotinib is an inhibitor of human epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase with therapeutic indications for treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC after failure of at least one prior chemotherapy regimen. Erlotinib has also been evaluated for treatment of pancreatic cancer.

Systematic Review by EPC

A total of 22 articles and abstracts were identified through the EPC literature search. Of these, 5 met the EPC inclusion criteria.

Table 15a describes the study types of the included studies and the outcomes reported. The literature includes only a single peer-reviewed study, a Phase I trial in 17 patients which reported tumor response, survival data, and adverse effect data.

Table 15a: Study types and outcomes reported – erlotinib for pancreatic cancer

Study type	No. of	No. of	Publication		Outco	mes Repo	rted	
Study type	studies	subjects	years	TR	Survival	QoL	Sx	AEs
Peer-reviewed studies (total)	1	17	2005	1	1	-	-	1
Phase III	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase II	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Phase I	1 (100%)	17 (100%)	2005	1	1	-	-	1
Other	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Abstracts ^a	4	620 ^b	2004-5	1	2	-	-	4

Abbreviations: AEs = adverse effects; No. = number; QoL = quality of life; Sx = symptoms; TR = tumor response.

Peer-reviewed Phase III trials. No Phase III trials have been published.

Peer-reviewed Phase II trials. No Phase II trials have been published.

Peer-reviewed Phase I trials. Only one study of 17 patients with pancreatic cancer previously treated with other anti-neoplastic agents has been peer-reviewed. The study reported partial response of 35 percent and a 14 month median survival. Adverse effect data were also reported, but quality of life and symptom relief data were not reported.

Compendia Listings

Treatment indication and toxicities. Table 15b summarizes the compendia's discussions of the off-label use of erlotinib for treatment of pancreatic cancer. Only DRUGDEX, USP-DI, and Clinical Pharmacology explicitly stated an off-label indication for the agent. NCCN discussed the Phase III trial data (referencing a review article), but did not include erlotinib in any of its algorithms for treatment of pancreatic cancer. All other compendia, regardless of whether they discussed pancreatic cancer, discussed toxicities, including severity and frequency of adverse effects, and which organs were affected. Only Clinical Pharmacology discussed erlotinib-related toxicities specifically among patients being treated for pancreatic cancer.

^a Not considered further.

^b Includes subjects who received placebo.

Table 15b: Summary of compendia listings – erlotinib for pancreatic cancer

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
Off-label indication explicitly stated	No	Unclear ^a	Yes	No	No (but a trial is discussed)	Unclear ^b
Sub-category of indication (accepted or acceptance not established)	-	NR	Efficacy: Adult, Evidence is inconclusive Recommendation: Adult, Class III Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B	-	Not discussed	Accepted
Stage of cancers	-	"Locally advanced, unresectable or metastatic"	"Carcinoma of pancreas"	-	"Advanced or metastatic"	"Locally advanced, unresectable or metastatic"
Method of treatment (first line or other)	-	First line	First line	-	NR	First line
Routes of administration	-	Oral	Oral	-	NR	Oral
Uses of the agent (monotherapy or combination)	-	Combination	Combination	-	Combination	Combination
Comparator discussed (placebo, standard treatment, other agents)	-	No	Yes (gemcitabine alone)	-	Yes (gemcitabine alone)	No
Outcomes mentioned for the off-label use (survival, tumor response, other)	-	NR	Overall survival	-	Median survival 1-year survival	NR
Toxicity reporting	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: Yes Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes	Overall: No Cancer-specific: No Severity: By organ: Frequency:	Overall: Yes Cancer-specific: No Severity: Yes By organ: Yes Frequency: Yes
Dose indicated for off-label use	-	Yes	No	-	No	Yes
Number of evidence citations	-	(1 °)	1	-	1	1
Range of years of	-	NR	2005	-	2004	2005

	AHFS-DI	Clinical Pharmacology	DRUGDEX	Facts & Comparisons	NCCN	USP-DI
citations						
Sources of evidence (abstracts/published articles)	-	0	Abstract	-	Review	Product Information
Number of abstracts cited [years]	-	0	1 [2005]	-	0	0
Number of published articles cited [years]	-	0	0	-	-	0
Date of last update	12/8/2005	11/9/2005	2006	2005	6/28/2005	11/14/2005

 ^a The dagger sign was not used for the indication
 ^b. The brackets were not used for this indication
 ^c. One study of 259 patients discussed regarding adverse effects for erlotinib use with gemcitabine, but reference was not provided. No studies cited for effect.

Studies cited in compendia versus studies identified in EPC review. No compendium referenced any primary peer-reviewed articles or abstracts. A comparison of references identified in the EPC review versus those cited by the compendia is presented in Table 15c.

Table 15c: Articles cited by compendia vs. articles identified by EPC - erlotinib for pancreatic cancer

Reference	EPC	AHFS- DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	Notes
Reviewed by compendia:	-	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	-
Phase III								
(none)								
Phase II								
(none)								
Phase I/II								
(none)								
Phase I Iannitti, 2005 ³⁵¹	x							
Other								
McBride, 2004 ³⁵²						Х		Review
Unknown			а					
No. of Abstracts	4			1				
Abstract Years	2004- 05			2005				

^a Discussed a study of 259 subjects, but did not cite a reference.

Recommendations and supporting evidence. Clinical Pharmacology states that there is an indication for erlotinib for the first-line treatment of locally advanced, unresectable, or metastatic pancreatic cancer in combination with gemcitabine. A specific dose is listed, with a reference to the compendium's gemcitabine monograph. Under the section on adverse reactions, there is a discussion of a study of 259 patients with pancreatic cancer who received erlotinib 100 mg with gemcitabine, but no reference is cited.

DRUGDEX notes the off-label indication for erlotinib for the first line treatment of locally advanced, metastatic pancreatic cancer in combination with gemcitabine. The compendium cites one abstract, and the dose used in the study is mentioned. The effectiveness of the treatment is described as "evidence is inconclusive."

As noted above, NCCN discussed the Phase III trial data, but did not include erlotinib in any of its algorithms for treatment of pancreatic cancer.

USP-DI includes pancreatic cancer in its list of cancers for which treatment is "Accepted" when used in combination with gemcitabine for first line treatment of patients with locally advanced, unresectable, or metastatic pancreatic cancer. It references the "Product Information" for this information. Referencing the same source, the compendium recommends a specific dose. The effectiveness of the treatment is not discussed.

Summary. Listings of erlotinib for pancreatic cancer in the compendia reviewed here may be summarized as follows:

- *Inclusion of off-label indication:* Three of the six compendia (Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX and USP-DI) discuss erlotinib for treatment of pancreatic cancer.
- Specificity of clinical information: Clinical Pharmacology and USP-DI both recommend the same dose of erlotinib for pancreatic cancer, to be used in combination with gemcitabine. NCCN discusses erlotinib, but without including it in its algorithms for treatment of pancreatic cancer.

- Evidence rating: Clinical Pharmacology, DRUGDEX, and USP-DI all include erlotinib
 for the treatment for pancreatic cancer without citing available, peer-reviewed references.
 Only DRUGDEX provides an explicit evidence rating for the off-label indication of
 erlotinib for pancreatic cancer ("evidence is inconclusive").
- Recommendation statements: Clinical Pharmacology mentions the use through passive discussion using cited references. DRUGDEX makes class III recommendation, "treatment is not useful and should be avoided."
- *Toxicity:* Toxicities related to erlotinib are reported in most of the compendia, but only Clinical Pharmacology notes toxicities specifically in patients with pancreatic cancer.

Analysis of Compendia Listings vs. Stated Methodologies

Comparing the compendia listings with their self-described methodologies for dealing with off-label indications, we find that the methodologies and actual practice diverge, predominantly due to subjective assessments of the value and volume of the data, subjective assessments of current practice, and omission of recent citations. Results may be summarized as follows:

- AHFS-DI specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are supported by evidence and current practice; it does not include head and neck cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. It emphasizes well-designed, controlled, published studies. No such studies were identified in the EPC review.
- USP-DI discusses the role of erlotinib in pancreatic cancer, even though it does not explicitly state erlotinib as an off-label indication. In its methodology it emphasizes Phase III and IV studies, with lower level evidence to be included at the discretion of its staff. No Phase III or IV studies were identified in the EPC review.
- DRUGDEX specifies that it includes off-label indications, and it does include pancreatic
 cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. In its methodology it emphasizes a
 comprehensive review of available evidence, including case reports. It does not cite the
 single Phase I study identified in the EPC review. The date of the last update was 2006,
 but 2005 data are not cited.
- Facts & Comparisons specifies that it includes off-label indications when legitimate and appropriate; it does not include pancreatic cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. It emphasizes Phase II, III, and IV studies with over 30 subjects; no such studies were identified in the EPC review.
- NCCN specifies that it includes off-label indications when they are included in its clinical practice guidelines. There is an off-label indication for erlotinib in pancreatic cancer as per the guideline. The single Phase I study (2005) identified in the EPC review is not cited. The last update was 6/28/05.
- Clinical Pharmacology specifies that it includes an off-label indication when it is in current clinical practice and the dose is available; it includes pancreatic cancer as an off-label indication for erlotinib. It emphasizes prospective trials, but does not cite the Phase I trial published in 2005. The date of the last update was 11/9/05, but 2005 data are not cited.

Discussion

Compendia claim to use evidence-based methods in their evaluation of therapeutic agents. While the compendia describe general approaches to identifying literature, evaluating studies, and formulating recommendations, we noted important discrepancies between a complete and systematic enumeration of relevant supporting clinicals studies and the literature cited in the compendia. Since the first step in a critical appraisal of literature is the systematic search and identification of relevant studies, the problems we have identified in reporting of references indicate a potential problem with the compendia. Cited literature was often neither the most recent nor the most valid in terms of study design. While it may not be necessary for compendia to provide a thorough enumeration of literature considered, the lack of transparency makes it difficult to determine whether omitted references had been identified but excluded (e.g., due to poor quality or lack of relevance) or never identified and considered. This is particularly problematic when compendia do not include a listing for a particular off-label indication, as a discussion of evidence or a rationale for no listing is seldom provided (we refer to this as "silence" on a particular indication). All the compendia are less transparent in their methods than published systematic reviews, or they do not adhere to standards for reporting of systematic reviews. 12,353

Drug compendia are primarily organized according to individual drugs or biologics, or sometimes according to drug classes. They are not organized – as clinical practice guidelines are – according to a clinical presentation or disease for the purpose of disease management. Thus, compendia typically do not provide a comparison between different therapeutic choices for a particular condition. However, some have added indexing by condition (e.g., Facts & Comparisons), and some have made evaluation of therapeutic alternatives a standard part of the editorial process (e.g., AHFS-DI).

We noted important differences between various versions of the same compendium. Most significant were differences between print media editions and electronic media editions. Electronic media editions were typically updated more quickly and contained more information, particularly citations. However, several compendia published multiple electronic media editions, with differences in update schedules and content; this creates the potential for confusion. For example, DRUGDEX, which provides a detailed description of drugs and includes citations, may be confused with a similar product from the same publisher, DrugPoints, which provides only summary information without references. Differences in updates appear to have caused discrepancies between print and electronic editions on listing of non-approved indications.

We also noted important differences between the compendia in their citation of evidence. Each of the editors noted in interviews that they had made, or planned to make, changes in their editorial policies to become more transparent in regard to how evidence was used in their evaluations. However, several characteristics of the compendia may be obstacles to greater transparency:

- Space limitations of the print medium; electronic media have been utilized by several publishers to overcome space limitations and provide citations.
- Purpose-designed to be concise and easy to use; additional detail on evidence may be at odds with this goal.
- Scope of the task of keeping broad listings current; each compendium has mechanisms for prioritizing topics for updates and managing limited staff resources.

Among the 14 agent-cancer combinations we examined, there was a great deal of variability

in whether compendia listed a non-approved indication (Table 16). DRUGDEX was the only compendium that discussed all 14 of the agent-cancer combinations evaluated. Only the indications of gemcitabine for bladder and ovarian cancer were discussed by all six compendia. These indications were the only two of the 14 indications we examined that were discussed by AHFS-DI. Clinical Pharmacology, NCCN, and USP-DI each discussed nine of the 14 combinations, though they differed in which combinations were omitted.

Table 16: Discussion of agent-cancer combinations by compendia

	AHFS-DI	Clin Pharm	DRUGDEX	F&C	NCCN	USP-DI	No. of Com- pendia
Bevacizumab – breast	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	2
Bevacizumab – lung	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5
Oxaliplatin – breast	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	2
Oxaliplatin – lung	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	1
Irinotecan – breast	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	1
Docetaxel – esophageal	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	4
Docetaxel – gastric	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5
Docetaxel – ovarian	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	5
Gemcitabine – biliary tract	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	4
Gemcitabine – bladder	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Gemcitabine – ovary	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	6
Rituximab – CLL	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	4
Erlotinib – head & neck	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	3
Erlotinib – pancreas	No	Yes	Yes	No	No ^a	Yes	3
No. of agent-cancer combinations	2	9	14	8	9	9	

^a But a trial is discussed.

Some patterns emerge by compendium. DRUGDEX more often than the other compendia listed off-label indications, while AHFS-DI did so less often than the other compendia. Since the compendia rarely describe evidence in the absence of a listing, it is impossible to determine the reasons for silence, and thus is difficult to determine with certainty the reasons for the variability.

The compendia differed in the terminology used to state whether agents were indicated for specific cancers. Several of the compendia also used different terminology or approaches for different agent-cancer combinations. Uniquely, NCCN categorized its recommendations by cancer, as opposed to by agent. Also uniquely, NCCN consistently used explicit "Categories of Consensus," where all recommendations were category 2A ("There is uniform NCCN consensus, based on lower level evidence including clinical experience, that the recommendation is appropriate.") unless otherwise indicated. USP-DI categorized cancers into those for which use of the agent was "Accepted" or "Acceptance not established." USP-DI also explicitly indicated whether agents were included in U.S. product labeling. Only for ovarian cancer did USP-DI state that the indication for gemcitabine has an evidence rating of IIID (although this was not defined within the document). AHFS-DI generally does not make explicit recommendations, but instead makes broader comments such as that an agent "is used for" or "is an active agent against" specific cancers. Similarly, Clinical Pharmacology describes several studies for each agent-cancer combination without explicitly stating whether the agent is indicated; although for each agent, it discusses cancers only when use of the agent represents current practice and a dosage regimen has been established and documented. DRUGDEX makes explicit

recommendation ratings (class II to III) for each of the 14 agent-cancer off label indications. Facts & Comparisons only categorizes indications as FDA labeled or unlabeled uses for each agent. Examples of the different wording of recommendations and related statements follow:

- AHFS-DI: "Gemcitabine is an active agent that is used alone [3 references] or in combination therapy [2 references] for the treatment of advanced or metastatic bladder cancer...."
- Clinical Pharmacology: "Adults: Doses not established. As a single agent, gemcitabine... was evaluated in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Of the 22 patients treated, 2 complete responses (9.1 percent) ... were reported ...[1 reference]."
- DRUGDEX: "For the indicated use of gemcitabine in transitional cell carcinoma of bladder ... evidence favors efficacy." "Recommendation: Adult, Class IIb. Strength of Evidence: Adult, Category B."
- Facts & Comparisons: "Unlabeled uses: Bladder cancer; biliary cancer; ... ovarian cancer."
- NCCN: For gemcitabine and cisplatin for bladder cancer: "This combination is considered a standard first-line choice for most patients. [category 2A]" and "For salvage therapy, paclitaxel..., gemcitabine, or ifosfamide is advised depending upon the patient's current status."
- USP-DI: Under "Accepted" category: "Rituximab is indicated for the treatment of relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [25 references]," and "Gemcitabine is indicated, alone or in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents, as reasonable medical therapy at some point in the management of patients with advanced or relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma (Evidence rating: IIID) [1 reference]."

Facts & Comparisons provided only basic information about whether the agents were indicated, about dosing, administration, contraindications, adverse effects, and drug interactions. The evidence was not discussed or cited. In contrast, USP-DI and DRUGDEX generally provided an extensive set of references, although many of the references were of abstracts or review articles. In general, USP-DI did not attempt to discuss or summarize the evidence, but instead simply provided references after statements such as that the agent is indicated for the cancer; however, the proportion of the available evidence that was cited varied substantially across indications. Both for gemcitabine for biliary cancer and rituximab for CLL approximately half of the studies identified in the EPC review were cited, while for gemcitabine for both bladder and ovarian cancer less than 10 percent of the available evidence was cited. Similarly, AHFS-DI cited fewer than 10 percent of the available studies, but discussed them in greater detail than USP-DI. In at least four of the agent-cancer combinations, several (or a majority) of the citations provided by DRUGDEX were not linked to the text, but were simply included in reference lists. (Our count of these additional references may be an underestimate, since we relied only on the titles in the reference lists to determine potential eligibility.) Clinical Pharmacology and NCCN generally referenced at most one or two studies, focusing on Phase III or other specific trials.

Among the 14 examples, there was a great deal of variability in how up-to-date the cited literature was between topics and between compendia. For example, there were three important Phase III studies of bevacizumab published last year, two in breast cancer and one in lung cancer. Of these, one was published in full-text form (breast cancer), and the others were presented as abstracts only. The fully published breast cancer trial (bevacizumab combined with capecitabine) showed improvement in tumor response, but not for progression-free survival (the

primary end-point) or overall survival. The Phase III trial abstract (bevacizumab combined with paclitaxel) reported an improvement in tumor response, progression-free, and overall survival. None of the compendia cited either study, including the two compendia that listed this non-approved indication (DRUGDEX and NCCN). However, for lung cancer, five of the compendia listed an off-label indication for bevacizumab, and three of the five cite the recent Phase III trial. This Phase III trial was presented only in abstract form as well. Bevacizumab combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel significantly improved tumor response and progression-free and overall survival. It may be that the lung cancer abstract was identified because it was presented at the ASCO 2005 meeting, a venue that receives close scrutiny and from which many citations are listed. However, it is unclear why the breast cancer trials, one published in full in early 2005 and the other also presented at ASCO, were missed by all of the compendia studied. Similarly, a Phase III trial for gemcitabine for bladder cancer was not mentioned in three of six compendia despite being published over 5 years ago. Finally, we note that often when abstracts are cited as evidence supporting a non-labeled indication, these citations are infrequently revised to reflect subsequent publication of the same study in full.

It was difficult for us to ascertain the reason for cases in which the cited evidence did not seem current; revision dates for drug monographs are not always provided, and even when they are provided, they do not clearly indicate what content was revised. For example, a recent revision date might reflect a change in adverse effect information, but off-label indications may not have been reviewed, or the literature search updated.

The primary area of uniformity across compendia, with the exception of NCCN, is in discussions about adverse effects. The compendia mostly fully report on adverse effects and toxicities for each agent, generally as provided by packaging inserts. NCCN, which divided its discussions by cancer instead of by agent, does not discuss adverse effects. However, the compendia varied by whether they discussed cancer-specific toxicities. DRUGDEX discussed cancer specific toxicities from articles cited for all of the agent-cancer combinations. AHFS-DI discussed toxicities of gemcitabine when used for bladder cancer and of rituximab when used for CLL (although CLL was not discussed as an indication for rituximab), but not toxicities of other agents used for specific other cancers. Likewise Clinical Pharmacology discussed cancer-specific toxicities for only three of the 14 agent-cancer combinations (gemcitabine-bladder, gemcitabine ovary, and erlotinib-pancreas), and Facts & Comparisons discusses rituximab-related deaths in CLL.

Our assessment of the off-label indications for anticancer agents listed by various compendia had several limitations; we will describe the three most important. First, we assessed only a limited number of combinations of agents and cancers. While we attempted to select representative examples (older and newer agents, rare and common cancers, well-studied and poorly studied areas), nevertheless there are many more indications and drugs that we did not evaluate. However, given that variability is one of the key findings we observed among the 14 examples we evaluated, additional examples would be unlikely to lead to a different conclusion.

Second, although we probably identified most available published data on the 14 example indications, we did not thoroughly evaluate the studies in terms of the magnitude of effects and the methodological quality of the studies. In particular, we did not specify a definition *a priori* for equivocal evidence or identify among the examples situations for which we believed the evidence to be equivocal. Our approach of stratifying studies by research design adjusts in a gross way for study quality; however, a more detailed evaluation of study quality might lead to modified conclusions. While the compendia do perform a careful assessment of the studies they

identify, they cite few of the available studies. We were also not able to ascertain whether the relatively small number of available studies that were referenced by the compendia accurately reflect the amount of evidence on which the recommendations and discussions were based; however, differences in interpretation of the evidence are more likely to reflect what evidence was considered rather than how the evidence was evaluated.

Finally, we evaluated only the most current listings; each of the compendia is an evolving resource that changes as new information becomes available. Off-label listings may be added or removed over time, as new drugs or new evidence becomes available and practice patterns change. Our methods did not permit us to ascertain whether silence for certain indications reflected a withdrawn off-label indication listing, or one that had never been listed.

In conclusion, our assessment found little agreement between our independent identification of evidence on 14 example off-label indications and the evidence cited in drug compendia. Furthermore, the compendia we examined were discordant in which combinations of agents and cancers were discussed, how they stated whether an agent is indicated for a specific cancer, the level of detail regarding its use, and how the evidence was discussed and referenced. In general, a small percentage of the available evidence was explicitly cited. There was little agreement in the evidence regarding efficacy cited between drug compendia, and although adverse effects are generally fully described, the compendia are discordant on whether they discuss adverse effects among patients with specific cancers. When compendia did not include an off-label indication, it was impossible for us to ascertain whether silence reflected a conscious editorial decision after evaluation of available evidence, or a case where available evidence was not identified and evaluated.

References

- 1. AHFS-DI® (AHFS Drug Information). Bethesda, MD: American Society of Health-System Pharmacists, 2006.
- 2. Klasco R. USP DI® Drug Information for the Health Care Professional. 2006;I.
- 3. Christopher W. Off-Label Drug Prescription: Filling the Regulatory Vacuum. *Food and Drug Law Journal* 1993;48:247–62.
- 4. Soares M. "Off-Label" Indications for Oncology Drug Use and Drug Compendia: History and Current Status. *Journal of Oncology Practice* 2005;1(3):102-5.
- 5. Dornbusch D, Allegra C, Willey J, et al. How do U.S. medical oncologists learn and apply new clinical trials information from press releases in nonmedical media? A case study based on ECOG 4599. *Oncologist* 2006;11(1):31-8.
- 6. Laetz T, Silberman G. Reimbursement policies constrain the practice of oncology. [erratum appears in JAMA 1992 Jun 24;267(24):3287]. *JAMA* 1991;266(21):2996-9.
- 7. Klasco RE. DRUGDEX® System. 2006.
- 8. Facts & Comparisons. Drug Facts and Comparisons, 2006. Drug identifier: the premier tool for the correct identification of drugs. St. Louis, MO: Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc., 2006.
- 9. NCCN Drugs & Biologics Compendium®. 2006.
- 10. Gold Standard I. Clinical Pharmacology®. 2006.
- 11. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, et al. Cancer statistics, 2006. CA Cancer J Clin 2006;56(2):106-30.
- 12. Moher D, Cook D, Eastwood S, et al. Improving the quality of reports of meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials: the Quorom Statement. *Lancet* 1999;354:1896-900.
- 13. AGREE Collaboration. Development and validation of an international appraisal instrument for assessing the quality of clinical practice guidelines: the AGREE project. *Quality and Safety in Health Care* 2003;12(1):18-23.
- 14. Miller K, Wang M, Gralow J, et al. E2100: A randomized phase III trial of paclitaxel versus paclitaxel plus bevacizumab as first-line therapy for locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer. *Presented at the ASCO Annual Meeting* 2005.
- 15. Miller KD, Chap LI, Holmes FA, et al. Randomized phase III trial of capecitabine compared with bevacizumab plus capecitabine in patients with previously treated metastatic breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(4):792-9.
- 16. Miller KD. E2100: a phase III trial of paclitaxel versus paclitaxel/bevacizumab for metastatic breast cancer. *Clinical Breast Cancer* 2003;3(6):421-2.
- 17. Overmoyer B, Silverman P, Leeming R, et al. Phase II trial of neoadjuvant docetaxel with or without bevacizumab in patients with locally advanced breast cancer. (*presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting*) 2004.
- 18. Rugo H, Dickler M, Scott J, et al. Change in circulating endothelial cells (CEC) and tumor cells (CTC) in patients (pts) receiving bevacizumab and erlotinib for metastatic breast cancer (MBC) predicts stable disease at first evaluation. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 19. Dickler M, Rugo H, Caravelli J, et al. Phase II trial of erlotinib (OSI-774), an epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-tyrosine kinase inhibitor, and bevacizumab, a recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor

- (VEGF), in patients (pts) with metastatic breast cancer (MBC). (presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2004.
- 20. Traina T, Dickler M, Caravelli J, et al. A feasibility study of an aromatase inhibitor (AI), letrozole (L) and the antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), bevacizumab (B), in patients (pts) with hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer (MBC). (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 21. Cobleigh MA, Langmuir VK, Sledge GW, et al. A phase I/II dose-escalation trial of bevacizumab in previously treated metastatic breast cancer. *Seminars in Oncology* 2003;30(5 Suppl 16):117-24.
- 22. Cobleigh M, Miller K, Langmuir V, et al. Phase II dose escalation trial of Avastin (TM) (bevacizumab) in women with previously treated metastatic breast cancer (Abstract #520). *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2001;69(3):301.
- 23. Denduluri N, Wedam S, Yang S, et al. Effect of bevacizumab and chemotherapy on serum levels of sVCAM-1 in patient with inflammatory and locally advanced breast cancer. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 24. Skillings J, Johnson D, Miller K, et al. Arterial thromboembolic events (ATEs) in a pooled analysis of 5 randomized, controlled trials (RCTs) of bevacizumab (BV) with chemotherapy. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 25. Wedam S, Low J, Yang X, et al. A pilot study to evaluate response and angiogenesis after treatment with bevacizumab in patients with inflammatory breast cancer. (presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2004.
- 26. Pegram MD, Reese DM. Combined biological therapy of breast cancer using monoclonal antibodies directed against HER2/neu protein and vascular endothelial growth factor. *Seminars in Oncology* 2002;29(3 Suppl 11):29-37.
- 27. Herbst RS, Johnson DH, Mininberg E, et al. Phase I/II trial evaluating the anti-vascular endothelial growth factor monoclonal antibody bevacizumab in combination with the HER-1/epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor erlotinib for patients with recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(11):2544-55.
- 28. Sandler A, Gray R, Brahmer J, et al. Randomized phase II/III Trial of paclitaxel (P) plus carboplatin (C) with or without bevacizumab (NSC # 704865) in patients with advanced non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): An Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) Trial E4599. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 29. Johnson DH, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny WF, et al. Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(11):2184-91.
- 30. Raefsky E, Spigel D, Greco F, et al. Irinotecan (I), carboplatin (C), and radiotherapy (RT) followed by bevacizumab (B) in the treatment of limited-stage small cell lung cancer (SCLC): a phase II trial of the Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 31. Delaloge S, Tubiana-Hulin M, Wardley A, et al. A multistep randomized phase II/III trial comparing oxaliplatin (OXA)+5 fluorouracil (FU) to vinorelbine (VIN)+FU (FUN) after taxane (T)/anthracycline (A) failure in advanced/metastatic breast cancer (MBC) patients (pts): Final results. (presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2004.

- 32. Garufi C, Nistico C, Brienza S, et al. Single-agent oxaliplatin in pretreated advanced breast cancer patients: a phase II study. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(2):179-82.
- 33. Cottu P, Caruba T, Espié M, Madelaine-Chambrin I, Misset J, Gross-Goupil M. Gemcitabine combined with oxaliplatin in advanced breast cancer: Updated results of two parallel phase II studies. (*presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting*) 2005.
- 34. Zelek L, Cottu P, Tubiana-Hulin M, et al. Phase II study of oxaliplatin and fluorouracil in taxane- and anthracycline-pretreated breast cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002;20(10):2551-8.
- 35. Caussanel J, Levi F, Brienza S, et al. Phase I trial of 5-day continuous venous infusion of oxaliplatin at circadian rhythm-modulated rate compared with constant rate. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1990;82(12):1046-50.
- 36. Gebbia N, Fulfaro F, Badalamenti G, et al. A phase 2 study of oxaliplatin (O) capecitabine (C) chemotherapy in metastatic breast cancer (MBC) patients pretreated with anthracyclines and taxanes. (presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2004.
- 37. Pectasides D, Pectasides M, Farmakis D, et al. Oxaliplatin plus high-dose leucovorin and 5-fluorouracil in pretreated advanced breast cancer: a phase II study. *Annals of Oncology* 2003;14(4):537-42.
- 38. Thuss-Patience PC, von Minckwitz G, Kretzschmar A, et al. Oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil for heavily pretreated metastatic breast cancer: a preliminary phase II study. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2003;14(7):549-53.
- 39. Leonardi V, Savio G, Laudani A, Blasi L, Agostara B. New approaches to breast cancer: oxaliplatin combined with 5-fluorouracil and folinic acid in pretreated advanced breast cancer patients: preliminary reports. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2002;963:91-7.
- 40. Bidoli P, Cortinovis D, Isa L, et al. Preliminary results of a randomized phase II three-arm, multicentric study of carboplatin + gemcitabine (CBDCA + GEM), or oxaliplatin (L-OHP) + GEM, or sequential CBDCA + GEM? docetaxel (DCT) + GEM in chemo-naive patients (pts) with advanced/metastatic non small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 41. Scagliotti GV, Kortsik C, Dark GG, et al. Pemetrexed combined with oxaliplatin or carboplatin as first-line treatment in advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a multicenter, randomized, phase II trial. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2005;11(2 Pt 1):690-6.
- 42. Lippe P, Mazzanti P, Recchia F, et al. Gemcitabine-oxaliplatin combination (GEM-OHP) in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): Final results of a phase II study. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 43. Broad A, Links M, Rosenthal M, Mitchell P. Combination gemcitabine and oxaliplatin for advanced non small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): An Australian multicenter randomized phase II sequencing trial. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 44. Cappuzzo F, Novello S, De Marinis F, et al. Phase II study of gemcitabine plus oxaliplatin as first-line chemotherapy for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2005;93(1):29-34.
- 45. Kouroussis C, Androulakis N, Vamvakas L, et al. Phase I study of weekly docetaxel and liposomal doxorubicin in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Oncology* 2005;69(3):202-7.

- 46. Santos E, Raez L, Rocha-Lima C, et al. Oxaliplatin and Docetaxel as First Line Chemotherapy for Patients with Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC). (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 47. Buosi R, Poletti S, Cantele V, et al. Preliminary results of phase II trial with combination of gemcitabine and oxaliplatin in elderly patients with advanced NSCLC. *journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14S).
- 48. Winegarden JD, Mauer AM, Otterson GA, et al. A phase II study of oxaliplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2004;15(6):915-20.
- 49. Franciosi V, Barbieri R, Aitini E, et al. Gemcitabine and oxaliplatin: a safe and active regimen in poor prognosis advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Lung Cancer* 2003;41(1):101-6.
- 50. Monnet I, de CH, Soulie P, et al. Oxaliplatin plus vinorelbine in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: final results of a multicenter phase II study. *Annals of Oncology* 2002;13(1):103-7.
- 51. Monnet I, Brienza S, Hugret F, et al. Phase II study of oxaliplatin in poor-prognosis non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). ATTIT. Association pour le Traitement des Tumeurs Intra Thoraciques. *European Journal of Cancer* 1998;34(7):1124-7.
- 52. Faivre S, Le Chevalier T, Monnerat C, et al. Phase I-II and pharmacokinetic study of gemcitabine combined with oxaliplatin in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and ovarian carcinoma. *Annals of Oncology* 2002;13(9):1479-89.
- 53. Monnet I, Soulie P, de Cremoux H, et al. Phase I/II study of escalating doses of vinorelbine in combination with oxaliplatin in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(2):458-63.
- 54. Bidoli P, Stani SC, Mariani L, et al. Phase I study of escalating doses of oxaliplatin in combination with fixed dose gemcitabine in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* 2004;43(2):203-8.
- 55. Doroshow JH, Synold TW, Gandara D, et al. Pharmacology of oxaliplatin in solid tumor patients with hepatic dysfunction: a preliminary report of the National Cancer Institute Organ Dysfunction Working Group. *Seminars in Oncology* 2003;30(4 Suppl 15):14-9.
- 56. Kouroussis C, Agelaki S, Mavroudis D, et al. A dose escalation study of docetaxel and oxaliplatin combination in patients with metastatic breast and non-small cell lung cancer. *Anticancer Research* 2003;23(1B):785-91.
- 57. Kakolyris S, Kouroussis C, Koukourakis M, et al. A dose-escalation study of oxaliplatin and vinorelbine in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Oncology* 2002;63(3):213-8.
- 58. Santini D, Tonini G, Salerno A, et al. Idiosyncratic reaction after oxaliplatin infusion.[see comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(1):132-3.
- 59. Perez EA, Hillman DW, Mailliard JA, et al. Randomized phase II study of two irinotecan schedules for patients with metastatic breast cancer refractory to an anthracycline, a taxane, or both. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14):2849-55.
- 60. Vukelja S, O'Shaughnessy J, Campos S, et al. Activity of oral irinotecan (IRI) in metastatic breast cancer (MBC) patients after prior anthracycline, taxane and capecitabine: Phase 2 study results. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 61. Agelaki S, Karyda E, Kouroussis C, et al. Gemcitabine plus irinotecan in breast cancer patients pretreated with taxanes and anthracyclines: a multicenter phase II study. *Oncology* 2003;64(4):477-8.

- 62. Frasci G, D'Aiuto G, Thomas R, et al. Biweekly docetaxel-irinotecan treatment with filgrastim support is highly active in antracycline-Paclitaxel-refractory breast cancer patients. *Oncology* 2005;68(4-6):391-7.
- 63. Moulder S, Munster P, Minton S, et al. Results of a planned efficacy and safety analysis for a National Comprehensive Cancer Network sponsored phase II study of gemcitabine and irinotecan (GI) in metastatic breast cancer (MBC). (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 64. Gold P, Refice S, West H. Phase I trial of irinotecan and epirubicin in patients with advanced solid tumors. (*presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting*) 2005.
- 65. Faivre S, Delbaldo C, Pautier P, et al. Phase I study of ixabepilone given every other week in combination with irinotecan in patients with advanced malignancies. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14S).
- 66. Frasci G, Comella P, Thomas R, et al. Biweekly docetaxel-irinotecan with filgrastim support in pretreated breast and non-small-cell lung cancer patients. A phase I study. *Cancer Chemotherapy & Pharmacology* 2004;53(1):25-32.
- 67. Verschraegen CF, Lee FC, Rabinowitz I, et al. Phase I and translational study of capecitabine, cisplatin, and irinotecan in patients with solid tumors. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14S).
- 68. Shigeoka Y, Itoh K, Igarashi T, et al. Clinical effect of irinotecan in advanced and metastatic breast cancer patients previously treated with doxorubicin- and docetaxel-containing regimens. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;31(8):370-4.
- 69. Rothenberg ML. Topoisomerase I inhibitors: review and update. *Annals of Oncology* 1997;8(9):837-55.
- 70. Burris HA, 3rd, Fields SM. Topoisomerase I inhibitors. An overview of the camptothecin analogs. *Hematology Oncology Clinics of North America* 1994;8(2):333-55.
- 71. Ajani JA, Fodor MB, Tjulandin SA, et al. Phase II multi-institutional randomized trial of docetaxel plus cisplatin with or without fluorouracil in patients with untreated, advanced gastric, or gastroesophageal adenocarcinoma.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(24):5660-7.
- 72. Burtness B, Gibson M, Lacy J, et al. Phase II trial of docetaxel/irinotecan therapy in metastatic esophageal cancer: evidence for activity in previously untreated patients. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 73. Kajiyama Y, Okumura M, Isayama F, et al. Weekly docetaxel (D) versus daily low dose cisplatin (P)/ fluorouracil (F) as neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (CRT) in patients with advanced esophageal cancer: Nonrandomized Phase II results of a single institute. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 74. Lorenzen S, Duyster J, Lersch C, et al. Three-weekly Docetaxel (T) plus Capecitabine (X) in 1st and 2nd Line Metastatic Esophageal Cancer (MEC): Final Results of the Phase II DACAPO Trial. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 75. Lorenzen S, Duyster J, Lersch C, et al. Capecitabine plus docetaxel every 3 weeks in first-and second-line metastatic oesophageal cancer: final results of a phase II trial. *British Journal of Cancer* 2005;92(12):2129-33.
- 76. Muro K, Hamaguchi T, Ohtsu A, et al. A phase II study of single-agent docetaxel in patients with metastatic esophageal cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2004;15(6):955-9.
- 77. Posey J, Thornton J, Russo S, Cerfolio R, Heslin M, Eloubeidi M. A phase II study of irinotecan and docetaxel with concurrent radiotherapy as preoperative treatment in

- resectable esophageal cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14S).
- 78. Airoldi M, Cortesina G, Giordano C, Pedani F, Bumma C, Gabriele P. Docetaxel and vinorelbine: an effective regimen in recurrent squamous cell esophageal carcinoma. *Medical Oncology* 2003;20(1):19-24.
- 79. Govindan R, Read W, Faust J, et al. Phase II study of docetaxel and irinotecan in metastatic or recurrent esophageal cancer: a preliminary report. *Oncology (Huntington)* 2003;17(9 Suppl 8):27-31.
- 80. Lordick F, von Schilling C, Bernhard H, Hennig M, Bredenkamp R, Peschel C. Phase II trial of irinotecan plus docetaxel in cisplatin-pretreated relapsed or refractory oesophageal cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003;89(4):630-3.
- 81. Schull B, Kornek GV, Schmid K, et al. Effective combination chemotherapy with bimonthly docetaxel and cisplatin with or without hematopoietic growth factor support in patients with advanced gastroesophageal cancer. *Oncology* 2003;65(3):211-7.
- 82. Font A, Garcia-Alfonso P, Arellano A, al. E. Preoperative combined multimodal therapy with docetaxel plus 5-fluorouracil and concurrent hyperfrationated radiotherapy for locally advanced esophageal cancer. *Proc ASCO* 2002;21:128b.
- 83. Heath EI, Urba S, Marshall J, Piantadosi S, Forastiere AA. Phase II trial of docetaxel chemotherapy in patients with incurable adenocarcinoma of the esophagus. *Investigational New Drugs* 2002;20(1):95-9.
- 84. Jatoi A, Tirona MT, Cha SS, et al. A phase II trial of docetaxel and CPT-11 in patients with metastatic adenocarcinoma of the esophagus, gastroesophageal junction, and gastric cardia. *International Journal of Gastrointestinal Cancer* 2002;32(2-3):115-23.
- 85. Ridwelski K, Gebauer T, Fahlke J, et al. Combination chemotherapy with docetaxel and cisplatin for locally advanced and metastatic gastric cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(1):47-51.
- 86. Ajani J, Fodor M, Van Cutsem E, et al. Multinational randomized phase II trial of docetaxel (T) and cisplatin (C) with or without 5-fluorouracil (FU) in patients (Pts) with advanced gastric or GE junction adenocarcinoma (AGC-AGEJC). 2000 ASCO Annual Meeting 2000.
- 87. Eniu A, Ciuleanu TE, Todor N, Ghilezan N. Docetaxel, 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin (DFL): An outpatient first line palliative regimen for advanced/metastatic gastric cancer. *Ann Oncol* 2000;11(Suppl 4):65.
- 88. Giuliani F, Gebbia V, De Vita F, et al. Docetaxel (Taxotere) as salvage chemotherapy in patients with advanced gastric cancer. A phase II study of the Southern Italian Oncology Group (GOIM). *Ann Oncol* 2000;11(Suppl 4):67.
- 89. Mauer A, Haraf D, Ferguson M, et al. Docetaxel-based combined modality therapy for locally advanced carcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncology* 2000;19:246a.
- 90. Mavroudis D, Kourousis C, Androulakis N, et al. Frontline treatment of advanced gastric cancer with docetaxel and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF): a phase II trial. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;23(4):341-4.
- 91. Thuss-Patience PC, Kretzschmar A, Vielhaber A, Dorken B, P R. Docetaxel and 5-FU continuous infusion (DF) versus epirubicin, cisplatin and 5-FU (ECF) for advanced gastric adenocarcinoma: A randomised phase II study. *Ann Oncol* 2000;11(Suppl 4):67.

- 92. Einzig AI, Neuberg D, Remick SC, et al. Phase II trial of docetaxel (Taxotere) in patients with adenocarcinoma of the upper gastrointestinal tract previously untreated with cytotoxic chemotherapy: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) results of protocol E1293. *Medical Oncology* 1996;13(2):87-93.
- 93. Sulkes A, Smyth J, Sessa C, et al. Docetaxel (Taxotere) in advanced gastric cancer: results of a phase II clinical trial. EORTC Early Clinical Trials Group.[see comment]. *British Journal of Cancer* 1994;70(2):380-3.
- 94. Pasini F, de Manzoni G, Pedrazzani C, et al. High pathological response rate in locally advanced esophageal cancer after neoadjuvant combined modality therapy: dose finding of a weekly chemotherapy schedule with protracted venous infusion of 5-fluorouracil and dose escalation of cisplatin, docetaxel and concurrent radiotherapy. *Annals of Oncology* 2005;16(7):1133-9.
- 95. Tsai JY, Iannitti D, Berkenblit A, et al. Phase I study of docetaxel, capecitabine, and carboplatin in metastatic esophagogastric cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;28(4):329-33.
- 96. Yuki S, Komatsu Y, Machida N, et al. Phase I study of docetaxel, cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil(TPF) as first-line chemotherapy in patients with advanced esophageal cancer. -Hokkaido Gastrointestinal Cancer Study Group(HGCSG) study-. (*presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting*) 2005.
- 97. Bubis J, Williams I, Dragnev K, et al. Docetaxel (DTX) and carboplatin (CP) followed by a dose-ranging study of oral capecitabine, weekly DTX, concomitant radiotherapy and surgery for the treatment of patients with stage II-III carcinoma of the esophagus. (presented at 2004 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2004.
- 98. Enzinger PC, Clark J, Ryan D, et al. Phase II study of docetaxel, cisplatin, and irinotecan in advanced esophageal and gastric cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(14S (July 15 Supplement) #4040).
- 99. Roth A, de Pree C, Majno S, et al. Curative preoperative treatment with docetaxel (Taxotere)-cisplatin-5FU (TCF) combined with hyperfractionated radiation therapy in locally advanced cancer of the esophagus: A phase I-II study. *Ann Oncol* 2000;11(Suppl 4):70.
- 100. Roth AD, Maibach R, Martinelli G, et al. Docetaxel (Taxotere)-cisplatin (TC): an effective drug combination in gastric carcinoma. Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research (SAKK), and the European Institute of Oncology (EIO). *Annals of Oncology* 2000;11(3):301-6.
- 101. Mauer AM, Masters GA, Haraf DJ, et al. Phase I study of docetaxel with concomitant thoracic radiation therapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1998;16(1):159-64.
- 102. Syed S, Calvo E, Papadopoulos K, et al. A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of Thymitaq® (nolatrexed dihydrochloride), a potent thymidylate synthase (TS) inhibitor, combined with docetaxel in patients with advanced cancer. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 103. Poole M, Churchel M, Bernard S. Phase I Study of Gemcitabine and Docetaxel for Locally Advanced and/or Metastatic Cancer of the Head and Neck, Non-Colorectal Gastrointestinal Cancer, Hepatoma, and Soft Tissue Sarcoma. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncology* 2000;19:222a.
- 104. Puccio C, Chun H, Olson C, Policastro A, Mittelman A. Continuous Infusion (CI) 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) Plus Weekly Docetaxel: An Active Regimen for Elderly Patients

- (Pts) with Advanced or Metastatic Cancer of the Stomach and Distal Esophagus. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncology* 2000;19:272a.
- 105. Ryan DP, Lynch TJ, Grossbard ML, et al. A phase I study of gemcitabine and docetaxel in patients with metastatic solid tumors. *Cancer* 2000;88(1):180-5.
- 106. Vokes EE, Mauer AM, Hoffman PC, Haraf DJ. Combined modality therapy in non-small cell lung and esophageal cancer: a phase I dose-escalation study of docetaxel with concurrent radiotherapy. *Seminars in Oncology* 1998;25(3 Suppl 8):28-32.
- 107. Esmaeli B, Hidaji L, Adinin RB, et al. Blockage of the lacrimal drainage apparatus as a side effect of docetaxel therapy. *Cancer* 2003;98(3):504-7.
- 108. Jani AB, Connell PP, Vesich VJ, O'Brien KM, Chen LM. Analysis of the role of adjuvant chemotherapy for invasive carcinoma of the esophagus. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;23(6):554-8.
- 109. Verweij J, Catimel G, Sulkes A, et al. Phase II studies of docetaxel in the treatment of various solid tumours. EORTC Early Clinical Trials Group and the EORTC Soft Tissue and Bone Sarcoma Group. *European Journal of Cancer* 1995;31A Suppl 4:S21-4.
- 110. Anonymous. Reviewer's concensus on the use of docetaxel for the treatment of esophageal and gastric carcinomas. [citation per USP-DI, unable to confirm]. 2001.
- 111. Package Insert. Taxotere [package insert]. 2004.
- 112. Textbook. Pharmacotherapy: a Pathophysiologic Approach. 4th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2002.
- 113. Database. Docetaxel: Cancer Chemotherapy Manual: eFacts (available from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.), 2005.
- 114. Elsaid A, Elkerm Y. Final results of a randomized phase III trial of Docetaxel, Carboplatin and 5FU versus Epirubicin, cisplatin and 5FU for locally advanced gastric cancer. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 115. Fahlke J, Ridwelski K, Schmidt C, et al. Docetaxel-cisplatin (DC) versus 5-fluorouracil-leucovorin-cisplatin (FLC) as first-line treatment for locally advanced or metastatic gastric cancer: preliminary safety results of a Phase III study. (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 116. Moiseyenko V, Ajani J, Tjulandin S, et al. Final results of a randomized controlled phase III trial (TAX 325) comparing docetaxel (T) combined with cisplatin (C) and 5-fluorouracil (F) to CF in patients (pts) with metastatic gastric adenocarcinoma (MGC). (presented at 2005 ASCO Annual Meeting) 2005.
- 117. Vasey PA, Jayson GC, Gordon A, et al. Phase III randomized trial of docetaxel-carboplatin versus paclitaxel-carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy for ovarian carcinoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2004;96(22):1682-91.
- 118. Markman M, Liu P, Wilczynski S, et al. Phase III randomized trial of 12 versus 3 months of maintenance paclitaxel in patients with advanced ovarian cancer after complete response to platinum and paclitaxel-based chemotherapy: a Southwest Oncology Group and Gynecologic Oncology Group trial.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;21(13):2460-5.
- 119. Parmar MKB, Ledermann JA, Colombo N, et al. Paclitaxel plus platinum-based chemotherapy versus conventional platinum-based chemotherapy in women with relapsed ovarian cancer: the ICON4/AGO-OVAR-2.2 trial.[see comment]. *Lancet* 2003;361(9375):2099-106.

- 120. Polyzos A, Kosmas C, Toufexi H, et al. Docetaxel in combination with irinotecan (CPT-11) in platinum-resistant paclitaxel-pretreated ovarian cancer. *Anticancer Research* 2005;25(5):3559-64.
- 121. Berkenblit A, Seiden MV, Matulonis UA, et al. A phase II trial of weekly docetaxel in patients with platinum-resistant epithelial ovarian, primary peritoneal serous cancer, or fallopian tube cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;95(3):624-31.
- 122. Dieras V, Guastalla JP, Ferrero JM, et al. A multicenter phase II study of cisplatin and docetaxel (Taxotere) in the first-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer: a GINECO study. *Cancer Chemotherapy & Pharmacology* 2004;53(6):489-95.
- 123. Markman M, Webster K, Zanotti K, Peterson G, Kulp B, Belinson J. Survival following the documentation of platinum and taxane resistance in ovarian cancer: a single institution experience involving multiple phase 2 clinical trials.[see comment]. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;93(3):699-701.
- 124. Aravantinos G, Bafaloukos D, Fountzilas G, et al. Phase II study of docetaxel-vinorelbine in platinum-resistant, paclitaxel-pretreated ovarian cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2003;14(7):1094-9.
- 125. Markman M, Zanotti K, Webster K, Peterson G, Kulp B, Belinson J. Phase 2 trial of single agent docetaxel in platinum and paclitaxel-refractory ovarian cancer, fallopian tube cancer, and primary carcinoma of the peritoneum. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;91(3):573-6.
- 126. Rose PG, Blessing JA, Ball HG, et al. A phase II study of docetaxel in paclitaxel-resistant ovarian and peritoneal carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;88(2):130-5.
- 127. Vorobiof DA, Rapoport BL, Chasen MR, Cohen GL, Mahomed R, Karime M. Phase II clinical trial of carboplatin and docetaxel in patients with metastatic ovarian cancer: active combination with low incidence of peripheral neuropathy. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2003;13(3):287-91.
- 128. Laport GG, Fleming GF, Waggoner S, Zimmerman TM, Grinblatt DL, Williams SF. A phase II trial of docetaxel for peripheral blood stem cell mobilization for patients with breast cancer and ovarian cancer. *Bone Marrow Transplantation* 2001;27(7):677-81.
- 129. Markman M, Kennedy A, Webster K, Peterson G, Kulp B, Belinson J. Combination chemotherapy with carboplatin and docetaxel in the treatment of cancers of the ovary and fallopian tube and primary carcinoma of the peritoneum. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(7):1901-5.
- 130. Katsumata N, Tsunematsu R, Tanaka K, et al. A phase II trial of docetaxel in platinum pretreated patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a Japanese cooperative study. *Annals of Oncology* 2000;11(12):1531-6.
- 131. Vasey PA, Paul J, Birt A, et al. Docetaxel and cisplatin in combination as first-line chemotherapy for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Scottish Gynaecological Cancer Trials Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;17(7):2069-80.
- 132. Kavanagh JJ, Kudelka AP, de Leon CG, et al. Phase II study of docetaxel in patients with epithelial ovarian carcinoma refractory to platinum. *Clinical Cancer Research* 1996;2(5):837-42.
- 133. Kaye SB, Piccart M, Aapro M, Kavanagh J. Docetaxel in advanced ovarian cancer: preliminary results from three phase II trials. EORTC Early Clinical Trials Group and

- Clinical Screening Group, and the MD Anderson Cancer Center. *European Journal of Cancer* 1995;31A Suppl 4:S14-7.
- 134. Piccart MJ, Gore M, Ten Bokkel Huinink W, et al. Docetaxel: an active new drug for treatment of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1995;87(9):676-81.
- 135. Aapro M, Pujade-Lauraine E, Lhomme C., et al. EORTC clinical screening group: Phase II study of Taxotere (docetaxel) in ovarian cancer. *Ann Oncol* 1994;5(Suppl 5):202.
- 136. Fossella FV, Lee JS, Murphy WK, et al. Phase II study of docetaxel for recurrent or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1994;12(6):1238-44.
- 137. Francis P, Schneider J, Hann L, et al. Phase II trial of docetaxel in patients with platinum-refractory advanced ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1994;12(11):2301-8.
- 138. McGuire WP, Rowinsky EK, Rosenshein NB, et al. Taxol: a unique antineoplastic agent with significant activity in advanced ovarian epithelial neoplasms. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1989;111(4):273-9.
- 139. Pfisterer J, du Bois A, Wagner U, et al. Docetaxel and carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy in patients with advanced gynecological tumors. A phase I/II trial of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynakologische Onkologie (AGO-OVAR) Ovarian Cancer Study Group. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;92(3):949-56.
- 140. Komiyama S, Tsuji H, Asai S, Dokoh J, Ishikawa M, Mikami M. A pilot study of weekly docetaxel therapy for recurrent ovarian cancer, tubal cancer, and primary peritoneal cancer. *European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology* 2005;26(3):299-302.
- 141. Berkenblit A, Tung N, Kim Y, et al. Phase I trial of docetaxel, carboplatin, and gemcitabine as first-line therapy for patients with high-risk epithelial tumors of mullerian origin. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;89(3):486-93.
- 142. de Bree E, Romanos J, Michalakis J, et al. Intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with docetaxel as second-line treatment for peritoneal carcinomatosis of gynaecological origin. *Anticancer Research* 2003;23(3C):3019-27.
- 143. de Bree E, Rosing H, Beijnen JH, et al. Pharmacokinetic study of docetaxel in intraoperative hyperthermic i.p. chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2003;14(2):103-10.
- 144. Morgan RJ, Jr., Doroshow JH, Synold T, et al. Phase I trial of intraperitoneal docetaxel in the treatment of advanced malignancies primarily confined to the peritoneal cavity: dose-limiting toxicity and pharmacokinetics. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2003;9(16 Pt 1):5896-901.
- 145. Oishi T, Kigawa J, Fujiwara K, et al. A feasibility study on biweekly administration of docetaxel for patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;90(2):421-4.
- 146. Terauchi F, Hirano T, Taoka H, et al. Weekly docetaxel for patients with platinum/paclitaxel/irinotecan-resistant relapsed ovarian cancer: a phase I study. *International Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;8(6):348-51.
- 147. O'Neill VJ, Kaye SB, Reed NS, Paul J, Davis JA, Vasey PA. A dose-finding study of carboplatin-epirubicin-docetaxel in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2002;86(9):1385-90.
- 148. Vasey PA, Atkinson R, Coleman R, et al. Docetaxel-carboplatin as first line chemotherapy for epithelial ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2001;84(2):170-8.

- 149. Soulie P, Bensmaine A, Garrino C, et al. Oxaliplatin/cisplatin (L-OHP/CDDP) combination in heavily pretreated ovarian cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* 1997;33(9):1400-6.
- 150. Tomiak E, Piccart M, Kerger J, et al. Phase I study of docetaxel administered as a 1-hour intravenous infusion on a weekly basis. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1994;12(7):1458-67.
- 151. Huizing MT, Keung AC, Rosing H, et al. Pharmacokinetics of paclitaxel and metabolites in a randomized comparative study in platinum-pretreated ovarian cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1993;11(11):2127-35.
- 152. Pazdur R, Newman RA, Newman BM, et al. Phase I trial of Taxotere: five-day schedule. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1992;84(23):1781-8.
- 153. Brown J, Shvartsman HS, Deavers MT, et al. The activity of taxanes compared with bleomycin, etoposide, and cisplatin in the treatment of sex cord-stromal ovarian tumors. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;97(2):489-96.
- 154. Kuribayashi K, Matsunaga T, Sakai T, et al. A patient with TP53 germline mutation developed Bowen's disease and myelodysplastic syndrome with myelofibrosis after chemotherapy against ovarian cancer.[see comment]. *Internal Medicine* 2005;44(5):490-5.
- 155. Martino MA, Miller E, Grendys EC, Jr. The administration of chemotherapy in a patient with Charcot-Marie-Tooth and ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;97(2):710-2.
- 156. Montero A, Fossella F, Hortobagyi G, Valero V. Docetaxel for treatment of solid tumours: a systematic review of clinical data. *Lancet Oncology* 2005;6(4):229-39.
- 157. Watanabe A, Shimada M, Kigawa J, et al. The benefit of chemotherapy in a patient with multiple brain metastases and meningitis carcinomatosa from ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;10(1):69-71.
- 158. Brown J, Shvartsman HS, Deavers MT, Burke TW, Munsell MF, Gershenson DM. The activity of taxanes in the treatment of sex cord-stromal ovarian tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(17):3517-23.
- 159. Hsu Y, Sood AK, Sorosky JI. Docetaxel versus paclitaxel for adjuvant treatment of ovarian cancer: case-control analysis of toxicity. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;27(1):14-8.
- 160. Finsterer J, Bodenteich A, Drlicek M. Atypical paraneoplastic syndrome associated with anti-Yo antibodies. *Clinical Neuropathology* 2003;22(3):137-40.
- 161. Komiyama S, Mizusawa Y, Onouchi M, Takehara K, Suzuki A, Mikami M. Effective weekly docetaxel for recurrent ovarian cancer: A case report. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2003;13(5):683-6.
- 162. McNally OM, Delaney E, Petty RD, Cruickshank ME, Hutcheon AW, Parkin DE. Is optimal first-line chemotherapy deliverable in all newly diagnosed ovarian cancers? A population-based study.[comment]. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003;89(6):966-7.
- 163. Niwa Y, Nakanishi T, Kuzuya K, Nawa A, Mizutani S. Salvage treatment with docetaxel for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;8(6):343-7.
- 164. Aoki Y, Sato T, Tsuneki I, et al. Docetaxel in combination with carboplatin for chemonaive patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2002;12(6):704-9.
- 165. Hirai K, Ishiko O, Nakajima S, et al. Local erythematous dermatitis after intravenous docetaxel. *Gynecologic & Obstetric Investigation* 2002;53(2):118-20.

- 166. Jeyakumar A, Chalas E, Hindenburg A. Sustained complete remission in a patient with platinum-resistant ovarian yolk sac tumor. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2001;82(3):578-80.
- 167. Kouroussis C, Samonis G, Androulakis N, et al. Successful conservative treatment of neutropenic enterocolitis complicating taxane-based chemotherapy: a report of five cases. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;23(3):309-13.
- 168. Lister-Sharp D, McDonagh MS, Khan KS, Kleijnen J. A rapid and systematic review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the taxanes used in the treatment of advanced breast and ovarian cancer. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)* 2000;4(17):1-113.
- 169. Verschraegen CF, Sittisomwong T, Kudelka AP, et al. Docetaxel for patients with paclitaxel-resistant Mullerian carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;18(14):2733-9.
- 170. Benjapibal M, Kudelka AP, Vasuratna A, et al. Docetaxel and cyclophosphamide induced remission in platinum and paclitaxel refractory ovarian cancer. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 1998;9(6):577-9.
- 171. Eisenhauer EA, Vermorken JB. The taxoids. Comparative clinical pharmacology and therapeutic potential. *Drugs* 1998;55(1):5-30.
- 172. Balat O, Kudelka AP, Edwards CL, Verschraegen CF, Kavanagh JJ. Prolonged remission of platinum-refractory ovarian cancer with docetaxel: brief report and review of literature. *European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology* 1997;18(5):341-2.
- 173. Behar A, Pujade-Lauraine E, Maurel A, et al. The pathophysiological mechanism of fluid retention in advanced cancer patients treated with docetaxel, but not receiving corticosteroid comedication. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 1997;43(6):653-8.
- 174. Kaye SB, Piccart M, Aapro M, Francis P, Kavanagh J. Phase II trials of docetaxel (Taxotere) in advanced ovarian cancer--an updated overview. *European Journal of Cancer* 1997;33(13):2167-70.
- 175. Eisenhauer EA, Vermorken JB. New drugs in gynecologic oncology. *Current Opinion in Oncology* 1996;8(5):408-14.
- 176. Sweeten KM, Gershenson DM, Burke TW, Morris M, Levenback C, Silva EG. Salvage chemotherapy for refractory transitional cell carcinoma of the ovary (TCC). *Gynecologic Oncology* 1995;59(2):211-5.
- 177. Kavanagh J, Kudelka A, Freedman R, al. e. Taxotere (docetaxel): Activity in platin refractory ovarian cancer and amelioration of toxicity. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncology* 1994:13:237.
- 178. Anonymous. Program Abstracts [citation per DRUGDEX, unable to confirm]. *European Congress of Clinical Oncology (ECCO), Jerusalem, Israel* 1993.
- 179. Pazdur R, Kudelka AP, Kavanagh JJ, Cohen PR, Raber MN. The taxoids: paclitaxel (Taxol) and docetaxel (Taxotere). *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 1993;19(4):351-86.
- 180. Rowinsky EK, Onetto N, Canetta RM, Arbuck SG. Taxol: the first of the taxanes, an important new class of antitumor agents. *Seminars in Oncology* 1992;19(6):646-62.
- 181. Kornek GV, Schuell B, Laengle F, et al. Mitomycin C in combination with capecitabine or biweekly high-dose gemcitabine in patients with advanced biliary tract cancer: a randomised phase II trial. *Annals of Oncology* 2004;15(3):478-83.
- 182. Gebbia V, Giuliani F, Maiello E, et al. Treatment of inoperable and/or metastatic biliary tree carcinomas with single-agent gemcitabine or in combination with levofolinic acid and

- infusional fluorouracil: results of a multicenter phase II study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(20):4089-91.
- 183. Doval DC, Sekhon JS, Gupta SK, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine and cisplatin in chemotherapy-naive, unresectable gall bladder cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004;90(8):1516-20.
- 184. Alberts SR, Al-Khatib H, Mahoney MR, et al. Gemcitabine, 5-fluorouracil, and leucovorin in advanced biliary tract and gallbladder carcinoma: a North Central Cancer Treatment Group phase II trial. *Cancer* 2005;103(1):111-8.
- 185. Cho JY, Paik YH, Chang YS, et al. Capecitabine combined with gemcitabine (CapGem) as first-line treatment in patients with advanced/metastatic biliary tract carcinoma. *Cancer* 2005;104(12):2753-8.
- 186. Gelibter A, Malaguti P, Di Cosimo S, et al. Fixed dose-rate gemcitabine infusion as first-line treatment for advanced-stage carcinoma of the pancreas and biliary tree. *Cancer* 2005;104(6):1237-45.
- 187. Knox JJ, Hedley D, Oza A, et al. Combining gemcitabine and capecitabine in patients with advanced biliary cancer: a phase II trial.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(10):2332-8.
- 188. Park J-S, Oh S-Y, Kim S-H, et al. Single-agent gemcitabine in the treatment of advanced biliary tract cancers: a phase II study. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;35(2):68-73.
- 189. Thongprasert S, Napapan S, Charoentum C, Moonprakan S. Phase II study of gemcitabine and cisplatin as first-line chemotherapy in inoperable biliary tract carcinoma. *Annals of Oncology* 2005;16(2):279-81.
- 190. Andre T, Tournigand C, Rosmorduc O, et al. Gemcitabine combined with oxaliplatin (GEMOX) in advanced biliary tract adenocarcinoma: a GERCOR study. *Annals of Oncology* 2004;15(9):1339-43.
- 191. Eng C, Ramathan RK, Wong MK, et al. A Phase II trial of fixed dose rate gemcitabine in patients with advanced biliary tree carcinoma. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;27(6):565-9.
- 192. Hsu C, Shen YC, Yang CH, et al. Weekly gemcitabine plus 24-h infusion of high-dose 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin for locally advanced or metastatic carcinoma of the biliary tract. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004;90(9):1715-9.
- 193. Tsavaris N, Kosmas C, Gouveris P, et al. Weekly gemcitabine for the treatment of biliary tract and gallbladder cancer. *Investigational New Drugs* 2004;22(2):193-8.
- 194. Lin M-H, Chen J-S, Chen HHW, Su W-C. A phase II trial of gemcitabine in the treatment of advanced bile duct and periampullary carcinomas. *Chemotherapy* 2003;49(3):154-8.
- 195. Malik IA, Aziz Z, Zaidi SHM, Sethuraman G. Gemcitabine and Cisplatin is a highly effective combination chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancer of the gallbladder. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;26(2):174-7.
- 196. Murad AM, Guimaraes RC, Aragao BC, et al. Phase II trial of the use of gemcitabine and 5-fluorouracil in the treatment of advanced pancreatic and biliary tract cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;26(2):151-4.
- 197. Kuhn R, Hribaschek A, Eichelmann K, Rudolph S, Fahlke J, Ridwelski K. Outpatient therapy with gemcitabine and docetaxel for gallbladder, biliary, and cholangio-carcinomas. *Investigational New Drugs* 2002;20(3):351-6.

- 198. Gallardo JO, Rubio B, Fodor M, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine in gallbladder carcinoma.[see comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(10):1403-6.
- 199. Kubicka S, Rudolph KL, Tietze MK, Lorenz M, Manns M. Phase II study of systemic gemcitabine chemotherapy for advanced unresectable hepatobiliary carcinomas. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 2001;48(39):783-9.
- 200. Penz M, Kornek GV, Raderer M, et al. Phase II trial of two-weekly gemcitabine in patients with advanced biliary tract cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(2):183-6.
- 201. Raderer M, Hejna MH, Valencak JB, et al. Two consecutive phase II studies of 5-fluorouracil/leucovorin/mitomycin C and of gemcitabine in patients with advanced biliary cancer. *Oncology* 1999;56(3):177-80.
- 202. Valencak JB, Kornek GV, Raderer M, et al. Gemcitabine for the treatment of advanced biliary tract carcinomas: evaluation of two different dose regimens. *Onkologie* 1999;22:498-501.
- 203. Mezger J, Sauerbruch T, Ko Y, Wolter F, Funk C, Glasmacher A. Phase II study with gemcitabine in gallbladder and biliary tract carcinoma. *Onkologie* 1998;21:232-4.
- 204. Eckel F, Lersch C, Assmann G, Schulte-Frohlinde E. Toxicity of a 24-hour infusion of gemcitabine in biliary tract and pancreatic cancer: a pilot study. *Cancer Investigation* 2002;20(2):180-5.
- 205. Zanon C, Alabiso O, Grosso M, et al. Intra-arterial continuous infusion for treatment of pancreatic and biliary tract cancer. *International Journal of Pancreatology* 2000;27(3):225-33.
- 206. Knox JJ, Hedley D, Oza A, Siu LL, Pond GR, Moore MJ. Gemcitabine concurrent with continuous infusional 5-fluorouracil in advanced biliary cancers: a review of the Princess Margaret Hospital experience. *Annals of Oncology* 2004;15(5):770-4.
- 207. Price P. Cholangiocarcinoma and the role of radiation and chemotherapy. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 2001;48(37):51-2.
- 208. Bokemeyer C, Kollmannsberger C, Oettle H, Kanz L. [Current aspects of chemotherapy of metastatic pancreatic and biliary tract carcinomas]. *Schweizerische Rundschau fur Medizin Praxis* 2000;89(39):1545-52.
- 209. Gallardo J, Rubio B, Ahumada M, Cortes C. [Efficacy of gemcitabine in the gallbladder cancer. Initial experience in 4 cases]. *Revista Medica de Chile* 2000;128(9):1025-30.
- 210. Teufel A, Lehnert T, Stremmel W, Rudi J. Chemotherapy with gemcitabine in patients with advanced gallbladder carcinoma. *Zeitschrift fur Gastroenterologie* 2000;38(11):909-12.
- 211. Verderame F, Mandina P, Abruzzo F, Scarpulla M, Di Leo R. Biliary tract cancer: our experience with gemcitabine treatment. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2000;11(9):707-8.
- 212. Castro MP. Efficacy of gemcitabine in the treatment of patients with gallbladder carcinoma: a case report.[see comment]. *Cancer* 1998;82(4):639-41.
- 213. Gallardo J, Fodor M, Gamargo C, Orlandi L. Efficacy of gemcitabine in the treatment of patients with gallbladder carcinoma: a case report.[comment]. *Cancer* 1998;83(11):2419-21.
- 214. Hejna M, Pruckmayer M, Raderer M. The role of chemotherapy and radiation in the management of biliary cancer: a review of the literature. *European Journal of Cancer* 1998;34(7):977-86.
- 215. von der Maase H, Hansen SW, Roberts JT, et al. Gemcitabine and cisplatin versus methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin, and cisplatin in advanced or metastatic bladder

- cancer: results of a large, randomized, multinational, multicenter, phase III study.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;18(17):3068-77.
- 216. von der Maase H, Sengelov L, Roberts JT, et al. Long-term survival results of a randomized trial comparing gemcitabine plus cisplatin, with methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin, plus cisplatin in patients with bladder cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(21):4602-8.
- 217. Hoshi S, Ohyama C, Ono K, et al. Gemcitabine plus carboplatin; and gemcitabine, docetaxel, and carboplatin combined chemotherapy regimens in patients with metastatic urothelial carcinoma previously treated with a platinum-based regimen: preliminary report. *International Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;9(2):125-9.
- 218. Lorusso V, Crucitta E, Silvestris N, et al. Randomised, open-label, phase II trial of paclitaxel, gemcitabine and cisplatin versus gemcitabine and cisplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced transitional cell carcinoma of the urothelium. *Oncology Reports* 2005;13(2):283-7.
- 219. Hussain M, Vaishampayan U, Du W, Redman B, Smith DC. Combination paclitaxel, carboplatin, and gemcitabine is an active treatment for advanced urothelial cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(9):2527-33.
- 220. Sternberg CN, Calabro F, Pizzocaro G, Marini L, Schnetzer S, Sella A. Chemotherapy with an every-2-week regimen of gemcitabine and paclitaxel in patients with transitional cell carcinoma who have received prior cisplatin-based therapy. *Cancer* 2001;92(12):2993-8.
- 221. Ardavanis A, Tryfonopoulos D, Alexopoulos A, Kandylis C, Lainakis G, Rigatos G. Gemcitabine and docetaxel as first-line treatment for advanced urothelial carcinoma: a phase II study. *British Journal of Cancer* 2005;92(4):645-50.
- 222. Artz A, Stadler WM, Vogelzang NJ, Zimmerman T, Ryan C. A phase II trial of sequential chemotherapy with docetaxel and methotrexate followed by gemcitabine and cisplatin for metastatic urothelial cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;28(2):109-13.
- 223. Hainsworth JD, Meluch AA, Litchy S, et al. Paclitaxel, carboplatin, and gemcitabine in the treatment of patients with advanced transitional cell carcinoma of the urothelium. *Cancer* 2005;103(11):2298-303.
- 224. Li J, Juliar B, Yiannoutsos C, et al. Weekly paclitaxel and gemcitabine in advanced transitional-cell carcinoma of the urothelium: a phase II Hoosier Oncology Group study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(6):1185-91.
- 225. Srinivas S, Guardino AE. A nonplatinum combination in metastatic transitional cell carcinoma. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;28(2):114-8.
- 226. Castagneto B, Zai S, Marenco D, et al. Single-agent gemcitabine in previously untreated elderly patients with advanced bladder carcinoma: response to treatment and correlation with the comprehensive geriatric assessment. *Oncology* 2004;67(1):27-32.
- 227. Kaufman DS, Carducci MA, Kuzel TM, et al. A multi-institutional phase II trial of gemcitabine plus paclitaxel in patients with locally advanced or metastatic urothelial cancer. *Urologic Oncology* 2004;22(5):393-7.
- 228. Linardou H, Aravantinos G, Efstathiou E, et al. Gemcitabine and carboplatin combination as first-line treatment in elderly patients and those unfit for cisplatin-based chemotherapy with advanced bladder carcinoma: Phase II study of the Hellenic Co-operative Oncology Group. *Urology* 2004;64(3):479-84.
- 229. Gitlitz BJ, Baker C, Chapman Y, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine and docetaxel therapy in patients with advanced urothelial carcinoma. *Cancer* 2003;98(9):1863-9.

- 230. Mallick JA, Ali SA, Siddiqui N, Fareed A. Impact of Gemcitabine and Cisplatin with radiotherapy in locally advanced or metastatic transitional cell carcinoma of urinary bladder. *JPMA Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association* 2003;53(11):547-52.
- 231. Turkolmez K, Beduk Y, Baltaci S, Gogus C, Gogus O. Gemcitabine plus vinorelbine chemotherapy in patients with advanced bladder carcinoma who are medically unsuitable for or who have failed cisplatin-based chemotherapy. *European Urology* 2003;44(6):682-6.
- 232. Albers P, Siener R, Hartlein M, et al. Gemcitabine monotherapy as second-line treatment in cisplatin-refractory transitional cell carcinoma prognostic factors for response and improvement of quality of life. *Onkologie* 2002;25(1):47-52.
- 233. Neri B, Doni L, Fulignati C, et al. Gemcitabine plus Epi-doxorubicin as first-line chemotherapy for bladder cancer in advanced or metastatic stage: a phase II. *Anticancer Research* 2002;22(5):2981-4.
- 234. Pectasides D, Glotsos J, Bountouroglou N, et al. Weekly chemotherapy with docetaxel, gemcitabine and cisplatin in advanced transitional cell urothelial cancer: a phase II trial. *Annals of Oncology* 2002;13(2):243-50.
- 235. Ricci S, Galli L, Chioni A, et al. Gemcitabine plus epirubicin in patients with advanced urothelial carcinoma who are not eligible for platinum-based regimens. *Cancer* 2002;95(7):1444-50.
- 236. Meluch AA, Greco FA, Burris HA, 3rd, et al. Paclitaxel and gemcitabine chemotherapy for advanced transitional-cell carcinoma of the urothelial tract: a phase II trial of the Minnie pearl cancer research network. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(12):3018-24.
- 237. Carles J, Nogue M, Domenech M, et al. Carboplatin-gemcitabine treatment of patients with transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder and impaired renal function. *Oncology* 2000;59(1):24-7.
- 238. Delord JP, Raymond E, Chaouche M, et al. A dose-finding study of gemcitabine and vinorelbine in advanced previously treated malignancies. *Annals of Oncology* 2000:11(1):73-9.
- 239. Khaled HM, Hamza MR, Mansour O, Gaafar R, Zaghloul MS. A phase II study of gemcitabine plus cisplatin chemotherapy in advanced bilharzial bladder carcinoma. *European Journal of Cancer* 2000;36 Suppl 2:34-7.
- 240. Lorusso V, Manzione L, De Vita F, Antimi M, Selvaggi FP, De Lena M. Gemcitabine plus cisplatin for advanced transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary tract: a phase II multicenter trial. *Journal of Urology* 2000;164(1):53-6.
- 241. Moore MJ, Winquist EW, Murray N, et al. Gemcitabine plus cisplatin, an active regimen in advanced urothelial cancer: a phase II trial of the National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;17(9):2876-81.
- 242. Lorusso V, Pollera CF, Antimi M, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine in patients with transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary tract previously treated with platinum. Italian Co-operative Group on Bladder Cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* 1998;34(8):1208-12.
- 243. Moore MJ, Tannock IF, Ernst DS, Huan S, Murray N. Gemcitabine: a promising new agent in the treatment of advanced urothelial cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1997;15(12):3441-5.

- 244. Stadler WM, Kuzel T, Roth B, Raghavan D, Dorr FA. Phase II study of single-agent gemcitabine in previously untreated patients with metastatic urothelial cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1997;15(11):3394-8.
- 245. Hussain SA, Stocken DD, Riley P, et al. A phase I/II study of gemcitabine and fractionated cisplatin in an outpatient setting using a 21-day schedule in patients with advanced and metastatic bladder cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004;91(5):844-9.
- 246. Bellmunt J, Albanell J, Paz-Ares L, et al. Pretreatment prognostic factors for survival in patients with advanced urothelial tumors treated in a phase I/II trial with paclitaxel, cisplatin, and gemcitabine. *Cancer* 2002;95(4):751-7.
- 247. Sangar VK, McBain CA, Lyons J, et al. Phase I study of conformal radiotherapy with concurrent gemcitabine in locally advanced bladder cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 2005;61(2):420-5.
- 248. Herman JM, Smith DC, Montie J, et al. Prospective quality-of-life assessment in patients receiving concurrent gemcitabine and radiotherapy as a bladder preservation strategy. *Urology* 2004;64(1):69-73.
- 249. Kent E, Sandler H, Montie J, et al. Combined-modality therapy with gemcitabine and radiotherapy as a bladder preservation strategy: results of a phase I trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(13):2540-5.
- 250. Caffo O, Fellin G, Graffer U, et al. Phase I study of gemcitabine and radiotherapy plus cisplatin after transurethral resection as conservative treatment for infiltrating bladder cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 2003;57(5):1310-6.
- 251. Culine S, Rebillard X, Iborra F, et al. Gemcitabine and oxaliplatin in advanced transitional cell carcinoma of the urothelium: a pilot study. *Anticancer Research* 2003;23(2C):1903-6.
- 252. DiPaola RS, Rubin E, Toppmeyer D, et al. Gemcitabine combined with sequential paclitaxel and carboplatin in patients with urothelial cancers and other advanced malignancies. *Medical Science Monitor* 2003;9(2):PI5-11.
- 253. Meliani E, Lapini A, Serni S, Corvino C, Carini M. Gemcitabine plus cisplatin in adjuvant regimen for bladder cancer. Toxicity evaluation. *Urologia Internationalis* 2003;71(1):37-40.
- 254. Bellmunt J, de Wit R, Albanell J, Baselga J. A feasibility study of carboplatin with fixed dose of gemcitabine in "unfit" patients with advanced bladder cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* 2001;37(17):2212-5.
- 255. Bhargava P, Marshall J, Fried K, et al. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of two sequences of gemcitabine and docetaxel administered weekly to patients with advanced cancer. *Cancer Chemotherapy & Pharmacology* 2001;48(2):95-103.
- 256. Millikan RE, Plunkett WK, Smith TL, Williams DL, Logothetis CJ. Gemcitabine modulation of alkylator therapy: a phase I trial of escalating gemcitabine added to fixed doses of ifosfamide and doxorubicin. *Cancer* 2001;92(1):194-9.
- 257. Pollera CF, Ceribelli A, Crecco M, Calabresi F. Weekly gemcitabine in advanced bladder cancer: a preliminary report from a phase I study. *Annals of Oncology* 1994;5(2):182-4.
- 258. Bamias A, Efstathiou E, Moulopoulos LA, et al. The outcome of elderly patients with advanced urothelial carcinoma after platinum-based combination chemotherapy.[see comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 2005;16(2):307-13.

- 259. Roychowdhury DF, Hayden A, Liepa AM. Health-related quality-of-life parameters as independent prognostic factors in advanced or metastatic bladder cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;21(4):673-8.
- 260. Stadler WM, Hayden A, von der Maase H, et al. Long-term survival in phase II trials of gemcitabine plus cisplatin for advanced transitional cell cancer. *Urologic Oncology* 2002;7(4):153-7.
- 261. Anonymous. Drugs for cancer. *Medical Letter on Drugs & Therapeutics* 2000;42(1087-1088):83-92.
- 262. Roth BJ. Chemotherapy for advanced bladder cancer. *Seminars in Oncology* 1996;23(5):633-44.
- 263. Pfisterer J, Vergote I, Du Bois A, et al. Combination therapy with gemcitabine and carboplatin in recurrent ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2005;15 Suppl 1:36-41.
- 264. Liu F-S, Ho ES-C, Hung M-J, Hwang S-F, Lu C-H, Ke Y-M. Triplet combination of gemcitabine, carboplatin, and paclitaxel in previously treated, relapsed ovarian and peritoneal carcinoma: an experience in Taiwan. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;94(2):393-7.
- 265. Micha JP, Goldstein BH, Rettenmaier MA, et al. Pilot study of outpatient paclitaxel, carboplatin and gemcitabine for advanced stage epithelial ovarian, peritoneal, and fallopian tube cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;94(3):719-24.
- 266. Lund B, Hansen OP, Theilade K, Hansen M, Neijt JP. Phase II study of gemcitabine (2',2'-difluorodeoxycytidine) in previously treated ovarian cancer patients. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1994;86(20):1530-3.
- 267. Vasey PA, Atkinson R, Osborne R, et al. SCOTROC 2A: carboplatin followed by docetaxel or docetaxel-gemcitabine as first-line chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2006;94(1):62-8.
- 268. du Bois A, Belau A, Wagner U, et al. A phase II study of paclitaxel, carboplatin, and gemcitabine in previously untreated patients with epithelial ovarian cancer FIGO stage IC-IV (AGO-OVAR protocol OVAR-8). *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;96(2):444-51.
- 269. Ferrandina G, Paris I, Ludovisi M, et al. Gemcitabine and liposomal doxorubicin in the salvage treatment of ovarian cancer: updated results and long-term survival. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;98(2):267-73.
- 270. Gupta SK, John S, Naik R, et al. A multicenter phase II study of gemcitabine, paclitaxel, and cisplatin in chemonaive advanced ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;98(1):134-40.
- 271. Kose MF, Sufliarsky J, Beslija S, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine plus carboplatin in platinum-sensitive, recurrent ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2005;96(2):374-80.
- 272. Garcia AA, O'Meara A, Bahador A, et al. Phase II study of gemcitabine and weekly paclitaxel in recurrent platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;93(2):493-8.
- 273. Harries M, Moss C, Perren T, et al. A phase II feasibility study of carboplatin followed by sequential weekly paclitaxel and gemcitabine as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004;91(4):627-32.
- 274. Papadimitriou CA, Fountzilas G, Aravantinos G, et al. Second-line chemotherapy with gemcitabine and carboplatin in paclitaxel-pretreated, platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer

- patients. A Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group Study. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;92(1):152-9.
- 275. Bauknecht T, Hefti A, Morack G, et al. Gemcitabine combined with cisplatin as first-line treatment in patients 60 years or older with epithelial ovarian cancer: a phase II study.[see comment]. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2003;13(2):130-7.
- 276. Belpomme D, Krakowski I, Beauduin M, et al. Gemcitabine combined with cisplatin as first-line treatment in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer: a phase II study. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;91(1):32-8.
- 277. D'Agostino G, Ferrandina G, Ludovisi M, et al. Phase II study of liposomal doxorubicin and gemcitabine in the salvage treatment of ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003;89(7):1180-4.
- 278. D'Agostino G, Amant F, Berteloot P, Scambia G, Vergote I. Phase II study of gemcitabine in recurrent platinum-and paclitaxel-resistant ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;88(3):266-9.
- 279. Markman M, Webster K, Zanotti K, Kulp B, Peterson G, Belinson J. Phase 2 trial of single-agent gemcitabine in platinum-paclitaxel refractory ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;90(3):593-6.
- 280. Nagourney RA, Brewer CA, Radecki S, et al. Phase II trial of gemcitabine plus cisplatin repeating doublet therapy in previously treated, relapsed ovarian cancer patients. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2003;88(1):35-9.
- 281. Nogue M, Cirera L, Arcusa A, et al. Phase II study of gemcitabine and cisplatin in chemonaive patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2002;13(8):839-45.
- 282. Sehouli J, Stengel D, Oskay G, et al. A phase II study of topotecan plus gemcitabine in the treatment of patients with relapsed ovarian cancer after failure of first-line chemotherapy. *Annals of Oncology* 2002;13(11):1749-55.
- 283. Underhill CR, Parnis FX, Highley MS, et al. Multicenter phase II study of gemcitabine in previously untreated patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 2001;12(8):647-52.
- 284. Silver DF, Piver MS. Gemcitabine salvage chemotherapy for patients with gynecologic malignancies of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;22(5):450-2.
- 285. von Minckwitz G, Bauknecht T, Visseren-Grul CM, Neijt JP. Phase II study of gemcitabine in ovarian cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 1999;10(7):853-5.
- 286. Friedlander M, Millward MJ, Bell D, et al. A phase II study of gemcitabine in platinum pretreated patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer.[see comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 1998;9(12):1343-5.
- 287. Lund B, Hansen OP, Neijt JP, Theilade K, Hansen M. Phase II study of gemcitabine in previously platinum-treated ovarian cancer patients. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 1995;6 Suppl 6:61-2.
- 288. Barlow C, Nystrom M, Oesterling C, Fennell D, Ismay J, Gallagher C. Dose intense triplet chemotherapy with gemcitabine, carboplatin, paclitaxel with peripheral blood progenitor cell support for six cycles in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004;90(7):1318-22.

- 289. Sabbatini P, Aghajanian C, Leitao M, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin with intraperitoneal gemcitabine in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer: results of a phase I/II Trial. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2004;10(9):2962-7.
- 290. Greggi S, Salerno MG, D'Agostino G, et al. Topotecan and gemcitabine in platinum/paclitaxel-resistant ovarian cancer. *Oncology* 2001;60(1):19-23.
- 291. Look KY, Bookman MA, Schol J, et al. Phase I feasibility trial of carboplatin, paclitaxel, and gemcitabine in patients with previously untreated epithelial ovarian or primary peritoneal cancer: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;92(1):93-100.
- 292. Sehouli J, Stengel D, Oskay G, Blohmer J, Kaubitzsch S, Lichtenegger W. A new therapeutical approach: topotecan plus gemcitabine in the treatment of patients with relapsed ovarian cancer after failure of first-line chemotherapy with paclitaxel and platinum. *Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Research* 2003;29(3):123-31.
- 293. D'Agostino G, Ferrandina G, Garganese G, et al. Phase I study of gemcitabine and liposomal doxorubicin in relapsed ovarian cancer. *Oncology* 2002;62(2):110-4.
- 294. Fracasso PM, Rader JS, Govindan R, et al. Phase I study of rubitecan and gemcitabine in patients with advanced malignancies. *Annals of Oncology* 2002;13(11):1819-25.
- 295. du Bois A, Luck HJ, Pfisterer J, et al. Second-line carboplatin and gemcitabine in platinum sensitive ovarian cancer--a dose-finding study by the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynakologische Onkologie (AGO) Ovarian Cancer Study Group. *Annals of Oncology* 2001;12(8):1115-20.
- 296. Iaffaioli RV, Tortoriello A, Santangelo M, et al. Phase I dose escalation study of gemcitabine and paclitaxel plus colony-stimulating factors in previously treated patients with advanced breast and ovarian cancer. *Clinical Oncology (Royal College of Radiologists)* 2000;12(4):251-5.
- 297. Pignata S, Varriale E, Casella G, et al. A phase I study of gemcitabine and epirubicin for the treatment of platinum-resistant or refractory advanced ovarian cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2000;11(5):613-6.
- 298. Shapiro JD, Millward MJ, Rischin D, et al. Activity of gemcitabine in patients with advanced ovarian cancer: responses seen following platinum and paclitaxel. *Gynecologic Oncology* 1996;63(1):89-93.
- 299. Rose PG. Gemcitabine reverses platinum resistance in platinum-resistant ovarian and peritoneal carcinoma. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 2005;15 Suppl 1:18-22.
- 300. Geisler JP, Schraith DF, Manahan KJ, Sorosky JI. Gemcitabine associated vasculitis leading to necrotizing enterocolitis and death in women undergoing primary treatment for epithelial ovarian/peritoneal cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;92(2):705-7.
- 301. Prasad M, Ben-Porat L, Hoppe B, et al. Costs of treatment and outcomes associated with second-line therapy and greater for relapsed ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;93(1):223-8.
- 302. Tewari D, Monk BJ, Hunter M, Falkner CA, Burger RA. Gemcitabine and cisplatin chemotherapy is an active combination in the treatment of platinum-resistant ovarian and peritoneal carcinoma. *Investigational New Drugs* 2004;22(4):475-80.
- 303. Villella J, Marchetti D, Odunsi K, Rodabaugh K, Driscoll DL, Lele S. Response of combination platinum and gemcitabine chemotherapy for recurrent epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecologic Oncology* 2004;95(3):539-45.

- 304. Bilgin T, Ozalp S, Yalcin OT, Zorlu G, Vardar MA, Ozerkan K. Efficacy of gemcitabine in heavily pretreated advanced ovarian cancer patients. *European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology* 2003;24(2):169-70.
- 305. National Cancer Institute. Bladder Cancer.: National Cancer Institute, 2001.
- 306. Gerson R, Serrano A, Dolengevich H, Villalobos A. [Chemotherapy in germinal and epithelial ovarian cancer]. *Ginecologia y Obstetricia de Mexico* 2000;68:165-70.
- 307. Eisenhauer EA, Vermorken JB, van Glabbeke M. Predictors of response to subsequent chemotherapy in platinum pretreated ovarian cancer: a multivariate analysis of 704 patients [seecomments][see comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 1997;8(10):963-8.
- 308. Kaufmann M, von Minckwitz G. Gemcitabine in ovarian cancer: an overview of safety and efficacy. *European Journal of Cancer* 1997;33 Suppl 1:S31-3.
- 309. Pedersen AG. Phase I studies of gemcitabine combined with carboplatin or paclitaxel. *Seminars in Oncology* 1997;24(2 Suppl 7):S7-64-S7-68.
- 310. Martin C, Lund B, Anderson H, Thatcher N. Gemcitabine: once-weekly schedule active and better tolerated than twice-weekly schedule. *Anti-Cancer Drugs* 1996;7(3):351-7.
- 311. Byrd JC, Peterson BL, Morrison VA, et al. Randomized phase 2 study of fludarabine with concurrent versus sequential treatment with rituximab in symptomatic, untreated patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results from Cancer and Leukemia Group B 9712 (CALGB 9712).[see comment]. *Blood* 2003;101(1):6-14.
- 312. Tothova E, Kafkova A, Guman T, Stecova N, Fricova M. Efficiency of in vivo purging with autologous stem cell transplantation and monoclonal antibody in B-cell lymphomas. *Neoplasma* 2003;50(1):22-5.
- 313. Del Poeta G, Del Principe MI, Consalvo MAI, et al. The addition of rituximab to fludarabine improves clinical outcome in untreated patients with ZAP-70-negative chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* 2005;104(12):2743-52.
- 314. Keating MJ, O'Brien S, Albitar M, et al. Early results of a chemoimmunotherapy regimen of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab as initial therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(18):4079-88.
- 315. Khouri IF, Lee M-S, Saliba RM, et al. Nonablative allogeneic stem cell transplantation for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: impact of rituximab on immunomodulation and survival. *Experimental Hematology* 2004;32(1):28-35.
- 316. Tsiara SN, Kapsali HD, Chaidos A, Christou L, Bourantas KL. Treatment of resistant/relapsing chronic lymphocytic leukemia with a combination regimen containing deoxycoformycin and rituximab. *Acta Haematologica* 2004;111(4):185-8.
- 317. Hainsworth JD, Litchy S, Barton JH, et al. Single-agent rituximab as first-line and maintenance treatment for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia or small lymphocytic lymphoma: a phase II trial of the Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2003;21(9):1746-51.
- 318. Tsimberidou AM, Kantarjian HM, Cortes J, et al. Fractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, liposomal daunorubicin, and dexamethasone plus rituximab and granulocytemacrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) alternating with methotrexate and cytarabine plus rituximab and GM-CSF in patients with Richter syndrome or fludarabine-refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* 2003;97(7):1711-20.
- 319. Itala M, Geisler CH, Kimby E, et al. Standard-dose anti-CD20 antibody rituximab has efficacy in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: results from a Nordic multicentre study. *European Journal of Haematology* 2002;69(3):129-34.

- 320. Schulz H, Klein SK, Rehwald U, et al. Phase 2 study of a combined immunochemotherapy using rituximab and fludarabine in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 2002;100(9):3115-20.
- 321. Huhn D, von Schilling C, Wilhelm M, et al. Rituximab therapy of patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia.[see comment]. *Blood* 2001;98(5):1326-31.
- 322. Hainsworth JD, Burris HA, 3rd, Morrissey LH, et al. Rituximab monoclonal antibody as initial systemic therapy for patients with low-grade non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* 2000;95(10):3052-6.
- 323. Ladetto M, Bergui L, Ricca I, Campana S, Pileri A, Tarella C. Rituximab anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody induces marked but transient reductions of peripheral blood lymphocytes in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia patients. *Medical Oncology* 2000;17(3):203-10.
- 324. Nguyen DT, Amess JA, Doughty H, Hendry L, Diamond LW. IDEC-C2B8 anti-CD20 (rituximab) immunotherapy in patients with low-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and lymphoproliferative disorders: evaluation of response on 48 patients. *European Journal of Haematology* 1999;62(2):76-82.
- 325. Wierda W, O'Brien S, Wen S, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab for relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia.[see comment]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;23(18):4070-8.
- 326. Weide R, Pandorf A, Heymanns J, Koppler H. Bendamustine/Mitoxantrone/Rituximab (BMR): a very effective, well tolerated outpatient chemoimmunotherapy for relapsed and refractory CD20-positive indolent malignancies. Final results of a pilot study. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2004;45(12):2445-9.
- 327. Savage DG, Cohen NS, Hesdorffer CS, et al. Combined fludarabine and rituximab for low grade lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2003;44(3):477-81.
- 328. Byrd JC, Murphy T, Howard RS, et al. Rituximab using a thrice weekly dosing schedule in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma demonstrates clinical activity and acceptable toxicity. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(8):2153-64.
- 329. Winkler U, Jensen M, Manzke O, Schulz H, Diehl V, Engert A. Cytokine-release syndrome in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and high lymphocyte counts after treatment with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab, IDEC-C2B8). *Blood* 1999;94(7):2217-24.
- 330. Perz J, Topaly J, Fruehauf S, Hensel M, Ho AD. Level of CD 20-expression and efficacy of rituximab treatment in patients with resistant or relapsing B-cell prolymphocytic leukemia and B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2002;43(1):149-51.
- 331. O'Brien SM, Kantarjian H, Thomas DA, et al. Rituximab dose-escalation trial in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2001;19(8):2165-70.
- 332. Keating M, O'Brien S. High-dose rituximab therapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Seminars in Oncology* 2000;27(6 Suppl 12):86-90.
- 333. Narayan H, Bandyopadhyay D, Schmidt K, et al. Successful treatment of a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) presenting with bony metastases with aggressive antibody and chemotherapy. *Clinical & Laboratory Haematology* 2005;27(6):405-8.

- 334. Robak E, Biernat W, Krykowski E, Jeziorski A, Robak T. Merkel cell carcinoma in a patient with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia treated with cladribine and rituximab. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2005;46(6):909-14.
- 335. Watanabe N, Takahashi T, Sugimoto N, et al. Excellent response of chemotherapy-resistant B-cell-type chronic lymphocytic leukemia with meningeal involvement to rituximab. *International Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;10(5):357-61.
- 336. Nabhan C, Patton D, Gordon LI, et al. A pilot trial of rituximab and alemtuzumab combination therapy in patients with relapsed and/or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2004;45(11):2269-73.
- 337. Jilani I, O'Brien S, Manshuri T, et al. Transient down-modulation of CD20 by rituximab in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia.[see comment]. *Blood* 2003;102(10):3514-20.
- 338. Cohen Y, Da'as N, Libster D, Amir G, Berrebi A, Polliack A. Large-cell transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and follicular lymphoma during or soon after treatment with fludarabine-rituximab-containing regimens: natural history- or therapy-related complication? *European Journal of Haematology* 2002;68(2):80-3.
- 339. Kanelli S, Ansell SM, Habermann TM, Inwards DJ, Tuinstra N, Witzig TE. Rituximab toxicity in patients with peripheral blood malignant B-cell lymphocytosis. *Leukemia & Lymphoma* 2001;42(6):1329-37.
- 340. Seipelt G, Bohme A, Koschmieder S, Hoelzer D. Effective treatment with rituximab in a patient with refractory prolymphocytoid transformed B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia and Evans syndrome. *Annals of Hematology* 2001;80(3):170-3.
- 341. Syrigos KN, Pliarchopoulou K, Harrington KJ. The development of monoclonal antibody therapy in leukemias. *Hybridoma* 2001;20(3):145-8.
- 342. Weiss MA. Novel treatment strategies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Current Oncology Reports* 2001;3(3):217-22.
- 343. Herold M, Schulze A, Hartwig K, Anger G. Successful treatment and re-treatment of resistant B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia with the monoclonal anti-CD 20 antibody rituximab. *Annals of Hematology* 2000;79(6):332-5.
- 344. Schulz H, Winkler U, Staak J, Engert A. The monoclonal antibodies Campath-1H and Rituximab in the therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Onkologie* 2000;23(6):526-32.
- 345. Byrd JC, Waselenko JK, Maneatis TJ, et al. Rituximab therapy in hematologic malignancy patients with circulating blood tumor cells: association with increased infusion-related side effects and rapid blood tumor clearance. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;17(3):791-5.
- 346. Lim LC, Koh LP, Tan P. Fatal cytokine release syndrome with chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab in a 71-year-old patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;17(6):1962-3.
- 347. Yang H, Rosove MH, Figlin RA. Tumor lysis syndrome occurring after the administration of rituximab in lymphoproliferative disorders: high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *American Journal of Hematology* 1999;62(4):247-50.
- 348. Soulieres D, Senzer NN, Vokes EE, Hidalgo M, Agarwala SS, Siu LL. Multicenter phase II study of erlotinib, an oral epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004;22(1):77-85.

- 349. Adjei A. Epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in cancer therapy. [citation per DRUGDEX, unable to confirm]. *Drug Future* 2001;26(11):1087.
- 350. Ciardiello F, Tortora G. A novel approach in the treatment of cancer: targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2001;7(10):2958-70.
- 351. Iannitti D, Dipetrillo T, Akerman P, et al. Erlotinib and chemoradiation followed by maintenance erlotinib for locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase I study. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;28(6):570-5.
- 352. McBride G. Researchers optimistic about targeted drugs for pancreatic cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2004;96(21):1570-2.
- 353. Stroup D, Berlin J, Morton S, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: A proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA* 2000;283(15):2008-12.